
 

Agenda 

 
 

 
 
 

Electronic Regular Council Meeting 
to be held via Zoom 

City of Penticton 
171 Main Street, Penticton, B.C. 

To view the Council Meeting, visit www.penticton.ca   
  

Tuesday, February 15, 2022 
at 1:00 p.m. 

 
 
1. Call Regular Council Meeting to Order 
 
2. Introduction of Late Items  
 
3. Adoption of Agenda  

 
4. Recess to Committee of the Whole  

 
5. Reconvene the Regular Council Meeting  
 
6. Adoption of Minutes:  
 

6.1 Minutes of the February 1, 2022 Regular Council Meeting           1-5  Adopt 

 
7. Consent Agenda: 

 
Recommendation: THAT Council approve the Consent Agenda.                      6-29 
 
Consent Agenda:  

 
1. Minutes of the February 1, 2022 Committee of the Whole Meeting; 

 
2. Minutes of the February 1, 2022 Public Hearings; 

 
Miller   3.    Special Parks and Recreation Advisory Committee Meeting Draft Minutes of January 27, 2022; 
 
Sentes  4.    Heritage and Museum Advisory Committee Meeting Draft Minutes of February 2, 2022; 
 
Regehr   5.    Penticton and Ellis Creek Restoration Select Committee Meeting Draft Minutes of February 3, 2022; 
 
Robinson 6. Safety and Security Advisory Committee Meeting Draft Minutes of February 7, 2022. 

 
8. Committee and Board Recommendations 
 
9. Correspondence 
 
 
 

http://www.penticton.ca/


 
    
 

 
10. Staff Reports:  
 

Vere  10.1 718 Chase Avenue: Request for Notice on Title                        30-37 
Staff Recommendation:  THAT the owner of 718 Chase Avenue (the Property) be notified that Council 
will consider passing a resolution to place a Notice on Title under section 57 of the Community 
Charter with respect to contraventions of the City of Penticton Building Bylaw No. 2021-21 on Lot 29, 
District Lot 2 Group 7 Similkameen Division Yale District, Plan 1049, located at 718 Chase Avenue, 
stating the following: “Failure to complete a building permit, which is a violation of the City of 
Penticton Building Bylaw No. 2021-21. Further information about it may be inspected at the 
municipal hall.”; 
AND THAT the owner be notified of the proposed Notice on Title report, and given the opportunity to 
speak to the matter at the regular Council meeting on April 5, 2022. 

 
Campbell  10.2 Year End Surplus Policy CP2022-01                         38-43 

Staff Recommendation:  THAT Council approve the revised ‘Year End Surplus Policy CP#2022-01’ 
Effective February 15, 2022. 

  
Lewis/Coates 10.3 In-Year Grant Request:  Meadowlark Festival/Okanagan Similkameen                     44-45

   Conservation Alliance 
Staff Recommendation:  THAT Council approves a $2,500 cash grant to the Meadowlark 
Festival/Okanagan Similkameen Conservation Alliance for the Meadowlark Festival event. 

 
Raposo    10.4 Sudbury Beach, Skaha East and Peach Concessions – Request for Proposals    46-84 

Re: 3846 Skaha Lake Road, 3885 South Main Street, 185 Lakeshore Drive West 
Staff Recommendation:  THAT Council direct staff to issue the Request for Proposal to seek operators for the use 
of three City buildings located at 3846 Skaha Lake Road (Sudbury Beach Concession), 3885 South Main Street 
(Skaha East Concession) and 185 Lakeshore Drive West (Peach Concession) for the purpose of the operation of a 
food concession for a three-year License to Use term. 
AND THAT Council authorize Mayor and Corporate Officer to execute the License to Use agreement.  

 
Goodwin  10.5 Youth-Led Youth Homelessness Research Project                                   85-133 

Staff Recommendation:  THAT Council endorse the report: No Where to Go: A report from the Youth 
Homelessness Research Project” as presented in Attachment A; 
AND THAT Council direct staff to work with local youth to send a copy of the research report to 
relevant Federal and Provincial Agencies and Ministries; 
AND THAT Council direct staff to work collaboratively with youth and community partners on 
implementing the 10 recommendations of the report.  

 
Hardisty 10.6 2022 Southern Interior Local Government Association (SILGA) Resolution              134-136 

Staff Recommendation: THAT Council submit the following resolution regarding CAR type programs 
for consideration at the 2022 SILGA Convention: 

WHEREAS Car 40 type programs, which aim to support the diversion of those suffering with 
mental health issues from the criminal justice system, and reduce patrol response and 
unnecessary hospital admissions, have been successful in a variety of formats across the 
Province since 1978;  
AND WHEREAS a Provincially integrated and sustainably funded Car 40 type program would 
provide consistency to communities seeking new ways to support the health and safety of 
their residents.  



 
    
 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that UBCM request the Province support an integrated Car 
40 type program with appropriate and sustainable funding.  

AND THAT Council direct staff to provide the resolution and background to the RDOS Board for their 
consideration of co-sponsorship.  

 
Collyer 10.7 Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 2022-10      137-161 
  Development Permit PL2021-9241 
  Re:  585 Jermyn Avenue 

Staff Recommendation: THAT Council give first reading to “Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 2022-10”, a 
bylaw to rezone Lot B District Lot 249 Similkameen Division Yale District Plan 4224, located at 585 
Jermyn Avenue, from R2 (Small Lot Residential) to RM2 (Low Density Multiple Housing); 
AND THAT Council forward “Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 2022-10” to the March 1, 2022 Public 
Hearing; 
AND THAT Council, prior to adoption of “Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 2022-10”, require that a road 
reserve covenant be registered with the Land Title Office for the purpose of securing: 
1. A 1.7m future road dedication along Government Street; and 
2. A 5.5m x 5.5m future road dedication corner cut at the southeast corner (Government Street and 

Jermyn Street) of the subject property. 
AND THAT Council, subject to adoption of “Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 2022-10”, approve 
“Development Permit PL2021-9241, for Lot B District Lot 249 Similkameen Division Yale District Plan 
4224, located at 585 Jermyn Avenue, a permit to allow the construction of a 3-unit cluster housing 
development. 

Collyer 10.8 Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 2021-38      162-168 
  Development Variance Permit PL2021-9045 
  Re: 726, 738, 750 Westminster Avenue West 

Staff Recommendation: THAT Council rescind third reading of “Zoning Amendment Bylaw  
No. 2021-38”; 
AND THAT Council give third reading as amended to “Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 2021-38”, 
excluding 762 Westminster Avenue West from the zoning change; 
AND THAT Council, subject to adoption of “Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 2021-38”, approve 
amended “Development Variance Permit PL2021-9045” excluding 762 Westminster Avenue West from 
the variance permit; 
AND THAT Council direct staff to issue amended “Development Variance Permit PL2021-9045”. 

 
Laven 10.9 Development Variance Permit PL2021-9210      169-191 
  Re: 949 James Street 

Staff Recommendation: THAT Council approve “Development Variance Permit PL2021-9210” for Lot 2 
District Lot 249 Similkameen Division Yale District Plan 4977, located at 949 James Street, a permit to 
vary Section 8.2.3.5.ii of Zoning Bylaw 2021-01 to allow a maximum carriage house height of 5.0m and 
two floors where no lane exists, in order to facilitate the construction of a two-storey carriage house; 
AND THAT Council direct staff to issue “Development Variance Permit PL2021-9210”. 

 
Collyer 10.10 Development Variance Permit PL2021-9219      192-209 
  Re: 784 Ross Avenue 

Staff Recommendation: THAT Council approve “Development Variance Permit PL2021-9219”, for Lot 
12 District Lot 250 Similkameen Division Yale District Plan 8343, located at 784 Ross Avenue, a permit 
to vary Section 7.4.2 of Zoning Bylaw 2021-01 to increase the maximum permitted floor area of a 
major home occupation in an accessory building from 50m2 to 72m2; 
AND THAT Council direct staff to issue the permit. 
 
 
 



 
    
 

Collyer 10.11 ALR Exclusion      210-223 
  Re: 610 Pineview Road 

Staff Recommendation: THAT Council forward the ALR Exclusion application, for Lot 1 District Lot 2710 
Similkameen Division Yale District Plan EPP22470, located at 610 Pineview Road, an application to 
exclude the subject property from the Agricultural Land Reserve, to the March 1, 2022 Public Hearing 
to give the public an opportunity to provide comments and feedback. 

 
11. Public Question Period 
 

12. Recess to a Closed Meeting:  
Resolution: THAT Council recess to a closed meeting of Council pursuant to the provisions of the Community 
Charter as follows:  Section 90 (1)  

(e)     the acquisition, disposition or expropriation of land or improvements, if the Council considers                
that disclosure could reasonably be expected to harm the interests of the municipality; 

(k) negotiations and related discussions respecting the proposed provision of a municipal service 
that are at their preliminary stages and that, in the view of the Council, could reasonably be 
expected to harm the interests of the municipality if they were held in public; 

 Section 90(2) 
    (b)    the consideration of information received and held in confidence relating to negotiations 
         between the municipality and a provincial government or the federal government or both, 
       or between a provincial government or the federal government or both and a third party. 
  

13. Reconvene the Regular Council Meeting following the Public Hearing at 6:00 p.m. 
 

14.          Bylaws and Permits: 
 

Collyer 14.1 Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 2022-03  224-225   Adopt 
  Re: 169 Maple Street 
 
Collyer 14.2 Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 2022-04  226-227   Adopt 
  Re: 79 Okanagan Avenue      
 
Collyer 14.3 Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 2022-08   228-229   2nd/3rd/Adopt 
  Re: 3170 Juniper Drive 

 

15.   Land Matters 
 
16. Notice of Motion   
 

 16.1 Notice of Motion Introduced by Councillor Regehr on February 1, 2022                   230-234    
  Re:  Twin Arenas Initiative            
 

THAT Council, when considering the twin arenas initiative as outlined in the Civic Places and Spaces 
Asset and Amenity Management Plan, review the areas of concern identified in the submission from 
Councillor Regehr dated February 1, 2022. 

 

17. Business Arising 
 

18. Council Round Table  
 

19. Public Question Period 
 

 If you would like to ask Council a question with respect to items that are on the current agenda, please visit 
our website at www.penticton.ca to find the telephone number or Zoom link to ask your question before the 
conclusion of the meeting.  Please do not try to join the meeting early, you will not be let in to participate 
electronically until Council approaches the Public Question Period.  Watch the livestream on our website and 
prepare to call or join during the Business Arising.  

 

20. Adjournment 



 
 

Minutes 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 

      Electronic Regular Council Meeting 
held via Zoom at City of Penticton 

171 Main Street, Penticton, B.C.  
 

Tuesday, February 1, 2022 
at 1:00 p.m. 

   
                           Present via Zoom: Mayor Vassilaki   

  Councillor Bloomfield  
  Councillor Miller 
  Councillor Regehr 
  Councillor Robinson 
  Councillor Sentes  
  Councillor Watt  

    
   Staff via Zoom: Donny van Dyk, Chief Administrative Officer  
     Angie Collison, Corporate Officer 
     Angela Campbell, Acting General Manager, Finance & Administration  
     Blake Laven, Director of Development Services 
     Anthony Haddad, General Manager, Community Services  
     Kristen Dixon, General Manager of Infrastructure  
     Cheryl Hardisty, Senior Executive Assistant 
     Paula McKinnon, Deputy Corporate Officer  
         

1. Call to Order 
 

The Mayor called the electronic Regular Council Meeting to order at 1:00 p.m. 
      

2. Introduction of Late Items 
 

3. Adoption of Agenda 
  

18/2022 It was MOVED and SECONDED 
THAT Council adopt the agenda for the Regular Council Meeting held on February 1, 2022 as 
presented.  

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
4. Recess to Committee of the Whole  

 
Council recessed to a Committee of the Whole Meeting at 1:01 p.m.  

 
5. Reconvene the Regular Council Meeting  

 
Council reconvened the Regular Council Meeting at 1:41 p.m. 
 

-1-



    
Minutes of February 1, 2022 Regular Council Meeting  Page 2 of 5 
 
 

6. Adoption of Minutes: 
 

  6.1 Minutes of the Regular Meetings of Council  
 

19/2022 It was MOVED and SECONDED 
THAT Council adopt the minutes of the January 18, 2022 Regular Meeting of Council as 
presented.   

 CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
7. Consent Agenda: 

 
20/2022 It was MOVED and SECONDED 

 THAT Council approve the Consent Agenda: 
1. Minutes of the January 18, 2022 Committee of the Whole Meeting; 
2. Minutes of the January 18, 2022 Public Hearings; 
3.    Parks and Recreation Advisory Committee Meeting Draft Minutes of January 17, 2022; 
4.    Agriculture Advisory Committee Meeting Draft Minutes of January 19, 2022; 
 5.    Arts, Creative and Cultural Innovation Advisory Committee Meeting Draft Minutes of 
January 21, 2022. 

 CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
8. Committee and Board Recommendations 

 
9. Correspondence 

 
10. Staff Reports: 

 
10.1  RCMP Quarterly Update 

 

21/2022  It was MOVED and SECONDED 
THAT Council receive into the record the report titled “RCMP Quarterly Report” dated February 1, 
2022. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 

10.2  UBCM Grant:  Social Development Framework              
 

22/2022  It was MOVED and SECONDED  
THAT Council direct staff to apply for the Union of BC Municipalities’ Poverty Reduction 
Planning and Action Program grant in the amount of $25,000, for the purposes of 
developing a framework to plan the work of Social Development over the next 5 years; 
AND THAT Council authorize the Director of Development Services to sign the grant 
application form.  

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 

10.3  Uplands Elementary Safety Improvements 
  

23/2022   It was MOVED and SECONDED 
THAT Council receive into the record the report dated February 1, 2022 titled “Uplands 
Elementary Safety Improvements”. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 
 

-2-



    
Minutes of February 1, 2022 Regular Council Meeting  Page 3 of 5 
 
 

10.4  Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 2022-08 
 Re: 3170 Juniper 
 

24/2022   It was MOVED and SECONDED 
THAT Council give first reading to “Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 2022-08”, a bylaw to 
rezone Lot 7 District Lot 2710 Similkameen Division Yale District Plan 26199, located at 3170 
Juniper Drive, from RC (Country Residential) zone to R1 (Large Lot Residential) zone, to allow 
for a future 2-lot subdivision; 
AND THAT Council forward “Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 2022-08” to the February 15, 
2022 Public Hearing. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 

10.5  Development Variance Permit PL2021-9154 
 Re: 109 Lee Avenue 

 
25/2022   It was MOVED and SECONDED 

THAT Council approve “Development Variance Permit PL2021-9154” for Lot 2 District Lot 189 
Similkameen Division Yale District Plan 5411, located at 109 Lee Avenue, a permit to vary the 
following section of Zoning Bylaw 2021-01 in order to construct a carriage house: 
Section 8.2.3.3: to increase the maximum building footprint for a carriage house in the R1 
(Large Lot Residential) zone from 90m2 to 130m2. 
AND THAT Council direct staff to issue “Development Variance Permit PL2021-9154”. 

DEFEATED 
Mayor Vassilaki, Councillors Miller, Regehr, Robinson, Sentes and Watt Opposed 

 
11. Public Question Period 

 
12. Recess into a Closed Meeting  

 
26/2022  It was MOVED and SECONDED 

THAT Council recess at 3:00 p.m. to a closed meeting of Council pursuant to the provisions of 
the Community Charter as follows:  Section 90 (1)  
(e) the acquisition, disposition or expropriation of land or improvements, if the Council 
considers that disclosure could reasonably be expected to harm the interests of the 
municipality. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY   
 

13. Reconvene the Regular Council Meeting following the Public Hearing at 6:45 p.m. 
 

14. Bylaws and Permits 
 

14.1  Municipal Ticketing Information Amendment Bylaw No. 2022-01 and Bylaw Notice 
Enforcement Amendment Bylaw No. 2022-02 

 
27/2022   It was MOVED and SECONDED 

THAT Council adopt “Municipal Ticketing Information Amendment Bylaw No. 2022-01”; 
AND THAT Council adopt “Bylaw Notice Enforcement Amendment Bylaw No. 2022-02”. 
 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 

-3-



    
Minutes of February 1, 2022 Regular Council Meeting  Page 4 of 5 
 
 

14.3  Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 2022-03 
Re:  169 Maple Street 
 

28/2022   It was MOVED and SECONDED 
THAT Council give second and third reading to “Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 2022-03”. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 

14.4  Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 2022-04 
 Re:  79 Okanagan Avenue 

 
29/2022   It was MOVED and SECONDED 

THAT Council give second and third reading to “Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 2022-04”. 
CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 

 
14.5  Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 2022-05 

Re:  1603 Dartmouth Road 
 

30/2022   It was MOVED and SECONDED 
THAT Council give second and third reading to “Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 2022-05”. 
AND THAT Council adopt “Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 2022-05”. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 

14.6 Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 2022-06 
 Re:  30 Okanagan Avenue West 

 
31/2022   It was MOVED and SECONDED 

THAT Council give second and third reading to “Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 2022-06”. 
CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 

 
15. Land Matters 

 
16. Notice of Motion 

 
16.1 Councillor Regehr introduced the following Notice of Motion for consideration at the 

February 15, 2022 meeting of Council. 
 
THAT Council, when considering the twin arenas initiative as outlined in the Civic Places and 
Spaces Asset and Amenity Management Plan, review the areas of concern identified in the 
submission from Councillor Regehr dated February 1, 2022. 

 
17. Business Arising 

 
18. Council Round Table 

 
19. Public Question Period  

 
 
 

-4-



    
Minutes of February 1, 2022 Regular Council Meeting  Page 5 of 5 
 
 

20. Adjournment  
 

32/2022   It was MOVED and SECONDED 
THAT Council adjourn the electronic regular meeting of Council at 7:07 p.m. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 

 
 

Certified correct:      Confirmed: 
 

  
 
 

____________________________ ______________________________ 
Angie Collison  John Vassilaki   
Corporate Officer  Mayor  
 
 

 
 

-5-



 
 

Minutes 

 

 
 

 
 
 

Electronic Committee of the Whole 
held via Zoom at City of Penticton 

171 Main Street, Penticton, B.C.  
 

Tuesday, February 1, 2022 
Recessed from the Regular Council Meeting at 1:00 p.m. 

 
                           Present via Zoom: Mayor Vassilaki   

  Councillor Bloomfield  
  Councillor Miller 
  Councillor Regehr 
  Councillor Robinson 
  Councillor Sentes  
  Councillor Watt  

   
   Staff via Zoom: Donny van Dyk, Chief Administrative Officer  
     Angie Collison, Corporate Officer 
     Angela Campbell, Acting General Manager, Finance & Administration  
     Blake Laven, Director of Development Services 
     Anthony Haddad, General Manager, Community Services  
     Kristen Dixon, General Manager of Infrastructure  
     Cheryl Hardisty, Senior Executive Assistant  
     Paula McKinnon, Deputy Corporate Officer  
    

1. Call to order 
   

The Mayor called the Committee of the Whole meeting to order at 1:01 p.m. 
 

2. Adoption of Agenda 
 

 It was MOVED and SECONDED 
THAT the agenda for the Committee of the Whole meeting held on February 1, 2022 be 
adopted as presented.    

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 

3. Delegations: 
 

3.1 Proclamation “Real Acts of Caring” February 13-19, 2022 
 
Ms. Burdock and KVR Grade 7 Students encouraged Council and residents to participate in 
Real Acts of Caring Week, February 13-19, 2022. Mayor Vassilaki proclaimed February 13-19, 
2022 as ‘Real Acts of Caring Week’ in the City of Penticton.  
 

 
 
 

-6-



    
Minutes of February 1, 2022 Committee of the Whole   Page 2 of 2 
 

3.2 2022 Regional District of Okanagan Similkameen and Okanagan Similkameen 
Regional Hospital District Budgets  

 
Jim Zaffino, Manager of Finance, RDOS, presented to Council the 2022 Regional District of 
Okanagan Similkameen and Okanagan Similkameen Regional Hospital District Budgets.  
 
3.3 Penticton Community Fridge and Pantry    

 
Allison Howard and Dave Corbeil provided Council with a presentation on the Penticton 
Community Fridge and Pantry project. 
 

4. Adjourn to Regular Meeting 
 

 It was MOVED and SECONDED 
THAT Council adjourn the Committee of the Whole meeting held February 1, 2022 at 1:41 p.m. and 
reconvene the Regular Meeting of Council.  

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 
 
Certified correct:      Confirmed: 
 
 
 
____________________________ _______________________________ 
Angie Collison   John Vassilaki   
Corporate Officer  Mayor 

 
 
 
 
 

-7-



 
 

Minutes 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 

Electronic Public Hearing 
held via Zoom City of Penticton  
171 Main Street, Penticton, B.C. 

 
Tuesday, February 1, 2022 

at 6:00 p.m. 
 

Present via Zoom:  Mayor Vassilaki 
  Councillor Bloomfield  
  Councillor Miller 
  Councillor Regehr  
  Councillor Robinson 
  Councillor Sentes  
  Councillor Watt  

      
 Staff via Zoom: Donny van Dyk, Chief Administrative Officer  
     Angie Collison, Corporate Officer 
     Blake Laven, Director of Development Services  
     Steven Collyer, Planner II 
     Nicole Capewell, Planner II 
     Kristen Dixon, General Manager of Infrastructure  
     Anthony Haddad, General Manager, Community Services  
     Cheryl Hardisty, Senior Executive Assistant  
     Paula McKinnon, Deputy Corporate Officer 
          

1. Call to order 
 

Mayor Vassilaki called the public hearing to order at 6:00 p.m. for Zoning Amendment Bylaw 
No. 2022-03. 

 
The Corporate Officer read the opening statement and introduced the purpose of the bylaw. 
She then explained that the public hearing was being held electronically to afford all persons 
who considered themselves affected by the proposed bylaw an opportunity to be heard 
before Council.  She further indicated that the public hearing was advertised pursuant to the 
Local Government Act. 

  
2. “Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 2022-03” (169 Maple Street) 

 
The purpose of “Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 2022-03” is to amend Zoning Bylaw  
No. 2021-01 as follows:  

 
Rezone the north 10.67 m portion of Lot 3 Block 124 District Lot 2 Group 7 
Similkameen Division Yale (Formerly Yale Lytton) District Plan 1175, located at 
169 Maple Street, from ‘R2 Small Lot Residential’ zone to ‘RD3 Residential Infill’ 

-8-



 
Minutes of January February 1, 2022  Public Hearing  Page 2 of 2 
    
  

zone, to facilitate a two-lot subdivision and future development of one duplex 
building. 

 
The applicant intends to subdivide the subject property into two lots and 
construct a one two-storey duplex on the vacant lot with a detached two-car 
garage. 

 
The Corporate Officer advised that no correspondence has been received since the printing of 
the agenda and distributed to Council. 

 
DELEGATIONS 

 
Mayor Vassilaki asked the public for the first time if anyone wished to speak to the application. 
• Chris Schoenne, Applicant, excited to see the build move forward and is available to 

answer any questions. 
 

Mayor Vassilaki asked the public for the second time if anyone wished to speak to the application. 
• No one spoke. 

 
Mayor Vassilaki asked the public for the third and final time if anyone wished to speak to the 
application. 
• No one spoke. 

 
The public hearing for “Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 2022-03” was terminated at 6:06 p.m. 
and no new information can be received on this matter. 

 
 

Certified correct:      Confirmed: 
 
 

_____________________  ________________________ 
Angie Collison   John Vassilaki   
Corporate Officer  Mayor 

-9-



 
 

Minutes 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 

Electronic Public Hearing 
held via Zoom City of Penticton  
171 Main Street, Penticton, B.C. 

 
Tuesday, February 1, 2022 

at 6:15 p.m. 
 

Present via Zoom:  Mayor Vassilaki 
  Councillor Bloomfield  
  Councillor Miller 
  Councillor Regehr  
  Councillor Robinson 
  Councillor Sentes  
  Councillor Watt  

      
 Staff via Zoom: Donny van Dyk, Chief Administrative Officer  
     Angie Collison, Corporate Officer 
     Blake Laven, Director of Development Services  
     Steven Collyer, Planner II 
     Nicole Capewell, Planner II 
     Kristen Dixon, General Manager of Infrastructure  
     Anthony Haddad, General Manager, Community Services  
     Cheryl Hardisty, Senior Executive Assistant  
     Paula McKinnon, Deputy Corporate Officer 
          

1. Call to order 
 

Mayor Vassilaki called the public hearing to order at 6:15 p.m. for Zoning Amendment Bylaw 
No. 2022-04. 

 
The Corporate Officer read the opening statement and introduced the purpose of the bylaw. 
She then explained that the public hearing was being held electronically to afford all persons 
who considered themselves affected by the proposed bylaw an opportunity to be heard 
before Council.  She further indicated that the public hearing was advertised pursuant to the 
Local Government Act. 

  
2. “Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 2022-04” (79 Okanagan Avenue West) 

 
The purpose of “Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 2022-04” is to amend Zoning Bylaw  
No. 2021-01 as follows:  

 
Rezone Lot 4 District Lot 115 Similkameen Division Yale District Plan 10517, 
located at 79 Okanagan Avenue West, from R1 (Large Lot Residential) zone to 
RD3 (Residential Infill) zone. 

 

-10-



 
Minutes of January February 1, 2022  Public Hearing  Page 2 of 2 
    
  

The applicant intends to subdivide the subject property to create two duplex 
lots. 
 

The Corporate Officer advised that two (2) letters have been received since the printing of the 
agenda and distributed to Council. 

 
DELEGATIONS 

 
Mayor Vassilaki asked the public for the first time if anyone wished to speak to the application. 
• Tony Giroux, Representing Owners of Property, informed that the parking requirement 

has been met, development was carefully designed without the need for any variances. 
With regards to a comment made about parking, responded that City Bylaw restricts 
parking from the front of the property, only allowed from the lane. Expressed that these 
developments add value to neighbourhoods. 

 
Mayor Vassilaki asked the public for the second time if anyone wished to speak to the application. 
• No one spoke. 

 
Mayor Vassilaki asked the public for the third and final time if anyone wished to speak to the 
application. 
• No one spoke. 

 
The public hearing for “Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 2022-04” was terminated at 6:21 p.m. 
and no new information can be received on this matter. 

 
 

Certified correct:      Confirmed: 
 
 

_____________________  ________________________ 
Angie Collison   John Vassilaki   
Corporate Officer  Mayor 

-11-



 
 

Minutes 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 

Electronic Public Hearing 
held via Zoom City of Penticton  
171 Main Street, Penticton, B.C. 

 
Tuesday, February 1, 2022 

at 6:30 p.m. 
 

Present via Zoom:  Mayor Vassilaki 
  Councillor Bloomfield  
  Councillor Miller 
  Councillor Regehr  
  Councillor Robinson 
  Councillor Sentes  
  Councillor Watt  

      
 Staff via Zoom: Donny van Dyk, Chief Administrative Officer  
     Angie Collison, Corporate Officer 
     Blake Laven, Director of Development Services  
     Steven Collyer, Planner II 
     Nicole Capewell, Planner II 
     Kristen Dixon, General Manager of Infrastructure  
     Anthony Haddad, General Manager, Community Services  
     Cheryl Hardisty, Senior Executive Assistant  
     Paula McKinnon, Deputy Corporate Officer 
          

1. Call to order 
 

Mayor Vassilaki called the public hearing to order at 6:30 p.m. for Zoning Amendment Bylaw 
No. 2022-05. 

 
The Corporate Officer read the opening statement and introduced the purpose of the bylaw. 
She then explained that the public hearing was being held electronically to afford all persons 
who considered themselves affected by the proposed bylaw an opportunity to be heard 
before Council.  She further indicated that the public hearing was advertised pursuant to the 
Local Government Act. 

  
2. “Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 2022-05” (1603 Dartmouth Road) 

 
The purpose of “Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 2022-05” is to amend Zoning Bylaw  
No. 2021-01 as follows:  

 
Rezone Lot 1 District Lots 250, 2710, 3429S and 3821S Similkameen Division 
Yale District Plan 37288, located at 1603 Dartmouth Road, from M3 (Wrecking 
Yard) to M1 (General Industrial). 
 

-12-



 
Minutes of January February 1, 2022  Public Hearing  Page 2 of 2 
    
  

The applicant intends to rezone the subject property from M3 (Wrecking Yard) 
to M1 (General Industrial) to facilitate the development of industrial 
warehouses and self-storage. 
 

The Corporate Officer advised that no correspondence has been received since the printing of 
the agenda and distributed to Council. 

 
DELEGATIONS 

 
Mayor Vassilaki asked the public for the first time if anyone wished to speak to the application. 
• Rod Ferguson, Applicant, available to answer any questions. 

 
Mayor Vassilaki asked the public for the second time if anyone wished to speak to the application. 
• No one spoke. 

 
Mayor Vassilaki asked the public for the third and final time if anyone wished to speak to the 
application. 
• No one spoke. 

 
The public hearing for “Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 2022-05” was terminated at 6:35 p.m. 
and no new information can be received on this matter. 

 
 

Certified correct:      Confirmed: 
 
 

_____________________  ________________________ 
Angie Collison   John Vassilaki   
Corporate Officer  Mayor 

-13-



 
 

Minutes 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 

Electronic Public Hearing 
held via Zoom City of Penticton  
171 Main Street, Penticton, B.C. 

 
Tuesday, February 1, 2022 

at 6:45 p.m. 
 

Present via Zoom:  Mayor Vassilaki 
  Councillor Bloomfield  
  Councillor Miller 
  Councillor Regehr  
  Councillor Robinson 
  Councillor Sentes  
  Councillor Watt  

      
 Staff via Zoom: Donny van Dyk, Chief Administrative Officer  
     Angie Collison, Corporate Officer 
     Blake Laven, Director of Development Services  
     Steven Collyer, Planner II 
     Nicole Capewell, Planner II 
     Kristen Dixon, General Manager of Infrastructure  
     Anthony Haddad, General Manager, Community Services  
     Cheryl Hardisty, Senior Executive Assistant  
     Paula McKinnon, Deputy Corporate Officer 
          

1. Call to order 
 

Mayor Vassilaki called the public hearing to order at 6:45 p.m. for Zoning Amendment Bylaw 
No. 2022-06. 

 
The Corporate Officer read the opening statement and introduced the purpose of the bylaw. 
She then explained that the public hearing was being held electronically to afford all persons 
who considered themselves affected by the proposed bylaw an opportunity to be heard 
before Council.  She further indicated that the public hearing was advertised pursuant to the 
Local Government Act. 

  
2. “Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 2022-06” (30 Okanagan Avenue West) 

 
The purpose of “Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 2022-06” is to amend Zoning Bylaw  
No. 2021-01 as follows:  
 

Rezone Lot 4 District Lot 115 Similkameen Division Yale District Plan 7909, 
located at 30 Okanagan Avenue West, from R1 (Large Lot Residential) to RM2 
(Low Density Multiple Housing). 
 

-14-



 
Minutes of January February 1, 2022  Public Hearing  Page 2 of 2 
    
  

The applicant intends to construct a two-storey, three-unit townhouse onto 
the subject property. 
 

The Corporate Officer advised that no correspondence has been received since the printing of 
the agenda and distributed to Council. 

 
DELEGATIONS 

 
Mayor Vassilaki asked the public for the first time if anyone wished to speak to the application. 
• Tony Giroux, Applicant Representing Owner, informed that there is extra room on the 

property for additional parking and lots of green space. Available to answer any 
questions. 

 
Mayor Vassilaki asked the public for the second time if anyone wished to speak to the application. 
• No one spoke. 

 
Mayor Vassilaki asked the public for the third and final time if anyone wished to speak to the 
application. 
• No one spoke. 

 
The public hearing for “Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 2022-06” was terminated at 6:50 p.m. 
and no new information can be received on this matter. 

 
 

Certified correct:      Confirmed: 
 
 

_____________________  ________________________ 
Angie Collison   John Vassilaki   
Corporate Officer  Mayor 

-15-



 

  Minutes 
 
 

 
Special Electronic Parks and Recreation  

Advisory Committee Meeting 
held via Zoom 

Thursday, January 27, 2022 
at 9:00 a.m. 

 
Present:  Isaac Gilbert, Chair  

James Palanio, Vice Chair 
Andrew Drouin 
John Archer 
Laura Harp 
Robert (Sandy) Ross  
 

Council Liaison: James Miller, Councillor 
 
Staff:   Anthony Haddad, General Manager of Community Services 
   Kelsey Johnson, Manager of Recreation, Arts and Culture  

Len Robson, Public Works Manager 
Cathy Ingram, Procurement and Inventory Services Manager 
Paula McKinnon, Deputy Corporate Officer 

 
Regrets:  Drew Barnes 

Marc Tougas 
Susan Fraser 
Tyson Bull 
 

1. Call to Order 
 

The Special Electronic Parks and Recreation Advisory Committee meeting was called to order by the 
Chair at 9:01 a.m.  
 

2. Adoption of Agenda 
 

It was MOVED and SECONDED 
THAT the Parks and Recreation Advisory Committee adopt the agenda for the meeting held on 
January 27, 2022 as presented. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 

3. Adjournment to a Closed Meeting 
  

It was MOVED and SECONDED 
THAT the Parks and Recreation Advisory Committee adjourn to a closed meeting pursuant to 
the provisions of the Community Charter as follows: 

 

-16-



 

Minutes of the January 27, 2022 Special Parks and Recreation Advisory Committee Meeting Page 2 of 2 
 

Section 90 (1) (e) the acquisition, disposition or expropriation of land or improvements, if the 
council considers that disclosure could reasonably be expected to harm the interests of the 
municipality. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY  
 

 
Certified Correct: 
 
 
 
 
________________________________ 
Paula McKinnon 
Deputy Corporate Officer 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

-17-



 

Minutes 
 
 
 

Heritage & Museum Advisory Committee Meeting  
held via Zoom 

Wednesday, February 2, 2022 
at 1:00 p.m. 

 
Present: Brad Hillis, Chair 
 Karen Collins, Vice Chair 
 Anne Hargrave   
 Gerald Buzzell 
 Jeanette Beaven 
 Nicole Ensing 
 Viv Lieskovsky 
 Blake Allen 
 
Council Liaison: Judy Sentes, Councillor 
   
Staff: Blake Laven, Director of Development Services 
 Dennis Oomen, Museum Manager 
 Kelsey Johnson, Manager of Recreation, Arts, and Culture  
 Paula McKinnon, Deputy Corporate Officer 
  
 
1. Call to Order 
 

The Heritage & Museum Advisory Committee was called to order by the Chair at 1:00 p.m.  
 
2. Adoption of Agenda 

 
It was MOVED and SECONDED 
THAT the Heritage and Museum Advisory Committee adopt the agenda for the meeting held 
on February 2, 2022 as amended to include Item 4.4 Heritage Protection Policies Update.  

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 

3. Adoption of Minutes 
 
3.1 Minutes of the November 3, 2021 Heritage and Museum Advisory Committee 
 
It was MOVED and SECONDED 
THAT the Heritage and Museum Advisory Committee adopt the minutes of the November 3, 
2021 meeting as presented. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 

Councillor Sentes joined the meeting at 1:02 p.m. 
 

-18-



Page 2 of 4 
Minutes of the February 2, 2022 Heritage & Museum Advisory Committee 

 

4. New Business 
 

4.1 Penticton Museum’s New Heritage Exhibit Update 
 
The Museum Manager provided the Committee with an update on the museum’s new heritage 
exhibit called Build Right Penticton Heritage which had a soft opening in November and will 
continue in that format until at least March, possibly later. A proper opening will take place once 
COVID-19 restrictions ease. The Committee was informed that the exhibit is somewhat modular 
so that components of it can be displayed at various City properties once out of the Museum. 
 
The Committee was also informed that the second phase to this exhibit includes the 
replacement and introduction of heritage signage to as many City heritage properties and 
pamphlets being published in the spring detailing heritage properties and neighborhoods. 
 
 
4.2 2022 Heritage and Museum Advisory Committee Meeting Schedule 
 
The Deputy Corporate Officer introduced the 2022 Committee meeting schedule. 
 
The floor was opened to the Committee for questions and comments. A Committee Member 
asked how much notice is provided for confirmed meetings. The Deputy Corporate Officer 
notified that Committee that staff try to provide a minimum of two-week’s notice for scheduled 
upcoming meetings. 
 
It was MOVED and SECONDED 
THAT the Heritage and Museum Advisory Committee 2022 meetings be tentatively held on 
January 12, February 2, March 2, April 6, May 4, June 8, July 6, August 3, September 7, October 
5, November 2 and December 7 at City Hall or electronically at 1:00 p.m. unless otherwise 
specified. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 

4.3 Electronic Meeting Policy 
 

The Deputy Corporate Officer highlighted the Electronic Meeting Policy adopted by Council in 
October 2021 as it pertains to electronic meetings for Advisory Committees. 
 
4.4  Heritage Protection Policies Project Update 

 
The Director of Development Services updated the Committee that Council provided direction 
to staff to come back with recommendations on heritage protection guidelines and available 
tools to encourage development that is sympathetic to heritage along Lakeshore Drive, Front 
Street and Windsor Avenue Area. The Committee was informed that the City’s engagement 
team is reviewing and putting their finishing touches on their engagement plan that will 
hopefully be brought to Council as early as the February 15 or March 1 meeting to endorse the 
work and provide budgetary approval. The Committee was also informed that once direction is 
provided from Council, the Committee will remain updated throughout the process. 
 
The Director of Development Services explained that the delay in bringing this item forward to 
Council is due to the submitted development application for Lakeshore Drive and the 
engagement team’s already busy schedule working on other strategic priorities. The Committee 
was also informed that an outside consultant with heritage expertise would be hired and the 
Shape Your City platform would be used for engagement.  

-19-



Page 3 of 4 
Minutes of the February 2, 2022 Heritage & Museum Advisory Committee 

 

 
The floor was opened to the Committee for questions and comments. A Committee Member 
asked for clarification on the friendly amendment made to Council’s direction for staff to work 
with the Heritage and Museum Committee on this project. The Director of Development 
Services responded that the next step in the process includes getting Council’s approval for the 
work plan that was presented to the Committee back in November as well as budgetary 
approval and expressed that no decisions have been made or actions taken that require the 
Committee’s involvement yet; however, once Council provides approval, the Committee will be 
provided with regular updates on the progress of the project and the terms of reference for 
procurement can also be provided to the Committee for feedback. 
 

Anne Hargrave left the meeting due to technical issues at 1:23 p.m. 
 

Another Committee Member asked for staff to clarify what an engagement team is. Staff 
responded that the City’s Communication Department has an Engagement Specialist, JoAnne 
Kleb, who is a very adept at finding tools and engaging a broad-cross section of participation in 
obtaining feedback from the community. 

 
Anne Hargrave returned to the meeting at 1:28 p.m. 

 
Councillor Sentes expressed on behalf of the Committee that they are not being engaged and 
utilized to the best of their expertise and reminded the Committee and staff that Council’s intent 
was that the Committee’s energies and expertise be advantaged and that the Committee be 
utilized as a working tool for staff on this project. 
 
Councillor Sentes inquired about the agenda building process and whether the Committee 
Chair is consulted and how Committee Members can bring items forward onto the agenda. Staff 
explained the agenda building process and reminded the Committee that agenda items should 
be shared with the Chair and Staff prior to a meeting for addition. It was also noted that agendas 
can be amended at the beginning of each meeting to include items that don’t require any 
preparation such as updates when applicable. 
 
A Committee Member commented on the various tools available to help educate community 
members. Staff responded that the first phase includes raising awareness and educating the 
Community on the importance and uniqueness of the selected neighborhoods.  Further 
discussions about any particular tools that will be utilized will take place after the Community 
is engaged. The Committee was informed that they will be involved in how the City engages 
with these neighborhoods in raising awareness. 
 
The Director of Development Services mentioned that there may be opportunity for the 
creation of a sub-committee to work with the hired consultant and staff. 
 
A Committee Member asked whether staff could provide options for architectural guideline 
options and tools in advance. The Director of Development Services expressed the importance 
of utilizing the City’s Engagement Specialist to involve affected property owners in discussions 
about the uniqueness of their neighborhoods.  
 
Councillor Sentes informed the Committee that the RDOS went through an aggressive Heritage 
process and suggested that staff connect with RDOS to see what tools would be beneficial for 
the City to use moving forward.  
 

5. Next Meeting 

-20-



Page 4 of 4 
Minutes of the February 2, 2022 Heritage & Museum Advisory Committee 

 

 
The next Heritage and Museum Advisory Committee meeting is tentatively scheduled to be 
held on March 2, 2022 at 1:00 p.m. 
 
The Museum Manager extended an invite to the Committee for a guided tour of the exhibit. A 
Committee Member suggested that applicable staff visit the Museum for a better 
understanding of the passion and importance behind saving heritage in the Community. 

 
6. Public Question Period 
 
7. Adjournment 
  
 It was MOVED and SECONDED 

THAT the Heritage and Museum Advisory Committee adjourn the meeting held on February 2, 
2022 at 1:44 p.m. 

                  CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 
Certified Correct: 
 
 
 
__________________________________ 
Paula McKinnon  
Deputy Corporate Officer 

-21-



 

Minutes 
 
 

 
Penticton and Ellis Creek Restoration Select Committee Meeting 

held via Zoom 
February 3, 2022 

at 9:00 a.m. 
 

Present:  Voting Members 
Paul Askey, Freshwater Fisheries Society of BC (Chair)  

   Zoe Eyjolfson, Okanagan Nation Alliance (Vice Chair) 
Bill Wickett, Alternate, Penticton Fly Fisheries Association 
Doug Maxwell, Member at Large  
Gerry Turchak, Penticton Industrial Development Association 

   Sandy Ross, Parks and Recreation Advisory Committee Member  
Maryssa Bonneau, Penticton Indian Band Natural Resources  

    
Non-Voting Members 
Bruce McFarlane, Ministry of FLNRO, Regional Water Management 

 
Council Liaison: Frank Regehr, Councillor 
 
Staff:    Ian Chapman, Manager of Special Projects 
   Kristen Dixon, General Manager of Infrastructure  
   Paula McKinnon, Deputy Corporate Officer 
 
Regrets:  Sophie Fillion, South Okanagan Conservative Program 
   Tara White, Ministry of FLNRO – Fish & Wildlife Division  

Rick Peleshytuk, Ministry of FLNRO, Regional Water Management 
Bryn White  

 
Guests:  Joe Kennedy, Stantec 
   James Bigelow, Stantec 

    Leif Burge, Stantec 
1. Call to Order 
 

The Penticton and Ellis Creek Restoration Select Committee was called to order by the Chair at 
9:01 a.m.   

 
2. Adoption of Agenda 
 

It was MOVED and SECONDED 
THAT the Penticton and Ellis Creek Restoration Select Committee adopt the agenda for the 
meeting held on February 3, 2022 as amended to include Item: 4.4 - Update on the Removal of 
Nanaimo Avenue Bridge and Construction Timing. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 

-22-



Minutes of the February 3, 2022 Penticton and Ellis Creek Restoration Select Committee Meeting Page 2 of 5 
 

3. Adoption of Minutes 
 
3.1 Minutes of the December 17, 2021 Penticton and Ellis Creek Restoration Select 

Committee Meeting 
 

It was MOVED and SECONDED 
THAT the Penticton and Ellis Creek Restoration Select Committee adopt the minutes of the 
December 17, 2021 meeting as presented. 

  CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 
4. New Business 
 

4.1 Presentation by Stantec 
 
The Manager of Special Projects provided an update on conversations that took place with 
Stantec following the last Committee meeting to address the challenges of the design including 
land acquisition, amount, size, cost and time to build retaining walls necessary to make the 
design work, boulder sizes and impacts on the existing spawning area. Stantec was asked to see 
if changes could be made to the design to address these items and be able to execute the 
contract this year within the estimated budget.  
 
Stantec provided a presentation to the Committee regarding potential changes to the design 
to achieve these objectives. The presentation focused on informing the Committee on the 
following topics in detail: 
 

• Property Constraints  
• Design Approach/How they got there 
• Re-design Description 
• Comparison of Expected Performance; and 
• Next Steps 

 
Leif Burge, Stantec, entered the meeting at 9:32 a.m. 

 
The Manager of Special Projects stated that Stantec has managed to define solutions that 
address all of the various comments and concerns raised and that if endorsed by the committee 
would allow the design to be finalized, submitted as a revision to the current permit application 
and facilitate construction in the forthcoming fish window.  
 
The floor was opened to Committee members for comments and questions. A Committee 
Member commented that the most important benefit to fish is to have concrete removed, and 
design changes to make the cost and timing of construction feasible are important but that the 
design changes to fish habitat wasn’t as positive an outcome since the longitudinal section 
indicated the impact to the existing spawning bed at the top end of the project has not changed 
from the previous design and the unique deep pool feature was reduced to two shallower pools. 
The Stantec Consultant clarified that the changes are not visible in the profile, but some 
disturbance of the spawning bed to the sides is reduced as illustrated on the plan view. The 
Consultant also provided clarity that the gradient differences in the last meters at the upstream 
tie in point are minimal and field fitting can be used to benefit fish habitat by decreasing the 
impact to the spawning bed as much as possible. 

 
A Committee Member questioned whether increased velocities in the narrower channel will 
cause removal of gravels by scouring action. The Consultant responded that the velocities in 

-23-



Minutes of the February 3, 2022 Penticton and Ellis Creek Restoration Select Committee Meeting Page 3 of 5 
 

the new design will be similar to the previous design; the narrowing will be minimal and the 
velocities in the pool are very low during spawning times as well as during the two hundred 
year flows. 

 
A Committee Member inquired about encroaching properties potential constraints on the 
design specifically on the right bank. The Consultant confirmed that encroachment on the left 
bank included pathways, retaining walls and trees that would not be beneficial to remove, and 
on the right bank the property owners have largely stayed within their property lines and the 
new design has been modified to stop at the fences/property lines instead of acquiring land 
from the owners as required in the previous design. 
 
The Manager of Special Projects notified the Committee that the trees/vegetation within the 
construction area will need to be removed within the next 6-8 weeks before the nesting season 
begins. It was also noted that the larger trees along the perimeter of the creek corridor, 
particularly on the south side, will remain to help provide over-arching shade to the fish habitat. 

 
A Committee Member suggested that the velocity profile should be presented on a diagram for 
the benefit of the Community and fish habitat enthusiasts. The Committee Member 
commented that the variable bottom width is a good way to go and expressed concerns 
regarding clearance under the Wade Avenue Bridge being on the lower side creating a pinch 
point. The Committee Member asked about the rock/boulder size and what is being anticipated 
and commented on the limitations to the future design of the next up-stream reach restoration. 
The Stantec Consultant responded that the majority will be in the 1.0 to 1.2-meter range, and 
that a velocity profile will be created. 

 
Another Committee Member commented that the property owners adjacent to the creek have 
been waiting to hear back from City Staff and inquired on their behalf when that would take 
place. The Manager of Special Projects commented that discussions with owners will resume 
again shortly based upon the new design. The Committee member also commented on the 
issues with the walking bridge and whether any changes will be made underneath the bridge 
to help reduce the current issues with homelessness. The Manager of Special Projects 
responded that the appropriate staff will be involved on that issue. 

 
A Committee Member asked whether costs will be saved on the construction of this redesign to 
help pay for the costs of the engineering work on the design revisions. The Manager of Special 
Projects clarified that while the additional design costs are likely to be much lower than the cost 
of the retaining walls that will be eliminated it has yet to be established if the grant funding 
rules will allow for that direct substitution.  

 
A Committee Member asked about access points for the construction areas and whether 
removal of the Nanaimo Avenue bridge will create any challenges. The Stantec Consultant 
answered that the primary access for the creek will be at Nanaimo Avenue which will provide a 
fairly large lay down area and access once the bridge is removed. Wade Avenue was also 
mentioned as another lay-down and access point which is on City property. 

 
It was MOVED and SECONDED 
THAT the Penticton and Ellis Creek Restoration Select Committee support proceeding with the 
proposed changes to the Penticton Creek design as presented by Stantec at the February 3, 
2022 Committee meeting.  

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 
 

-24-



Minutes of the February 3, 2022 Penticton and Ellis Creek Restoration Select Committee Meeting Page 4 of 5 
 

 
4.2 2022 Penticton and Ellis Creek Restoration Select Committee Meeting Schedule 
 
The Deputy Corporate Officer introduced the 2022 Committee meeting schedule. 

 
It was MOVED and SECONDED 
THAT the Penticton and Ellis Creek Restoration Select Committee 2022 meetings be tentatively 
held on January 17, February 10, March 10, April 21 May 12, June 16, July 14, August 11, 
September 22, October 13, November 17 and December 15 at City Hall or electronically at  
9:00 a.m. unless otherwise specified. 

CARRIED UNANIMOSLY 
 

4.3 Electronic Meeting Policy 
 

The Deputy Corporate Officer highlighted the Electronic Meeting Policy adopted by Council in 
October 2021 as it pertains to electronic meetings for Advisory Committees. 
 
4.4 Update on the Removal of Nanaimo Avenue Bridge and Construction Timing 
 
The Manager of Special Projects asked Stantec whether they could comment on when the 
Nanaimo Avenue Bridge will need to be removed before the in-stream works begin. 
 
The Stantec Consultants commented that the sooner the bridge can be removed the faster 
preparations can begin which would be advantageous to the project and noted that a huge 
lead time is not required. A detailed construction schedule will be provided at a later date. 
 
The Manager of Special Projects notified the Committee that the following items will need to 
be taken into consideration moving forward with the project schedule: 

• trimming and removal of trees before the nesting season begins; 
• presentation to the Penticton Indian Band needs to take place in March; 
• revised plans for the permit process need to be submitted at the end of February;  
• get the tender out in mid-May and close the tender in mid-June; and 
• begin construction in mid-July. 

 
5. Next Meeting 

 
Bruce McFarlane, Non-Voting Member, notified the Committee that he has decided to retire 
from the public service and expressed his thanks to the Committee for the wonderful 
experience.  
 
The next Penticton & Ellis Creek Restoration Select Committee meeting is to be determined. 

 
6. Public Question Period 
 
7. Adjournment 
  

It was MOVED and SECONDED 
 
THAT the Penticton and Ellis Creek Restoration Select Committee adjourn the meeting held on 
February 3, 2022 at 10:35 a.m. 
                  CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 

-25-



Minutes of the February 3, 2022 Penticton and Ellis Creek Restoration Select Committee Meeting Page 5 of 5 
 

 
Certified Correct: 
 
 
 
_______________________________ 
Paula McKinnon  
Deputy Corporate Officer  

-26-



 

Minutes 
 
 
 
 

Safety and Security Advisory Committee Meeting  
held via Zoom 

Monday, February 7, 2022 
at 10:30 a.m. 

 
 

Present:    Matt Taylor, Chair 
Deirdre Riley, Vice Chair 
Jill Pascoe 
Lynn Allin 

 
Council Liaisons: John Vassilaki, Mayor 
   Katie Robinson, Councillor 

   
Staff:  Blake Laven, Director of Development Services   
   Larry Watkinson, Fire Chief 
   Staff-Sgt Bob Vatamaniuck, RCMP  

Tina Mercier, Bylaw Services Manager 
  Angie Collison, Corporate Officer 

Rebecca Van Huizen, Legislative Assistant 
 

Regrets:  Cheryl Watts 
   Daryl Clarke 
   Adam Power 
   Nicolette Rodriquez 

 
1. Call to Order 
 

The Safety and Security Advisory Committee was called to order by the Chair at 10:33 a.m.  
 
2. Adoption of Agenda 
 

It was MOVED and SECONDED 
THAT the Safety and Security Advisory Committee adopt the agenda for the meeting held on 
February 7, 2022 as presented. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 

  

-27-



Page 2 of 3 
Minutes of the February 7, 2022 Safety and Security Advisory Committee 

 

3. Adoption of Minutes 
 
3.1 Minutes of December 6, 2021 and January 10, 2022 Safety and Security Advisory 

Committee Meetings 
 
It was MOVED and SECONDED 
THAT the Safety and Security Advisory Committee adopt the minutes of the December 6, 2021 
and January 10, 2022 meetings as presented.  

  CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 

4. Delegation 
 
4.1 100 More Homes Penticton – Naomi Woodland, United Way, Linda Sankey, Community 

Partners 
 
• Linda Sankey provided the Committee with a PowerPoint presentation and overview of 100 

More Homes Penticton. 
• Responded to questions from the Committee. 
 

5. New Business 
 

5.1 “Where Are We Now” Updates from Primary Service Departments       
 

• An update was provided by the Bylaw Services Manager and responded to questions 
from the Committee. 

 
• An update was provided by the Fire Chief and responded to questions from the 

Committee. 
 

• An update was provided by Staff-Sgt Bob Vatamaniuck, RCMP and responded to 
questions from the Committee. 

 
5.2 2022 Safety and Security Advisory Committee Meeting Schedule 
 
The Corporate Officer introduced the 2022 Committee meeting schedule. 

 
It was MOVED and SECONDED 
THAT the Safety and Security Advisory Committee 2022 meetings be tentatively held on 
January 10, February 7, March 7, April 4, May 2, June 6, July 4, August 8, September 19, 
October 17, November 14 and December 5 at City Hall or electronically at 10:30 a.m. unless 
otherwise specified. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
5.3 Electronic Meeting Policy 
 
The Corporate Officer highlighted the Electronic Meeting Policy adopted by Council in 
October 2021 as it pertains to electronic meetings for Advisory Committees. 

 
5.         Next Meeting 

 
The Next Safety and Security Advisory Committee meeting is scheduled for Monday, March 7, 
2022. 

-28-



Page 3 of 3 
Minutes of the February 7, 2022 Safety and Security Advisory Committee 

 

 
6. Public Question Period 
 
7. Adjournment  
 

It was MOVED and SECONDED 
THAT the Safety and Security Advisory Committee adjourn the meeting held on Monday, 
February 7, 2022 at 11:38 a.m. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 

 
Certified Correct: 
 
 
 
__________________________________ 
Rebecca Van Huizen 
Legislative Assistant   

-29-



 

 
Council Report 

 

   

 

 

Date: February 15, 2022    File No:  N\city\Address\Chase Ave\718 
To: Donny van Dyk, Chief Administrative Officer 
From: Ken Kunka, Building and Permitting Manager  
Address: 718 Chase Avenue 
 
Subject: 718 Chase Avenue: Request for Notice on Title 

 

Staff Recommendation 

THAT the owner of 718 Chase Avenue (the Property) be notified that Council will consider passing a resolution to 
place a Notice on Title under section 57 of the Community Charter with respect to contraventions of the City of 
Penticton Building Bylaw No. 2021-21 on Lot 29, District Lot 2 Group 7 Similkameen Division Yale District, Plan 1049, 
located at 718 Chase Avenue, stating the following: 

“Failure to complete a building permit, which is a violation of the City of Penticton Building Bylaw No. 2021-21. 
Further information about it may be inspected at the municipal hall.” 
 

AND THAT the owner be notified of the proposed Notice on Title report, and given the opportunity to speak to the 
matter at the regular Council meeting on April 5, 2022. 
 
Executive Summary 

This report recommends that, pursuant to section 57 of the Community Charter, the owner of the Property 
be notified that Council will consider passing a resolution to have a Notice be registered with the Land Title 
and Survey Authority against the Property for failure to comply with the City of Penticton Building Bylaw No. 
2021-21 and the British Columbia Building Code, contraventions which are related to the safety of the 
building on the property. This report recommends that Council support staff in notifying the owner, and 
providing the owner with an opportunity to be heard.  

Strategic Priority Objective 

Community Safety: The City of Penticton will support a safe, secure and healthy community. 

Background 

On November 3, 2021 and, again, on December 3, 2021, staff cautioned the owner that staff would 
commence with escalating enforcement action, because of the owner’s failure to complete the building 
permit BP012204. As of the date of this report, the owner has completed some of the required works to 
complete the building permit BP012204, such as the removal of the cooking facilities and cabinetry, so that 
the structure may be considered an accessory building. Nevertheless, the reduction of the accessory 
building to the size that was originally permitted in 1960 has not been accomplished by the owner. As 
outlined within the Chronology of Events (Attachment A), the Property has expended a considerable 

-30-



 
Council Report  Page 2 of 8 

amount of staff time, and staff are now recommending escalating enforcement action as outlined in 
Council’s Building Compliance Policy (Resolution No. 437/2018) - to ensure compliance, and requesting that 
Council consider that the owner be notified that Council will consider passing a resolution for the placement 
of a Notice on the Title of the property, via section 57 of the Community Charter. 
 
City of Penticton – Building Bylaw No. 2021-21 

As outlined in division 1 of the Community Charter, local governments have the authority to regulate 
construction. In the City of Penticton, the power to regulate construction is exercised through the Building 
Bylaw No. 2021-21, and was formerly exercised under the Building Bylaw No. 2018-01 until June 15, 2021. 
The building permit BP012204 was issued under the Building Bylaw No. 2018-01 on May 11, 2021, and the 
failure to complete the issued building permit now falls under the Building Bylaw No. 2021-21. 

Financial implication 

The City’s expenditure will be further staff time to notify the owner, and to prepare the resolution.  

Analysis 

During the course of this enforcement action, staff have followed Council’s approved Building Compliance 
Policy, as well as section 57(1) of the Community Charter, which allows for a building inspector to 
recommend that Council consider a resolution to notify the owner that Council will consider placing a 
Notice on the Title of the property. 

At the time of this report, the Property remains in violation of the City’s Building Bylaw No. 2021-21 and the 
British Columbia Building Code, because of the illegal accessory building on the Property. Due to current 
enforcement efforts having not brought the Property into compliance with the City’s Bylaws, staff are 
recommending the registration of a Notice on the Title of the Property. In addition, staff would like for 
Council to consider the following information when contemplating this action: 
 

• The potential safety risks for surrounding properties, such as fire spread, as a result of an oversized 
accessory building constructed in the required setback without the necessary permits; 

• If the City should choose not to enforce, then the potential for legal claims as a result of possible 
damages to surrounding properties; 

• A reputation of not enforcing bylaws to ensure compliance with the City’s pertinent regulations; 
• The Chronology of Events that details staff’s efforts to bring the Property into compliance 

(Attachment A). 
 

Under the authority of the section 57(1) of the Community Charter, it is appropriate for Council to consider a 
resolution to notify the owner that Council will consider placing a Notice on Title for the failure to complete 
the building permit BP009864. Due to the many opportunities that staff have provided the owner to 
complete the building permit BP009864, staff are recommending the Council support staff in notifying the 
owner of the possible registration of the Notice on the Title of the property. 

 

Attachments 

Attachment A – Chronology of Events  
Attachment B – Letter dated January 22, 2021 
 

 

 

-31-



 
Council Report  Page 3 of 8 

Respectfully submitted, 

 

Ken Kunka, AScT RBO 
Building and Permitting Manager 
 

Concurrence  

 

Director of 
Development Services 

Chief Administrative 
Officer 

BL DvD 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

-32-



 
Council Report  Page 4 of 8 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Attachment A – Chronology of Events 
Chronology of Events 

718 Chase Avenue 

Date of Documentation Description Associated Document 
January 10, 2022 Staff reposted the Do Not Occupy Notices to the 

Accessory Dwelling Unit (ADU) and issued a ticket 
to the owner. 

 

January 9, 2022 Staff observed that the Do Not Occupy Notices 
posted to the ADU had been removed. 

 

December 7, 2021 Staff posted a Do Not Occupy Notice to the ADU 
and issued a ticket to the owner. 

 

December 6, 2021 Staff informed the owner that a Do Not Occupy 
Notice would be posted on December 7, 2021. 

 

November 29, 2021 Staff reminded the owner that the building 
permit BP012204 must be completed by 
December 3, 2021. 

 

November 3, 2021 Owner claimed that staff would need to seek an 
injunction to reduce the accessory building. 

 

November 3, 2201 Staff issued a ticket and sent a letter to the owner 
that required BP012204 be completed by 
December 3, 2021. 

 

November 1, 2021 Notice placed on the Tax Certificate for the 
property. 

 

October 23, 2021 BP012204 expired without completion.  
August 23, 2021 Staff granted an extension for BP012204 to 

October 23, 2021. 
 

August 6, 2021 Staff granted an extension for BP012204 to 
August 20, 2021. 

 

July 21, 2021 Staff issued a fail for a completion inspection for 
BP012204, as the ADU had been decommissioned 
and not reduced in size. 

 

July 7, 2021 Staff agree to provide an extension for BP012204 
should the owner call for a completion inspection. 

 

July 7, 2021 Owner claimed to have decommissioned the 
ADU, but not reduced the size. 

 

July 5, 2021 Staff reminded the owner that BP012204 would 
expire on August 6, 2021 without any inspections. 

 

May 11, 2021 BP012204 was issued.  
April 20, 2021 Staff provided an extension to April 27, 2021 to 

complete the building permit application. 
 

February 12, 2021 Owner submitted a building permit application to 
decommission the ADU and reduce the size. 

 

February 9, 2021 Staff rejected an incomplete building permit 
application from the owner. 

 

-33-



 
Council Report  Page 5 of 8 

Chronology of Events - Continued 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

January 22, 2021 Staff sent a letter to the owner regarding the 
outcome of the Council meeting. 

Attachment B 

January 19, 2021 Council denied “Development Variance Permit 
PL2020-8854”. 

 

October 16, 2020 Staff provided the owner with a copy of the 
Technical Planning Committee (TPC)’s comments. 

 

October 15, 2020 TPC discussed the Development Variance Permit 
(DVP) application  

 

September 14, 2020 Staff received the requested documents for the 
DVP application. 

 

August 25, 2020 Staff requested documents to complete the DVP 
application. 

 

July 24, 2020 Staff received a partial Development Variance 
Permit (DVP) application from the owner.  

 

July 7, 2020 Staff sent a letter to the owner that provided two 
options for compliance for the ADU. 

 

June 9, 2020 Staff conducted an inspection of the property and 
identified an illegal accessory dwelling unit (ADU). 

 

May 8, 2020 Staff sent a letter to the owner that requested an 
inspection of the property. 

 

April 28, 2020 Staff received information that alleged illegal 
accessory suites existed at the property. 

 

-34-



 
Council Report  Page 6 of 8 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Attachment B – Letter dated January 22, 2021 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

-35-



 
Council Report  Page 7 of 8 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

-36-



 
Council Report  Page 8 of 8 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

-37-



 

 
Council Report 

 

   

 

 

Date: February 15, 2022       File No:     
To: Donny Van Dyk, Chief Administrative Officer 
From: Angela Campbell, Manager of Finance 
Subject: Year End Surplus Policy CP2022-01 

 

Staff Recommendation 

THAT Council approve the revised “Year End Surplus Policy CP#2022-01” effective February 15, 2022. 

Background 

During the year end process the City’s Financial Statements are compiled determining the surplus/deficit 
amount per fund for the fiscal year.   In Feb 2018 Council adopted the City’s Year End Surplus Policy to give 
direction to staff on the annual allocation for the General Fund when the net result for a fiscal year is a 
surplus.  Based on the results of the Asset and Amenity Management Project, current financial conditions 
and impacts on the City’s financial position due to COVID-19, staff have reviewed the policy and are 
proposing revisions. 

Analysis 

The Government Finance Officers Association (GFOA) recommends that governments establish formal 
policies on the level of unrestricted fund balances that should be maintained in the General fund for 
accounting and budgetary purposes.   

In updating this policy, staff have reviewed similar policies for other municipalities as well as the guidelines 
from the GFOA and are recommending 16% of net expenditures which is 2 months of general fund 
operating expenditures.  This guideline provides the dollar value of the Maximum Accumulated Surplus for 
the City. 

The City’s current accumulated surplus as at December 31, 2020 is $9.1M which equates to just under 16% of 
general expenditures (excluding Collections for Other Governments and transfers to Other Funds/Reserves).  
The 2021 year end is currently underway with the last forecasted surplus at $1.2M, which following the 
current policy would be allocated entirely into reserves.  During budget deliberations for the 2022 year, 
Council approved a transfer from surplus to balance the budget in the amount of $1.26M which will reduce 
the General Surplus accordingly. 

 

-38-



 
Council Report  Page 2 of 3 

 

Annual General Surplus in Excess of $500,000 

Should the annual General Surplus be in excess of $500,000, the policy provides that 40% would go into 
accumulated surplus if the Maximum Accumulated Surplus is lower than the guideline, and then provides 
for allocation of the remaining surplus into other reserves.  Staff are recommending changes to this 
allocation as follows: 

• Section 2 (B)(2)(i) - Increase the maximum transfer to the RCMP Services Reserve non-statutory (own 
reserve) from $100k to $250k. 

• Section 2 (B)(2)(ii) - Increase the maximum allocation into the Financial Stabilization Reserve non-
statutory (own reserve) from 10% to 25% and remove the condition of transferring only when 
Building and Licensing revenues exceed budget.  

• Section 2 (B)(3) - Add an allocation to the Asset Sustainability Reserve (statutory) and change the 
allocation for any remaining surplus to be split equally between that reserve, the Equipment 
Replacement Reserve (statutory) and the Asset Emergency Reserve (non-statutory). 

Costs for RCMP services are susceptible to unexpected increases when an unusual crime event occurs.  The 
RCMP Services reserve was created to establish funding in the event a high crime event occurs and the City’s 
policing contract costs come in above budget.  In recent years, the City has also experienced unexpected 
contract increases due to inflationary measures and other changes to RCMP member compensation.   The 
increase in provision in the Year End Surplus Policy would allow for any surplus in RCMP contract costs 
during the year to a maximum of $250,000 to be transferred into the reserve to fund any future overages 
due to unplanned events or unexpected contract increases. 

The Financial Stabilization Reserve funds major emergent operating issues, one-time and intermittent 
projects and can be used to offset unrealized revenues.  The change to the policy would allow for up to 25% 
of the General Surplus to be allocated into the reserve and remove the condition to transfer only when 
Building revenues exceed budget.  As the City has recently experienced unprecedented financial challenges 
due to COVID-19, staff feel it prudent to allocate additional funding into this reserve when surplus funds are 
available. 

With the progression of the Asset and Amenity Management project, adding an allocation into the Asset 
Sustainability Reserve will be a key factor in funding future asset replacements and significant repairs.  Staff 
are recommending to add that reserve to Section 2(B)(3) and change the allocation of any remaining surplus 
to be split equally to the reserves as follows: 

• Equipment Replacement Reserve (statutory) 
• Asset Emergency Reserve (non-statutory) 
• Asset Sustainability Reserve (statutory)  

Annual General Surplus Less Than $500,000 

Should the annual General Surplus be less than $500,000, the current policy provides that 40% would go 
into accumulated surplus if the Maximum Accumulated Surplus is lower than the guideline.  Staff are 

-39-



 
Council Report  Page 3 of 3 

recommending to change the allocation of any remaining surplus to include the Asset Sustainability Reserve 
and be split equally as follows:  

• Equipment Replacement Reserve (statutory) 
• Asset Emergency Reserve (non-statutory) 
• Asset Sustainability Reserve (statutory)  

Surpluses for the Electric, Water and Sewer funds will continue to be allocated into the accumulated surplus 
for each respective fund. 

Alternate recommendations 

1. That Council maintain the allocations as set out in the current policy.  

Attachment 

Attachment A – Year End Surplus Policy CP2022-01 

Respectfully submitted, 

 

Angela Campbell 
Manager of Finance  

Approvals 

CAO 
 

DvD 

 

-40-



 

Council Policy 
CP#2022-01 

 
 
 

Council Policy – Year End Surplus  Page 1 of 3 

Category:  FINANCE  

Subject:  Year End Surplus Policy 

 

Purpose  

The City of Penticton Year End Surplus Policy will govern the City’s treatment of fund surpluses as calculated 
in the annual financial statements to ensure funds are set aside to address future City priorities while 
meeting statutory requirements. 

Scope 

The City of Penticton Year End Surplus Policy provides direction to staff on the distribution of the annual 
surplus for each fund.  

Policy Statement 

The City of Penticton Year End Surplus Policy applies to the treatment of the annual surplus for each fund as 
calculated during Year End. 

1. Definitions: 

“Accumulated Surplus” means the accumulated excess of revenues over expenditures from prior years 
which has not been set aside for specific purposes; 

“Annual Surplus” means the accumulated excess of revenues over expenditures for the current year; 

“General Surplus” means the accumulated excess of revenues over expenditures for the current year for 
the General Fund; 

 “Non-Statutory Reserve” means funds allocated for a specified purpose but not established by bylaw; 

“Maximum Accumulated Surplus” means the amount as calculated under S.2 of this policy; 

“Statutory Reserve” means a reserve fund established by bylaw for a specified purpose as per the 
Community Charter ; 

“Total Actual Annual Expenditures” means the total expenditures from the City’s Financial Statements 
Statement of Operations as published in the City’s Annual Report; 

“Year End” means the end of the fiscal year.  

-41-



Council Policy – Year End Surplus  Page 2 of 3 

2. Use of Surplus Funds 
A. The goal is to ensure the City maintains an adequate Accumulated Surplus while also setting aside 

reserves for specific priorities.  The balance in the Accumulated Surplus account has an optimal 
balance of 16% of the net expenditures for the previous fiscal year: 

Net expenditures are calculated as the Total Actual Annual Expenditures from Financial 
Statements for the previous year 

Less: 
Collection of annual payments to other Governments 
Transfers to other Funds/Reserves 

Example: 

 

 

B. If the City’s annual General Surplus for a fiscal year is in excess of $500,000 it will be allocated as 
follows:  

1. 40% to Accumulated Surplus until the Maximum Accumulated Surplus is achieved  
2. Any remaining surplus amounts after item ‘a’ will be allocated as follows: 

i. A maximum of $250,000 per annum to the RCMP Services non-statutory (own) 
reserve if there is a surplus of RCMP yearly contract expenditures under budgeted 
expenditures  

ii. 25% to the Financial Stabilization Reserve  
3. Any remaining surplus amounts after items ‘a-b’ have been allocated shall be split equally 

between the following: 
i. Equipment Replacement statutory reserve 

ii. Asset Emergency non-statutory reserve 
iii. Asset Sustainability statutory reserve  

 
Once the Maximum Accumulated Surplus is achieved no further funds would be added to the 
Accumulated Surplus and allocations would be based solely on items ‘2-3’. 

C. If the City’s General Surplus for a fiscal year is less than $500,000 it will be allocated as follows: 

1. 40% to Accumulated Surplus until the Maximum Accumulated Surplus is achieved 

Total Expenditures 90,000,000.00$     

Less the total of:
     Collections for other governments 20,000,000.00        
     Transfers to other funds/reserves 12,000,000.00        

32,000,000.00        
Net Expenditures to which the 16% applies 58,000,000.00        

Guideline maximum Accumulated Surplus 9,280,000.00$        

-42-



Council Policy – Year End Surplus  Page 3 of 3 

2. Any remaining surplus amounts after item ‘a’ has been allocated shall be split equally 
between the following: 

i. Equipment Replacements statutory reserve 
ii. Asset Emergency non-statutory reserve 

iii. Asset Sustainability statutory reserve  
 

D. Electric, Water and Sewer Surplus 
The City’s Electric, Water or Sewer fund Surplus for a fiscal year will be allocated into the 
accumulated surplus for each respective Electric, Water or Sewer fund. 

Related Policies and Legislation 

• Council Policy - Reserve Policy (dated February 5, 2019 Resolution No. 39/2019) 

 

Approval History 
Replaces:   Year End Surplus Policy Resolution 67/2018 
Approved by Council on:  Resolution No.:  

 

 

Certified Correct:  

 

 
Angie Collison, Corporate Officer  
 

-43-



 

 
Council Report 

 

   

 

 

Date: Feb 15, 2022        File No:    1850-20 
To: Donny van Dyk, Chief Administrative Officer 
From: Amber Coates, Financial Analyst 
 Carly Lewis, Economic Development Manager 
Subject: In-Year Grant Request: Meadowlark Festival/Okanagan Similkameen Conservation 

Alliance 

 

Staff Recommendation 

THAT Council approves a $2,500 cash grant to the Meadowlark Festival/Okanagan Similkameen 
Conservation Alliance for the Meadowlark Festival event. 

Strategic Priority Objective 

Mission: Penticton will serve its residents, businesses and visitors through good governance, partnership and the 
provision of effective and community focused services. 

Background 

The City has received an in-year grant request through our grant administration program.  Annually the City 
receives grant applications as part of the budget deliberation process and subsequently receives in-year 
applications from organizations that did not apply during the regular intake. 

During the 2022 budget deliberation process, the City used funding principles to determine the level of 
grant funding provided with new requests to address the increase in grant requests and to meet the budget 
allocation for grants.  These principles included: 

• Returning nominal grants from the prior year with similar requests were funded at the prior 
year levels; 

• Large grants were reviewed individually; 
• New requests under $10,000 were funded at 50%; and 
• Special events were evaluated individually. 

Financial Implication 

During the budget process an amount is allocated to ‘other’ grants to fund requests that are made during 
the year.  The current remaining budget available to allocate is $10,000. Funding this request using the 
above principles, which is contained in the staff recommendation, would leave $7,500 to fund any further 
2022 requests.   

-44-



 
Council Report  Page 2 of 2 

Analysis 

The Meadowlark Festival/Okanagan Similkameen Conservation Alliance is planning a return to host their 
regularly annual event May 20-22, 2022. This festival has operated for 22 years and includes a benefit 
concert, assorted guided tours, and a closing gala dinner and auction. The event takes place throughout the 
valley. 

The Meadowlark celebrates the diversity of the natural environment of the Okanagan Valley and how, as 
citizens, we interact with that environment. It offers guided tours from experts in their fields who spend 2-3 
hours on tours with small groups of interested people who have a chance to interact with each guide, and 
each other, while they experience the natural beauty of the region. The tours focus on geology, history (both 
pre- and post-colonial), environmental sustainability, the threats of invasive plants and animals, and 
discussions about conservation and recovery programs that will protect and preserve our indigenous 
species.  

The tours are developed with a view to inclusiveness. Some are challenging hikes/bike rides while others are 
casual walks. Young people are encouraged to participate by being offered discounted tickets. 

Timing and structure are intended to encourage participation from those from outside the region thus 
bringing economic benefits to the city. 

The 2022 request is for $3,500 of cash; however, in 2019 and 2020 $2,500 was granted. The festival had taken 
a pause due to COVID-19 therefore did not make a request for 2021. 

Staff have reviewed the request and based on the grant policy eligibility criteria, the nature of the program 
and the cost per resident benefiting, staff support this request. Applying the same principles that were used 
during the regular grant process to fund requests, staff are proposing to fund this grant request at the 
previous level of $2,500. 

Alternate Recommendations 

THAT Council provide alternate direction to staff on the level of funding for the grant application from the 
Meadowlark Festival/Okanagan Similkameen Conservation Alliance.   

Respectfully submitted, 

   

Amber Coates   Carly Lewis 
Financial Analyst   Economic Development Manager 

Concurrence  

 

 
Acting GM 

Finance and 
Administration 

 

Chief 
Administrative 

Officer 

AMC  
DvD 

-45-



 

 
Council Report 

 
 

          File No:    4320-80 
Date: February 15, 2022 
To: Donny van Dyk, Chief Administrative Officer 
From: Sheri Raposo, Land Administrator 
Subject: Sudbury Beach, Skaha East and Peach Concessions – Request for Proposals 
 3846 Skaha Lake Road, 3885 South Main Street and 185 Lakeshore Drive West, Penticton 
 

Staff Recommendation 

THAT Council direct staff to issue the Request for Proposal to seek operators for the use of three City buildings 
located at 3846 Skaha Lake Road (Sudbury Beach Concession), 3885 South Main Street (Skaha East Concession) and 
185 Lakeshore Drive West (Peach Concession) for the purpose of the operation of a food concession for a three-year 
License to Use term; 

AND THAT Council authorize Mayor and Corporate Officer to execute the License to Use agreement.  

Property Description  

Sudbury Beach Concession is located at 3846 Skaha Lake Road, as shown outlined in red on Attachment A. 
The building includes a +320 sq. ft. concession area.  Public washrooms are located on the north end of the 
building and do not form part of the Licensed Area, with the City being responsible for the maintenance of 
the washrooms. 

Skaha East Concession is located at 3885 South Main Street, as shown outlined in red on Attachment A. The 
building includes a +250 sq. ft concession area.  Public washrooms are located on the north, north-east and 
south of the building and do not form part of the Licensed Area, with the City being responsible for the 
maintenance of the washrooms. 

The Peach Concession is located at 185 Lakeshore Drive West, as shown outlined in red on Attachment A.  
The building includes a 221 sq. ft. concession area.  

Background 

There are a total of four operational beach concession buildings in Penticton:  

NAME EXPIRY 
Sudbury Beach Concession September 30, 2021 
Skaha East Concession April 30, 2022 
Skaha Main Concession September 30, 2022 
Peach Concession January 31, 2022 
 

-46-



Council Report – RFP Concession  Page 2 of 3 

Thomas & Callin Fine Foods Ltd. d.b.a Tickleberrys, is the most recent operator of the Sudbury Beach 
Concession and has had a License to Use agreement for four years. The current agreement expired on 
September 30, 2021.  

Thomas & Callin Fine Foods Ltd. d.b.a. Tickleberry’s, is the most recent operator of the Skaha East Concession 
and has had a License to Use agreement for four years.  The current agreement expires on April 30, 2022. 

LocoLanding Adventure Golf Inc. is the most recent operator of the Peach Concession and assumed the 
remainder of the 20-year lease in 2016. The current agreement expired on January 31, 2022. 

Skaha Main Concession, currently has one more season with the current operator.  Staff will bring a report 
forward for this concession at a later date.  

On December 7, 2021, staff brought forward the request to Council to refer the Request for Proposal to the 
Parks and Recreation Advisory Committee for their review and recommendation with the following 
outcome: 

10.2  Request for Proposal – Sudbury Beach, Skaha East and Peach Concessions  
             Re: 3846 Skaha Lake Road, 3885 South Main Street and 185 Lakeshore Drive West 

461/2021  It was MOVED and SECONDED 

THAT Council refer the Request for Proposal to the Parks and Recreation Advisory Committee for their 
review and recommendation, for the use of 3846 Skaha Lake Road (Sudbury Beach Concession), 3885 
South Main Street (Skaha East Concession) and 185 Lakeshore Drive West (Peach Concession) for the 
operation of food concessions for a three-year term. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 

 

Park Land Protection and Use Policy References 

As this land, where the buildings are located, is dedicated parkland, the Park Land Protection and Use Policy 
requires any new agreements within our parkland follow the proper step procedure and receive a 
Committee recommendation.  City staff completed their final procedural step and presented a report to the 
Parks and Recreation Advisory Committee on January 17, 2022, with the following outcome: 

It was MOVED and SECONDED 

THAT the Parks and Recreation Advisory Committee recommends that Council direct staff to issue the 
Request for Proposal to seek an operator for the use of the City buildings located at 3846 Skaha Lake 
Road (Sudbury Beach Concession), 3885 South Main Street (Skaha East Concession) and 185 Lakeshore 
Drive West (Peach Concession) for the purpose of the operation of a food concession for a 3-year term. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 

-47-



Council Report – RFP Concession  Page 3 of 3 

License to Use Summary 

The proposed three-year term of the License to Use agreements for each of the concessions will be from  
May 1, 2022 to April 30, 2025.  

The operator will be responsible for utilities, day to day upkeep, safety and security of the building.  Wherein 
the City will continue to be responsible for the major maintenance of the building, surrounding grounds and 
adjoining washrooms.   

Financial Implication 

At this time, there is no financial implication to the City.  It is anticipated that market rates in the anticipated 
proposals will not be significantly different from the former License to Use rates. 

Analysis 

To ensure an open competitive environment the City’s practice is to issue a Request for Proposal for 
concession operators for all three concessions. The intent would be for the RFP’s to be issued, awarded, and 
License to Use agreements in place, in time for the operators to commence operations by May 1, 2022.  

Alternate Recommendation 

That Council does not direct Staff to issue a Request for Proposal to seek operators for the use of the 
buildings located at 3846 Skaha Lake Road (Sudbury Beach Concession), 3885 South Main Street (Skaha East 
Concession) and 185 Lakeshore Drive West (Peach Concession), for the purpose of the operation of a food 
concession for a three-year License to Use term.  

Attachments 

Attachment A – Aerial View of Buildings and Locations of the Sudbury Beach, Skaha East and Peach 
Concessions 

Attachment B – Draft Request for Proposal 

Respectfully submitted, 

 

Sheri Raposo, Land Administrator 
 
 Acting GM Finance & 

Administration 
General Manager of 

Infrastructure 
GM Community 

Services 
Chief Administrative 

Officer 

AMC KD AH DvD 

-48-



 

   

ATTACHMENT A 

 

3846 Skaha Lake Road – Sudbury Beach Concession 

 

3885 South Main Street – Skaha East Concession 

 

 

185 Lakeshore Drive West – Peach Concession 

 

-49-



 

REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS 

FOR 

OPERATION OF XXX CONCESSION 
 

 

Request for Proposals No.: XXXX 
 

Issued: _________________ 
 

Closing Date and Time: __________________ at 2:00:00 PM 
 

Non-mandatory site visit:  ___________________ at XXX AM at  XXX Concession located 
at XXX Street, Penticton, BC 
 

 
 
 

Respondents are required to bring their own pen and face covering to the 
site meeting. 
 

-50-



202X-RFP-XX 
Operation of XXX Concession 

Summary, Contents & Instructions: 

Summary 

The City is seeking an operator for XXX Concession for the purpose of operating the concession for a 
XXX year term.  

The City of Penticton (the City) invites Proposals from Respondents who wish to enter into a License to 
Use and operate the commercial concession facility known as XXX Concession and located at XXX, 
Penticton, BC.  

This Request for Proposals (RFP) document outlines the overall scope of facility tenure, sets out the basic 
requirements for the Proposal document and provides the evaluation criteria to be used as the basis for 
awarding the tenure. The objectives of the RFP are to evaluate the Proponent’s experience, proposed 
utilization of the facility and products offered, cost of products to the consumers, any proposed 
upgrades or required improvements, schedule of operation, and License rate. 

Contents 

This Request for Proposals (the “RFP”) is organized into the following parts: 

 Part A: The Services – full details of the Services required and terms and conditions 

 Part B:  The RFP Process – the process for submissions, evaluation and award of the 
 Contract 

 Part C:  The Contract – the Contract the City will enter into  

 Part D:  Submission Instructions and Forms – the forms a Respondent should submit 
 in their  Proposal  

Instructions: 

Whenever you see the following symbol and box throughout this document, this box is providing 
instructions to a Respondent on what this section means and/or what a Respondent must do: 

Example: 

 

Whenever you see this box throughout the RFP document, the text is providing 
instructions or information on what this section means and/or what a Respondent must do. 
 

 

 

 

-51-



202X-RFP-XX 
Operation of XXX Concession 

Part A:  The Services 

 

This Part A provides details on operation of XXX Concession (the “Services”) required by the 
City of Penticton.  Respondents should ensure they are fully capable of providing all of the 
requirements outlined, as this section will form the scope of work in the final Contract. 

 

1. Overview 

XXX Park is located at XXXX of Penticton and on the XXX end XXX Lake. The park extends from XXX to 
XXX.  The City of Penticton is seeking an operator for XXX concession for the purpose of operating the 
concession for a XXX year term.  The following amenities are adjacent to the concession:  XXX 

2. Term 

The Contract will have a XXX year term from XXX to XXX.  

3. Sub-contracting  

Subcontracting of this contract is not permitted.  Any change of ownership requires the City of 
Penticton’s prior written approval. Any award made as a result of this Request for Proposal will be based 
on the Criteria as detailed in Part B, which includes Best Value, which will include, but not be limited to, 
cost and profit return, quality of products and service.  The highest or any Proposal may not necessarily 
be accepted.  

4. InsurancePermits and Safety Protocols 

4.1. Liability Insurance 

The Licensee shall take out and keep in force during the Term: 

Commercial General Liability (including bodily injury, death, and property damage) 
insurance on an occurrence basis with respect to the business carried on, in, or from the 
Licensed Premises and the Licensee’s use and occupancy thereof, of not less than 
$5,000,000 per occurrence, which insurance shall be without right of subrogation and 
include the Landlord as a additional insured and shall protect the Landlord in respect of 
claims by the Licensee as if the Landlord were separately insured; and 

All insurance required to be maintained by the Licensee hereunder shall be on terms 
and with insurers to which the Landlord has no reasonable objection and shall provide 
that such insurers shall provide to the Landlord 30 days' prior written notice of 
cancellation or material alteration of such terms.  

4.2. Equipment Insurance 

Notwithstanding anything contained elsewhere herein, it is understood and agreed that the City shall 
not be liable for any loss or damage to Licensee’s equipment, including loss or use thereof.  The Licensee 
should carry their own insurance for their equipment and the policy shall contain the following clause: 

"It is agreed that the right to subrogation against the City or any of its officers, employees, or Managers 
or their parent, subsidiary, affiliated, or associated companies or corporations, is hereby waived." 

-52-



202X-RFP-XX 
Operation of XXX Concession 

4.3. Registration with WorkSafe BC (WCB) 

The License may contain a provision that the Licensee must be registered with WorkSafe BC (WCB) and 
ensure compliance with the Workers' Compensation Act.  Upon request the Licensee shall submit a 
WorkSafe BC (WCB) Clearance Letter indicating that all WCB assessments have been paid.  

4.4. Ministry of Health  

The premises will be turned over to the Licensee compliant with Ministry of Health requirements.  The 
Licensee will be responsible for maintaining the premises to Ministry of Health standards, at their cost. 

4.5. Governing Regulation 

The Licensee shall be aware and ensure that all necessary rules, statutes, and regulations pertinent to 
the operation are followed.  The Licensee shall obtain all necessary permits required by law, and comply 
with all laws, ordinances, rules and regulations relating to the operation of the Concession and to the 
preservation of the public health.  The Licensee shall be responsible for the safety of all workers and the 
public.   

4.6. Protection of Property and Public: 

The Licensee shall comply with all applicable laws, ordinances, rules, regulations and lawful orders of 
any public authority having jurisdiction.  

The Licensee shall protect the Premises and the City's property from damage and shall make good at 
their own expense any damage which may arise as the result of the Licensee’s operations under the 
License. 

4.7. COVID-19 Exposure 

The Licensee will be required to bear Prime Contractor responsibilities as defined by WorkSafe BC. 

Prime contractors have specific responsibilities for health and safety and must ensure that the activities 
of employers, workers, sub-contractors and other parties at the workplace are coordinated. The 
Contractor is also required to do everything that is reasonably practicable to establish and maintain a 
system or process that will ensure the compliance with the Occupational Health and Safety Regulation 
and the Workers Compensation Act. 

Employers are responsible for ensuring the health and safety of workers by putting policies and 
procedures in place to keep workers healthy and safe, and providing workers with up-to-date 
instructions, training, and supervision on those policies and procedures.  

Prime contractors, employers, and sub-contractors must have a mechanism in place for workers to raise 
issues and concerns about COVID-19 exposure so that additional precautions and controls can be put 
in place where required. 
 

5. Specifications and Conditions 

5.1. Facility Details 

XXX concession is approximately XXX ft² and includes a XXX    

Public washrooms located on the XXX building do not form part of the License area and the City is 
responsible for their maintenance and the utilities. 

-53-



202X-RFP-XX 
Operation of XXX Concession 

5.2. Equipment 

There is currently equipment located within the facility which may or may not be included with the 
license.  Prior to signing a contract, the City will determine if the equipment is safe for operation and an 
inventory list will be prepared at that time and form part of the contract document.  

6. Products 

Proponents must state payment to the City of Penticton for the License to Use the concession. The RFP 
shall include in a business plan operating hours and a menu of food and beverage items with pricing, 
as well any other non-food and non-beverage goods or services for sale or rent.  All prices shall be in 
Canadian dollars. 

Sale or rental of items other than food or beverages will be considered, and must be approved, in 
writing, by the City.  Sale or rental of items which are in direct competition of beach vendors within a 
50m radius will NOT be approved.   

7. Use of Facility  

7.1. Flat Fee Payment 

The Flat Rate will be $XXX per season plus GST and annual CPI adjustments.   

7.2. Utilities 

The Licensee will be responsible for the cost of electricity and be responsible to transfer the utility 
account into their name for the term of the contract. 

7.3. Damage Deposit 

A damage deposit of $ XXX must be paid prior to commencing operations of the concession. 

7.4. Fire Safety Plan 

Prior to commencing operations of the concession, the Licensee must provide the City with a copy of a 
Fire Safety Plan, which must be acceptable to the City. 

7.5. Emergencies 

The Licensee shall take such action as necessary to deal with emergencies; and will notify the City 
immediately through the 24 hour emergency phone number 250.490.2324. 

8. Site Conditions 

Respondents may examine the Premises before submitting a Proposal, by attending the non-
mandatory site meeting, either personally or through a representative to satisfy the nature and location 
of the Premises, local conditions, the equipment and facilities needed preliminary to and during the 
prosecution of the Premises  and the means of access to the site, all necessary information as to risk, 
contingencies and circumstances as may affect a Proposal, and all other matters which can in any way 
affect the Premises. 

9. Start-up and Wrap-up Meetings  

The City representative and the Licensee will attend and start up meeting providing an opportunity to 
walk through the concession to ensure all is in working order and to hand over keys to the Licensee. 

-54-



202X-RFP-XX 
Operation of XXX Concession 

At the end of the season, a City representative and the Licensee will attend a wrap-up meeting providing 
an opportunity to walk through the concession to ensure all is in working order and to hand over keys 
to the City.  If any equipment is not working or damage has been sustained to the facility, any repairs 
will be deducted from the damage deposit.  

10. Operating Season  

At a minimum, the Licensee shall provide continuous service to the public from May 1st, until 
September 30th  seven (7) days per week and at hours acceptable to the City. 

11. Maintenance  

The concession must be kept in a clean and sanitary manner, both inside and outside, on a daily basis. 
The repairs and maintenance of the Premises and Equipment are the sole responsibility of the License.  

12. Inspections 

The City reserves the right to inspect the premises at any time and will provide a minimum of 24 hours’ 
notice.  Inspections are for the purpose of identifying and assessing and potential fire hazards and to 
ensure the facility is operating in a safe, clean and healthy manner. 

Any of the City’s concerns will be provided to the Successful Proponent, in writing, with a deadline of 
when issues must be rectified.  If issues are not remedied to the City’s satisfaction, the City reserves the 
right to cancel the Contract. The repairs and maintenance of the Premises and Equipment are the sole 
responsibility of the License.  

13. Facility  

 

Insert pictures here 

  

-55-



202X-RFP-XX 
Operation of XXX Concession 

Part B:  The RFP Process 
 

 

This Part B details the terms and conditions of how this RFP process will be run by the City, 
and how the Contractor will be selected.  Respondents to this RFP must ensure they follow 
all the terms detailed below.  Failure to follow the terms of this Part B may result in a 
Proposal being rejected. 

1. Key Details 

1.1 RFP Contact Person 

Direct all inquiries to this RFP via the “Messages - Questions and Answers” feature on the City of 
Penticton Bonfire Portal: https://penticton.bonfirehub.ca/portal   
 
Information obtained from any source other than through the Bonfire portal is unofficial and must not 
be relied upon as part of this RFP.  Respondents must not contact any other employees, officers, 
consultants, agents, elected officials or other representatives of the City of Penticton regarding matters 
related to this RFP.  Any Respondent found to have contacted persons other than through the Bonfire 
portal, may be disqualified from submitting a Proposal, or have their Proposal rejected. 
 

All questions regarding this RFP must be submitted via the “Messages – Questions and Answers” feature 
in the Bonfire Portal prior to the Deadline for Questions detailed under Section 1.2 of this Part B.  
Questions received after the Deadline for Questions will be addressed if time permits.  The Respondent 
is solely responsible for seeking any clarification required regarding this RFP, and the City shall not be 
held responsible for any misunderstanding by the Respondent. 

1.2 Timetable 

This RFP process will run to the following timetable.  This timetable may be amended at the City’s 
discretion through the issuance of an addendum to this RFP. 

Event: Date: 
Issue Date of this RFP  
Deadline for Questions  
Last Day for Issue of Addenda  
RFP Closing Date and Time:  
Notice of Award Date (estimated)  

1.3 Site Meeting 

A non-mandatory site meeting will be held at XXX on XXX at XXX AM at XXX located at XXX Street.  
Respondents are strongly encouraged to familiarize themselves with the location prior to submitting a 
Proposal. 

  

-56-

https://penticton.bonfirehub.ca/portal


202X-RFP-XX 
Operation of XXX Concession 

1.4 Submission of Proposals (Address, Date & Time, Format) 

Proposals to this RFP must be submitted digitally via the City of Penticton Bonfire Portal: 

 Bonfire Portal: https://penticton.bonfirehub.ca/portal   
 RFP Closing Date and Time:  Proposals must be received no later than 2:00 PM on XXX. 
 Format:  All of the information required in the forms listed under Part D – Submission Forms 

The complete Proposal must be uploaded, submitted, and finalized on the Bonfire Portal outlined above 
no later than the Closing Date and Time.  It is strongly recommended that Respondents allow sufficient 
time and at least one day before the RFP Closing Date and Time to begin the uploading process and to 
finalise the Proposal. 

Uploading large documents may take significant time, depending on the size of the file(s) and the 
internet connection speed.  The maximum upload file size is 100MB. 

Respondents will receive an email confirmation receipt with a unique confirmation number once the 
submission is finalized.  For technical questions specific to submitting on the Bonfire Portal, contact 
Bonfire via email at Support@GoBonfire.com.  Respondents can also visit their help forum at 
https://bonfirehub.zendesk.com/hc. 

2. Definitions Used in this RFP 

 

The following are definitions used in this RFP document.  Whenever one of the following 
terms is used with a capitalized first letter, the term shall have the meaning as set out in this 
section. 

2.1 “Addenda” or “Addendum” means additional information or amendments to this RFP, issued by 
the City in accordance with Section 5 of this Part B. 

2.2 “City” means the City of Penticton 
2.3 “Contract” means a written agreement for the provision of the Services that may result from this 

RFP, executed between the City and the successful Respondent to this RFP. 
2.4 “Contractor” means the successful Respondent to this RFP who enters into a Contract with the 

City. 
2.5 “Closing Date and Time” means the date and time that Proposals to this RFP must be received 

by in accordance with Section 1.4 of this Part B. 
2.6 “Licensee” means the successful Respondent with whom the City enters into a Contract. 
2.7 “Proposal” means a Proposal submitted by a Respondent in response to this RFP. 
2.8 “Respondent” means a person or entity that submits a Proposal to this RFP. 
2.9 “RFP” means this Request For Proposals XXX Concession, including all Parts A to D. 
2.10 “Section” means the numbered section of the referenced part of this RFP. 
2.11 “Services” means the Services which the City seeks to be provided by the Contractor, as outlined 

in Part A. 

3. Amendment of a Proposal by Respondent 

A Respondent may amend a Proposal at any time up until the RFP Closing Date and Time.  Amendments 
must be submitted in the same way as the original Proposal, as detailed in Section 1.4 of this Part B.   

4. Withdrawal of a Proposal by Respondent 

A Respondent may withdraw a Proposal that is already submitted at any time throughout the RFP 
process, including after the Closing Date and Time. 

-57-

https://penticton.bonfirehub.ca/portal
mailto:Support@GoBonfire.com
https://bonfirehub.zendesk.com/hc


202X-RFP-XX 
Operation of XXX Concession 

5. Addenda Issued by City 

This RFP may only be amended by way of an Addendum issued in accordance with this Section.  At any 
time up until the Closing Date and Time, the City may issue an Addendum in order to amend, clarify, or 
answer questions to this RFP.   Each Addendum will be issued via the Bonfire Portal, at the same location 
and in the same manner as this RFP document.  Each Addendum will form an integral part of this RFP.  
Respondents are solely responsible for checking the Bonfire Portal for Addenda up until the Closing 
Date and Time.   If the City deems it necessary to issue an Addendum after the Last Day for Issue of 
Addenda, as detailed in Section 1.2 of this Part B, then the City may extend the Closing Date and Time 
in order to provide Respondents with more time to complete their Proposal. 

Proposals should confirm receipt of all Addenda in Appendix A – Certification Form, of their Proposal.   

6. Evaluation of Proposals & Award of Contract 

The City will conduct the evaluation of Proposals and selection of a successful Respondent in 
accordance with the process detailed in this Section.  Evaluation of Proposals will be by an evaluation 
committee which may include the City’s Procurement Manager and stakeholders, as well as key City 
employees.  The City’s intent is to enter into a Contract with the Respondent who has met all mandatory 
criteria and minimum scores, and who has the highest overall ranking based on this evaluation process. 

6.1 Mandatory Criteria 

Proposals not clearly demonstrating that they meet the following mandatory criteria will be excluded 
from further consideration in the evaluation process. 

Mandatory Criteria: 
1 The Proposal must be received by the Closing Date and Time, in 

accordance with the requirements of Section 1.4 
2 The Proposal must include the following completed form:  

• Appendix A – Certification Form 
 
6.2 Scored Criteria 

Proposals that meet all of the Mandatory Criteria will be further assessed against the following scored 
criteria.   

Scored Criteria Weighting 
Business Plan 
(based on Appendix B submission) 

25% 

Experience 
(based on Appendix C submission) 

30% 

Menu and Pricing 
(based on Appendix D submission) 

15% 

Financial Proposal 
(based on Appendix E submission) 

20% 

Business References 
(based on Appendix F submission) 

10% 

TOTAL 100% 
 

6.3 Scoring Method 

The following method will be used to score the scored criteria: 

-58-



202X-RFP-XX 
Operation of XXX Concession 

 All criterion will be scored by the evaluation committee out of 100, which will then be 
multiplied by the Weighting factor to provide a weighted score.   

6.4 Clarifications & Remedy Period 

Notwithstanding the requirements for mandatory criteria and scored criteria detailed in this Section 6, 
the City will allow the following remedies and clarifications at it sole discretion: 

 Remedy for missing Mandatory Criteria:  If the City finds that a Proposal fails to meet all 
of the mandatory requirements detailed in Section 6.1, then the City may provide 
written notification to a Respondent which identifies the requirements not met and 
provides the Respondent with 5 calendar days to remedy and supply the requirements.  
The 5 calendar days shall commence upon notification by the City to the Respondent.  
This option to remedy missing requirements shall not apply to Proposals not received 
by the Closing Date and Time. 

 
 Clarification of Proposals:  During evaluation of the scored criteria, the City may at its 

sole option, request further details or clarification from the Respondent and/or third 
parties, on aspects of a Proposal by way of a written request for clarification.  The written 
request shall clearly state the required clarification and time limit to supply the 
information requested.  Following receipt of the clarification information, the City may 
use this information to reassess and/or re-score the Proposal according to the scored 
criteria. 

6.5 Ranking of Respondents 

Following completion of the evaluation against the scored criteria, the weighted scores for each 
Proposal will be added together, and Proposals will be ranked according to their total weighted scores.  
The Respondent with the highest-ranked Proposal will be invited to conclude a Contract with the City.  
In the event that two or more Proposals have an equal total weighted-scored, then the Respondent with 
the Lowest Total Price will be invited to enter into a Contract with the City. 

6.6 Conclusion and Execution of a Contract 

Neither the City nor any Respondent will be legally bound to provide or purchase the Services until the 
execution of a written Contract.  Following an invitation to a Respondent, by the City, to conclude a 
Contract, it is expected that the City and that Respondent would enter into discussions which may 
include, among other things: 

 Clarification or amendment to the scope of work, plus any resulting price adjustments, 
based on items submitted in the Proposal. 

 

 Amendments to the terms and conditions of the Contract (Part C), based on items 
submitted in the Proposal. 

The City would seek to execute a Contract within 30 days of issuing an invitation to the Respondent to 
conclude a Contract.  If the City and Respondent do not, for any reason, execute a Contract within this 
time-period, the City may discontinue the process with that Respondent and invite the Respondent with 
the next-highest-ranked Proposal to conclude a Contract.  The City may then continue this process until 
a Contract is executed, or there are no further Respondents, or the City otherwise elects to cancel the 
RFP process entirely.  For clarity, the City may discontinue discussions with a Respondent if at any time 
the City is of the view that it will not be able to conclude a Contract with that Respondent. 

-59-



202X-RFP-XX 
Operation of XXX Concession 

7. Other Terms & Conditions of this RFP Process 

The following terms and conditions shall also apply to this RFP: 

7.1 Proposals in English 

All Proposals are to be in the English language only. 

7.2 Only One Entity as Respondent 

The City will accept Proposals where more than one organization or individual is proposed to deliver 
the Services, so long as the Proposal identifies only one entity that will be the lead entity and will be the 
Respondent with the sole responsibility to perform the Contract if executed.   The City will only enter 
into a Contract with that one Respondent.    

7.3 Proposals to Contain All Content in Prescribed Forms 

All information that Respondents wish to be evaluated must be contained within the submitted 
Proposal.  Proposals should not reference external content in other documents or websites.  The City 
may not consider any information which is not submitted within the Proposal or within the pre-
prescribed forms set-out in this RFP. 

7.4 References and Experience 

In evaluating a Respondent’s experience, as per the scored criteria, the City may consider information 
provided by the Respondent’s clients on the projects submitted in the Proposal, and may also consider 
the City’s own experience with the Respondent. 

7.5 RFP Scope of Work is an Estimate Only 

While the City has made every effort to ensure the accuracy of the Services described in this RFP, the 
City makes no guarantees as to the accuracy of the information provided.  Any quantities or 
measurements provided are estimates only and are provided to describe the general nature and scale 
of the Services.   Respondents must obtain all information they deem necessary, including verification 
of quantities or measurements in order to complete a Proposal. 

7.6 Respondent’s Expenses 

Respondents are solely responsible for their own expenses in participating in this RFP process, including 
costs in preparing a Proposal and for subsequent finalizations of an agreement with the City, if required.  
The City will not be liable to any Respondent for any claims, whether for costs, expenses, damages or 
losses incurred by the Respondent in preparing its Proposal, loss of anticipated profit in connection with 
any final Contract, or any matter whatsoever. 

7.7 Retention of Proposals and FOIPPA 

All Proposals submitted to the City will not be returned and will be retained in accordance with the 
Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act (“FOIPPA”).  Respondents should note that in 
accordance with the provisions of FOIPPA, certain details of this RFP and any executed Contract may be 
made public, including the Contractor’s Name and total Contract price.  Respondents should identify 
with their Proposal any information which is supplied in confidence, however, Respondents should be 
aware of and review the City’s obligations under FOIPPA and the City’s limited ability to refuse to 
disclose third party information pursuant to section 21 of FOIPPA. 

-60-



202X-RFP-XX 
Operation of XXX Concession 

7.8 Notification and Feedback to Unsuccessful Respondents 

At any time up until or after the execution of a written Contract with the Contractor, the City may notify 
unsuccessful Respondents in writing that they have not been selected to conclude a Contract.  
Unsuccessful Respondents may then request a feedback email or telephone call with the City’s 
Procurement Department in order to obtain feedback on how their Proposal faired in the evaluation.  
Such requests for feedback must be made within 30 days of notification of the RFP results to the 
unsuccessful Respondent.  Details of feedback provided will be at the City’s sole discretion in order to 
protect the confidentiality of other Respondents and the City’s commercial interest.   

7.9 Conflict of Interest 

All Respondents must disclose an actual or potential conflict of interest, as set-out in Appendix A – 
Certification Form.  The City may, at its sole discretion, disqualify any Respondent from this RFP process, 
if it determines that the Respondent’s conduct, situation, relationship (including relationships of the 
Respondent’s employees and City employees) create or could be perceived to create a conflict of 
interest. 

The City may rescind or terminate a Contract entered into if it subsequently determines that the 
Respondent failed to declare an actual or potential conflict of interest during this RFP process, as 
required under Appendix A – Certification Form. 

7.10 Confidentiality 

All information provided to Respondents by the City as part of this RFP process is the sole property of 
the City and must not be disclosed further without the written permission of the City. 

7.11 No Contract A and No Claims 

This RFP process is not intended to create and no contractual obligations whatsoever (including what 
is commonly referred to as ‘Contract A’) shall arise between the City and any Respondent upon the 
submission of a Proposal in response to this RFP.  For extra clarity, both the Respondent and the City are 
free to cancel their participation in this RFP process at any time up until the execution of a written 
Contract for the Services. 

Without limiting the above paragraph, no Respondent shall have any claim whatsoever against the City 
for any damage or other loss resulting from a Respondent’s participation in this RFP, including where 
the City does not comply with any aspect of this RFP and including any claim for loss of profits or 
Proposal preparation costs should the City not execute a Contract with the Respondent for any reason 
whatsoever. 

7.12 Right to Cancel RFP 

Although the City fully intends to conclude a Contract as a result of this RFP, the City may at its sole 
discretion, cancel or amend this RFP process at any time without any liability to any Respondent. 

7.13 Governing Law and Trade Agreements 

This RFP is governed by the laws of the Province of British Columbia and any other agreements which 
exist between the Province of British Columbia and other jurisdictions. 

 

-61-



RFP# 202 XXX 
Operation of XXX Concession 
 

 

Part C: The Contract (Licence to Use Agreement) 
 

 

This Part C details the Contract (Licence to Use Agreement) but not limited to, the terms 
and conditions that the City will enter into with the Contractor at the conclusion of the 
process outlined in Section 6.6 of Part B. 
 

The City and the successful Respondent shall enter into a Contract for the Services using the following 
terms and conditions: 

LICENSE TO USE AGREEMENT 
 

Nature of Agreement: License to Use File No.: 4320.70 

Particulars: Use of space located at XXX Street, Penticton and known as XXX 
Concession for the operation of a beach food concession.   

 

THIS AGREEMENT dated for reference _______ day of______________, 202XXX. 

BETWEEN: 

THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF PENTICTON 
a duly incorporated City Municipality under the laws of the 
Province of British Columbia, located at  
171 Main Street, in the City of Penticton,  
in the Province of British Columbia, V2A 5A9 
(hereinafter call the “City”) 

OF THE FIRST PART 
AND: 

[INSERT COMPANY NAME] 
[Insert Address] 
[Insert Address] 
(hereinafter called the “Licensee”) 

OF THE SECOND PART 
 

WHEREAS the City has agreed to grant a non-exclusive license to the Licensee to have access 
and use of the concession building shown outlined in red and described in the Schedule A 
attached hereto (hereinafter referred to as the “Licensed Area”); 

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the fee to be paid by, and the covenants of, the Licensee, 
the parties agree as follows: 

1. Grant of License 
 
The City, on the terms set forth herein, grants a license to the Licensee to enter on the Licensed 
Area to operate the concession located at XXX, Penticton, BC, known as XXX Concession for 
the purposes described in the Management Plan attached hereto as Schedule B (herein called 

-62-



RFP# 202 XXX 
Operation of XXX Concession 
 

 

the “Management Plan”) on an “as is” basis and the City makes no representations or warranties 
as to the suitability of the Licensed Area for the intended use. 
 
2. Duration 
 
2.1 This agreement and the rights granted shall be for a term of XXX years commencing on 

XXX (the “Commencement Date”) through to XXX, unless cancelled in accordance with 
the terms of this agreement.  
 

2.2 In a year prior to the expiry of this agreement, the City reserves the right to offer tenure 
over the Licensed Area through an open and competitive process.  The Licensee may 
participate in the competitive process. 
  

3. License Fee 
 
3.1 On the Commencement Date and annually thereafter, the Licensee shall pay to the City, 

the amount of XXX – XX/100 ($XXX) dollars plus GST (the “License Fee”).  
 

3.2 The License Fee may be paid in two equal installments.  First installment will be due on 
June 1st and second installment will be due on July 1st. 
 

3.3 On each and every anniversary of the Commencement Date thereafter during the term of 
this agreement, the License Fee shall be adjusted by an amount equivalent to the change 
in the Consumer Price Index for Province of British Columbia for the preceding year.   

 
4. Utilities 

 
The Licensee will be responsible for the costs of electricity and ensure the transfer of the utility 
account into their name for the terms of the contract. 
 
5. Damage Deposit 
 
A damage deposit of $500.00 must be paid prior to the start of the XXX season, and will be 
returned to the Licensee upon the expiry of this agreement, provided that there are no damages 
and/or outstanding amounts due by the Licensee.  

 
6. Covenants of the Licensee 
 
The Licensee covenants and agrees with the Lessor: 

(a) to pay the License Fee due at the address of the City first written or at such other 
place as the City may specify from time to time; 

 
(b) to observe, abide by and comply with all applicable laws, bylaws, orders, 

directions, ordinances and regulations of any competent governmental authority in 
any way affecting the Licensed Area and improvements situate thereon, or their 
use and occupation; 

 
(c) not to commit or suffer any willful or voluntary waste, spoil or destruction on the 

Licensed Area or do or suffer to be done thereon anything that may be or become 
a nuisance or annoyance to owners or occupiers of the property or the adjoining 
land; 

-63-



RFP# 202 XXX 
Operation of XXX Concession 
 

 

 
(d) to indemnify, save harmless, release and forever discharge the City, their elected 

and appointed officials and employees from and against all manners of actions, 
causes of actions, claims, debts, suits, damages demands and promises, at law or 
in equity, whether known or unknown, including without limitation for injury to 
persons or property including death, or any person directly or indirectly arising or 
resulting from, or attributable to, any act, omission, negligence or default of the 
Licensee in connection with or in a consequence of this agreement, save and 
except to the extent caused by any act, omission, negligence or default of the City, 
its elected and appointed officials and employees; 

 
(e) to keep the Licensed Area in a safe, clean, tidy and sanitary condition satisfactory 

to the City and to make clean, tidy and sanitary any portion of the Licensed Area 
or any improvement that the City may direct by notice in writing to the Licensee; 

 
(f) to at all times, maintain the City-owned equipment listed in Schedule C attached 

(herein called the “Equipment”) in good, clean working order such that the 
condition of the Equipment complies with all applicable BC Health and Safety Acts 
and Regulations, and advise the City promptly when repairs are necessary to any 
of the Equipment; 

 
(g) to use and occupy the Licensed Area in accordance with the provisions of this 

agreement including those provisions and requirements set forth in the 
Management Plan; 

 
(h) to permit the City, or its authorized representative, to enter upon the Licensed Area 

at any time, with 72 hours notice to the Licensee, to test, inspect or perform such 
other work as the City may deem necessary or desirable; 

 
(i) to provide to the City with prepared in-house income and expense statement of the 

concession operation at the end of each season; 
 

(j) that on the expiration or at the earlier cancellation of this agreement: 
 

(i) to peaceably quit and deliver possession of the Licensed Area to the City; 
 

(ii) to remove all fixtures, structures, machinery, apparatus and all other things 
placed on the Licensed Area by the Licensee, leaving the Licensed Area in 
a clean and clear condition within one hundred and eighty (180) days of the 
termination of this agreement and leave the Licensed Area in good repair, 
restoring the Licensed Area to a condition similar to that at the 
Commencement Date.  One hundred and eighty (180) days after the 
expiration or cancellation of this license, any improvements or fixtures that 
remain on the Licensed Area shall be absolutely forfeited and become the 
property of the City and the City, at their sole discretion, may remove any 
or all of the improvements or fixtures that were requested to be removed, 
but left by the Licensee, from the Licensed Area and the Licensee shall, on 
demand, compensate the City for all costs incurred by the City respecting 
their removal and disposal; 

 

-64-



RFP# 202 XXX 
Operation of XXX Concession 
 

 

(k) to the extent necessary, this covenant shall survive the expiration or cancellation 
of this agreement; 
 

(l) to effect and keep in force during the term, insurance against claims for personal 
injury, death, property damage or third party or public liability claims arising from 
any accident or occurrence on the Licensed Area to an amount not less than FIVE 
MILLION ($5,000,000.00) DOLLARS, and to name the City as an additional 
insured on the policy with the inclusion of the following clauses: 

 
“Cross Liability” clause: 
“The insurance afforded by the insurance policy shall apply in the 
same manner to all insureds, as though separate policies were 
issued to each insured in the event an action is brought against any 
of the named insured by or on behalf of any other named insured.” 

 
“Cancellation” clause:  
“It is understood and agreed that the coverage provided by this 
policy will not be changed or amended in any way or cancelled 
(prior to thirty (30) days after written notice of such change or 
cancellation shall have been given or sent by registered mail to all 
named insured).” 

 
and deliver to the City written confirmation of the required insurance coverage 
upon execution of this agreement. 
 

(m) the Licensee will provide the City with a new Certificate of Liability Insurance 
annually upon renewal; 

 
(n) notwithstanding subsection l) of Section 6, the City may from time to time notify the 

Licensee that the amount of insurance posted by the Licensee pursuant to that 
subsection be changed and the Licensee shall, within sixty (60) days or receiving 
such notice, cause the amount of insurance posted, pursuant to subsection l) of 
Section 6 to be changed to the amount specified in the notice and deliver to the 
City written confirmation of the change; 

 
(o) not to place any improvements on the Licensed Area other than those described 

elsewhere in this agreement, without prior written consent of the City; 
 

(p) not cause or permit any unusual or objectionable noises, or lights, to emanate from 
the License Area; 
 

(q) not cause or permit any unusual or objectionable odours which may be noxious or 
offensive or which could constitute a public or private nuisance;  

 
(r) not cause or permit any waste or damage; 
 
(s) not to conduct merchandising, display or advertising other than those typically 

associated with the operation of a concession on the Property without obtaining 
prior written permission from the City, which can be unreasonably withheld; 

 

-65-



RFP# 202 XXX 
Operation of XXX Concession 
 

 

(t) to observe and comply with any rules or regulations the City may make from time 
to time pertaining to the operation, reputation, safety, care or cleanliness of the 
Licensed Area and any use thereof as provided herein; 

 
(u) that if, as a consequence of any release of a Hazardous Substance resulting from 

the Licensees use of the Licensed Area in or on the Licensed Area by the Licensee 
or its servants, agents, or contractors or any person for whom the Licensee is in 
law responsible, any actions are required to be taken in order to comply with any 
Government Requirement applicable to the use, presence or removal of such 
Hazardous Substance on or from the Licensed Area (including any Governmental 
Requirement relating to testing for or identification of Hazardous Substances) and 
if the Licensee has received notice in writing of such Governmental Requirement 
from the relevant authority (whether the requirement is made of the City or 
Licensee), then the Licensee shall at its expense take such action as required by 
the Governmental Requirement (or alternatively such other action as may be 
acceptable to the relevant authority after discussing with the Licensee).  For the 
purposes of this paragraph: 

 
  Governmental Requirement(s) means all requirements made or 

imposed pursuant to law by federal, provincial, municipal or other 
governments including requirements of the Environmental Laws. 

 
  Hazardous Substances means any substances that are defined 

as or regulated as being waste, contaminants, pollutants, 
fungicides, insecticides, herbicides, dangerous substances, 
industrial waste, special waste, toxic substances, hazardous waste, 
hazardous material, or hazardous substance whether or not defined 
as such or pursuant to any law, regulation or order. 

 
  Environmental Laws means all applicable federal, provincial, 

municipal or local laws, statutes or ordinances, as they may be 
amended from time to time after the Commencement Date of the 
License relating to the environment, occupational safety and the 
transportation or regulations of Hazardous Substances. 

 
(v) that if, the Licensee fails to take any action required to be taken pursuant to any 

consequence of any release of a Hazardous Substance the City may (but not be 
obligated to) take such action after giving thirty (30) days written notice to the 
Licensee of its intention to do so, unless within such thirty (30) day period that 
Licensee has taken the required action or has commenced in and is continuing 
diligently to carry out such action, and the City shall for that purpose, be permitted 
to enter the Licensed Area with the appropriate equipment.  The Licensee 
covenants to reimburse the City for all reasonable costs incurred by the City in 
taking such required action pursuant to the release of any Hazardous Substance 
within thirty (30) days after receiving from the City an invoice and reasonable 
supporting details relating to such costs. 

 
(w) that at all times during the term and at its own expense procure and carry, or cause 

to be procured and carried and paid for, full workers' compensation coverage in 
respect of all workmen, employees, servants, and others engaged in or upon any 
work, non-payment of which would create a lien on the Licensed Area. 

-66-



RFP# 202 XXX 
Operation of XXX Concession 
 

 

 
7. Non-Exclusivity 

 
7.1 The Licensee acknowledges and agrees that the license herein shall not entitle the 

Licensee to exclusive possession of the Licensed Area. 
 
7.2 The Licensee covenants and agrees not to interfere with the activities of any other person 

to enter on and use the Licensed Area under any prior or subsequent license granted by 
the City. 

 
7.3 The parties hereto acknowledge that the license granted to the Licensee herein is a 

license only and shall not, under any circumstances, constitute a partnership, lease or 
joint venture between the parties. 

 
8. Assignment 
 
The Licensee shall not assign this license without the prior written consent of the City. 

 
9. Cancellation 

 
9.1 In the event that: 
 

a) the City requires the Licensed Area for its own use or in its sole discretion, 
considers that it is in the public interest to cancel the rights herein granted, in whole 
or in part, 

 
b) the Licensee ceases to use the Licensed Area for the purposes permitted herein; 

or  
 
c) the City, in its sole discretion, considers that it is no longer necessary for the 

Licensee to use the Licensed Area for the purposes permitted herein, 
 
the City may on one hundred and eighty (180) days written notice to the Licensee, cancel 
this license and the rights herein granted, in whole or in part and the Licensee agrees that 
the City shall not be responsible for payment of any costs, compensation, reimbursement 
or any monies whatsoever as a result of a notice pursuant to paragraph 9.1 a), b) or c) 
except repayment of the prorated portion of any prepaid License Fee if notice is pursuant 
to paragraph 9.1 a) or c).  

 
9.2 If the Licensee is in default in the observance of any covenant, agreements, provisions or 

conditions contained herein and such failure continues for a period of thirty (30) days after 
the giving of written notice by the City to the Licensee of the nature of the failure the City 
may cancel this License without prejudice to any rights to which the City has accrued 
under this License before the said cancellation. 

 
9.3 Thirty (30) days after expiration or cancellation of this license, any improvements or 

fixtures that remain unremoved from the Licensed Area, shall be absolutely forfeited and 
become the property of the City and the City may remove them from the Licensed Area 
and the Licensee shall, on demand, compensate the City for all costs incurred by the City 
respecting their removal. 

 

-67-



RFP# 202 XXX 
Operation of XXX Concession 
 

 

10. General 
 

10.1 The terms and provisions of this agreement shall extend to, be binding upon and enure to 
the benefit of the parties, hereto and their successors and permitted assigns. 

 
10.2 This agreement and all the terms and conditions of it may be inspected by the public at 

such times and at such places as the City may determine. 
 

10.3 Time is of the essence in this agreement. 
 
10.4 The records of the City shall be conclusive evidence of the contents of any schedule 

referred to in this agreement. 
 
10.5 In this agreement, unless the context otherwise requires, the singular includes the plural 

and the masculine includes the feminine gender and a corporation. 
 
10.6 Where in this agreement there is a reference to Bylaws, that reference shall include a 

reference to any subsequent enactment of like effect, and unless the context otherwise 
requires all Bylaws referred to herein are enactments of the City of Penticton. 

 
10.7 Any waiver or acquiescence by the City of or in any breach by the Licensee of any 

covenant or condition shall not be deemed to be a waiver of the covenant or condition of 
any subsequent or other breach of any covenant or condition of this agreement. 

 
10.8 If the Licensee continues to exercise the license granted after the expiration of the term of 

it without objection by the City and without any written agreement providing otherwise, the 
Licensee shall be deemed to be a Licensee from month to month, and subject to the 
provisions of this agreement insofar as applicable, but it shall be lawful for the City to 
cancel and determine the License granted by delivering to the Licensee notice to that 
effect, and upon delivery of such notice this license shall cease without prejudice to any 
rights of the City under this license accrued before the cancellation. 

 
11. Notice 

 
Any notice required to be given hereunder by the Licensee shall be in accordance with the 
provisions of the Local Government Act of British Columbia and if by the City to the Licensee 
any notice hereunder shall be deemed to have been well and sufficiently given if mailed, by 
prepaid registered mail, emailed, faxed or delivered to the Licensee at: 
 

To the City: 
 

171 Main Street 
Penticton, BC V2A 5A9 
Attn: Corporate Officer 
email: corpadmin@penticton.ca 

 
To the Licensee: 

 
[Insert Name] 
[Insert Address] 
[Insert Email] 

-68-

mailto:corpadmin@penticton.ca


RFP# 202 XXX 
Operation of XXX Concession 
 

 

 
or such other address as the Licensee may from time to time direct in writing, and any such notice 
by the City to the Licensee shall be deemed to have been received, if mailed, five (5) days after 
the time of mailing, or if faxed or emailed, seventy-two (72) hours after the time of faxing or 
emailed and if delivered upon the date of delivery.  If normal mail service, fax or email service is 
interrupted by strike, slow down, force majeure or other cause, a notice sent by the impaired 
means of communication will not be deemed to have been received until actually received, and 
the City may utilize any such services which have not been so interrupted. 

 
12. Payment of City’s Expenses 
 
If at any time an action is brought or the City is otherwise required to employ the services of a 
bailiff, an agent, or its solicitors because of a breach by an act or omission of any covenant herein 
contained on the part of the Licensee, the Licensee shall pay to the City all expenses incurred by 
the City in the enforcement of its rights and remedies hereunder (including the City’s 
administrative costs and legal fees on a solicitor and his own client basis in connection therewith) 
together with interest thereon at the rate equivalent to the prime rate of the Bank of Montreal plus 
three percent (3%) per annum calculated monthly not in advance from the date due until paid.  
For the purposes of this paragraph the prime rate shall mean the annual percentage rate 
of interest established from time to time by the Bank of Montreal, Main Branch, 
Vancouver, British Columbia as the base rate that will be used to determine rates of 
interest charged by it for Canadian Dollar loans to customers in Canada and designated 
by the Bank of Montreal as the prime rate. 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF the parties hereto have hereunto executed this agreement on the 
following page as of the date and year first above written. 
 
The Corporation of the City of Penticton 
by its authorized signatories: 
 
       
XXX 
 
       
XXX 
  
[INSERT COMPANY NAME] 
by its authorized signatory(ies): 
 
__________________________________ 
[Insert name] 
 
__________________________________ 
[Insert name] 
OR if individual – delete one or the other 
 
SIGNED in the presence of  } 
 } 
____________________________________ } 

 
 
 

-69-



RFP# 202 XXX 
Operation of XXX Concession 
 

 

Witness as to all signatures } 
 } 
_________________________________ } 
Print Name } 
 } 
_________________________________ } 
Address } 

_____________________________________ 
[Print Name] 
 
 
_____________________________________ 
[Print Name] 
 

 

-70-



RFP# 202 XXX 
Operation of XXX Concession 
 

 

SCHEDULE A 
 

LICENSED AREA 
 

 
That portion of XXX Street, Penticton, B.C. and known as XXX Concession for the operation of a 
beach food concession.  Shown below outlined in red.   
 

 
 
 

  

-71-



RFP# 202 XXX 
Operation of XXX Concession 
 

 

SCHEDULE B 
 

Management Plan 
 
1. PURPOSE 
 
The Licensee shall have the license to operate the concession located in the Licensed Area 
shown outlined on the aerial photo in Schedule A for the purpose of operating a concession as 
described in 2.2 below.   
 
2. SPECIAL PROVISIONS 

 
2.1 The Licensee shall not carry out or make any structural alteration, renovations, additions 

or improvements without the expressed written permission of the City and any alterations, 
renovations, addictions or improvements so approved, shall be at the sole expense of the 
Licensee. 

 
2.2 The Licensee shall use the Licensed Area and all improvements thereon solely for the 

operation of a food concession and tourist items branded to the concession operator.  At 
a minimum the Licensee shall operate and be open to the public seven (7) days a week 
during the hours of 10:00 a.m. to 7:00 p.m. commencing on May 1st until September 30th 
in each year of the term subject to weather conditions being reasonable to carry on the 
aforesaid use or at such other times as the parties may mutually agree in writing.  At the 
discretion of the Licensee, the concession is permitted to remain open until 10:00 pm each 
night.   
 

3. FACILITIES 
 
3.1 Purpose 
  
The purpose of this section is to assure that all facilities are maintained to a level that is expected 
for the operation of a first class-facility. 

 
The concession area includes the entire area accessible from within the concession’s north outer 
door and the exterior walls and doors containing the concession area.  The license does not 
include the public washrooms in the building.   
    
3.2 General Maintenance 

 
a) As necessary, repair finish to maintain aesthetics 
b) Dusting (high/low) shall be carried out on a weekly basis 
c) Repairs shall be carried out as necessary to maintain the integrity of all surfaces 

with spot painting as required 
d) Cement Flooring - daily sweep and wet mop 
e) Control all spills using absorbent material 
f) Semi-Annual - Pressure wash all surfaces 
g) Repaint flooring every two years following standard industry practices and 

guidelines 
h) All repairs shall be carried out immediately by the Licensee 

 

-72-



RFP# 202 XXX 
Operation of XXX Concession 
 

 

At the end of each season, the building should be left broom clean, with the fridges properly 
cleaned, emptied and unplugged with doors open for the winter.    
 
3.3 Vandalism 
 
All incidents of vandalism shall be repaired within 48 hours of occurrence.  The Licensee is 
responsible for removal of graffiti from the Licensed Area to the concession and the access doors.  
The City will be responsible for all maintenance including graffiti removal of the remaining portion 
of the building to the east.    
 
3.4 Minor Repairs 
 
The Licensee shall be responsible for all minor repairs, where specified "Minor Repairs" shall be 
deemed to be for costs of up to $200 per incident.  The City will be responsible for maintenance 
and repair of roof, HVAC, non-equipment related electrical and repair of individual repairs in 
excess of the minor repairs amount.  If any of the existing City owned equipment needs to be 
replaced the City will replace such equipment in a timely manner. 

 
4. FIRE/SAFETY 
 
The purpose of this section is to assure that the Licensed Area is maintained and operated in a 
safe manner. 
 
4.1 Fire Safety/Protection 
 
The Licensee shall develop, post, follow procedures and forward the following copies to the City 
and Penticton Fire Department: 

 
a)  Fire Safety/Evacuation  
b)  W.H.M.I.S. 
c)  Accident/Incident Reporting  
d)  Safety Program (WCB) 
e)  Food Handling (Ministry of Health) 

 
The Licensee shall ensure that all staff receive proper instruction in the use and operation of fire 
safety equipment. 

 
The Licensee shall ensure that all staff receive proper instruction in emergency procedures and 
all policies listed above. 

 
4.2 Fire Extinguishers/ Exhaust Systems 

 
The Licensee shall maintain a log of location, type and size of all fire extinguishers. 

 
The Licensee shall, semi-annually (May/July), inspect and log the condition of all extinguishers 
and advise the City of any issues with fire extinguishers. 
 
The City shall annually, carry out a cleaning of the exhaust system, and inspection and servicing 
of the fire suppression system as required by the Fire Marshall. 
 
  

-73-



RFP# 202 XXX 
Operation of XXX Concession 
 

 

4.3 Accidents/Incidents 
 
All accidents or incidents shall be reported to the City within 48 hours of occurrence.  

 
A representative of the City and the Licensee will investigate all occurrences.  
 
The City will ensure that the following are completed on an as scheduled annual basis: 

 
• Service Hood exhaust 
• Service Fire extinguisher 
• Service HVAC equipment 
 

 

 

  

-74-



RFP# 202 XXX 
Operation of XXX Concession 
 

 

SCHEDULE C 

EQUIPMENT LIST 

 

CONCESSION INVENTORY AS OF XXX, 202X 

 

 

 

  

-75-



RFP# 202 XXX 
Operation of XXX Concession 
 

 

Part D:   Submission Instructions and Forms 

 

This Part D contains forms detailing the information that should be included in a Proposal, 
as detailed under Section 6 of Part B.   

Part D Contents 

This Part D contains the submission process and the following forms: 

 Appendix A – Certification Form 
 Appendix B – Business Plan 
 Appendix C – Experience 
 Appendix D – Menu and Pricing 
 Appendix E – Financial Proposal 
 Appendix F – Business References 

SUBMISSION OF PROPOSALS 

Please follow these instructions to view all files and submit via our Public Portal. 

Log in to Bonfire or register your company on the portal.  Please note that the email address you register 
with will be the email address all notifications will be sent to. 

https://penticton.bonfirehub.ca/portal  

Prepare your submission materials: 

Requested Information: 

Name Type Requirement 
Appendix A – Certification Form File Type: PDF (.pdf) Required 
Appendix B - Business Plan File Type: PDF (.pdf) Required 
Appendix C –Experience  File Type: PDF (.pdf) Required 
Appendix D –Menu and Pricing File Type: PDF (.pdf) Required 
Appendix E–Financial Proposal File Type: PDF (.pdf) Required 
Appendix F – Business References File Type: PDF (.pdf) Required 

  
Requested Documents: 

Please note the type and number of files allowed.  The maximum upload file size is 100MB. 

Please do not embed any documents within your loaded files, as they will not be assessable or 
evaluated.   

UPLOAD YOUR SUBMISSION AT: 

https://penticton.bonfirehub.ca/portal  

Your submission must be uploaded, submitted and finalized prior to the Closing Time.  We strongly 
recommend that you give yourself sufficient time and at least ONE (1) day before Closing Time to begin 
the uploading process and to finalize your submission. 

  

-76-

https://penticton.bonfirehub.ca/portal
https://penticton.bonfirehub.ca/portal


RFP# 202 XXX 
Operation of XXX Concession 
 

 

Important Notes: 

Each item of Requested Information will only be visible to the City after the Closing Time. 

Uploading large documents may take significant time, depending on the size of the file(s) and your 
internet connection speed. 

You will receive an email confirmation receipt with a unique confirmation number once you finalize 
your submission.  

Minimum system requirements:  Internet Explorer 8/9/10+, Google Chrome, or Mozilla Firefox.  
Javascript must be enabled.  Browser cookies must be enabled. 

NEED HELP? 

City of Penticton uses a Bonfire portal for accepting and evaluating proposal digitally.  Please contact 
Bonfire at Support@GoBonfire.Com for technical questions related to your submission.  You can also 
visit their help forum at https://bonfirehub.zendesk.com/hc 

Amendments of Quotations 

Respondents may amend their quotations prior to the Closing Time by submitting the amendment in 
the same manner as the original quotation.  Amendments must be marked with the RFQ title and 
number and the full legal name and return address of the respondent and must clearly indicate which 
part of the quotation the amendment is intended to amend or replace. 

Withdrawal of Quotations 

At any time throughout the RFQ process until the execution of a written agreement for provision of the 
deliverables, a respondent may withdraw a submitted quotation.  To withdraw a quotation, a notice of 
withdrawal must be sent to the RFQ Contact and must be signed by an authorized representative of the 
respondent.  The City is under no obligation to return withdrawn quotations.   

 

 

 

-77-

mailto:Support@GoBonfire.Com
https://bonfirehub.zendesk.com/hc


RFP# 202 XXX 
Operation of XXX Concession 
 

 

APPENDIX A – CERTIFICATION FORM 
 

 

Respondents must complete all details requested in this Appendix A – Certification Form 
and include this completed form in the Proposal, as detailed under Section 6.1 (Mandatory 
Criteria) of Part B.   No changes to this form must be made, except for completing the 
requested information in the spaces provided. 
 

 
1. Respondent Details 
 

Full Legal Name of 
Respondent: 

 

Other “DBA” Names the 
Respondent Uses: 

 

Registered Address:  

Respondent Contact Person 
Name & Title: 

 

Contact Person Phone No.:  

Contact Person Email:  

2. Certification & Acknowledgement of RFP Process: 

By signing this Appendix A – Certification Form, we the Respondent, certify and acknowledge the 
following: 

a. We have carefully read and examined this RFP document, including all Parts and 
Appendices, and have conducted such other investigations as were prudent and 
reasonable in preparing this Proposal.  We are able to provide the Services detailed in 
Part A for the pricing submitted in this Proposal. 

b. We certify that the statements made in this Proposal are true and submitted in good 
faith. 

c. We acknowledge and understand that the RFP process and the submission of this 
Proposal do not give rise to any contractual obligations whatsoever (including what is 
commonly referred to as ‘Contract A’) between the City and us, the Respondent, and 
that no contractual obligations shall arise between the City and us, the Respondent, 
until and unless we execute a written Contract with the City. 

d. We certify that in relation to this RFP process, we have not engaged in any conduct 
which would constitute a conflict of interest and we understand that a conflict of 
interest would include the following situations: 
i. The Respondent has an unfair advantage or engages in conduct which may give 

it an unfair advantage; 
ii. The Respondent has had access to confidential information of the City which is 

not available to other Respondents to this RFP. 

-78-



RFP# 202 XXX 
Operation of XXX Concession 
 

 

iii. The Respondent has influence over an employee of the City who is a decision-
maker involved in this RFP process, which could reasonably be perceived as 
giving the Respondent an unfair advantage or preferential treatment. 

3. Confirmation of Addenda Received 

We confirm receipt of the following addenda that were issued by the City up until the Closing Date and 
Time:    

Addendum # Issued On Date: 
  
  
  

4. Certification Signature 

The Respondent hereby certifies that the above statements are true and that the individual signing 
below has the authority to bind the Respondent: 

 
__________________________________ 
Signature of Respondent Representative 
 
__________________________________ 
Name of Respondent Representative 
 
__________________________________ 
Title of Respondent Representative 
 
      
Date 
 

 

 

 

 

-79-



RFP# 202 XXX 
Operation of XXX Concession 
 

 

APPENDIX B – BUSINESS PLAN FORM 

 

Proposals must include the details requested in this Appendix B – Business Plan, as detailed 
under Section 6.2 (Scored Criteria) of Part B. 

 
Provide a business plan, including but not limited to, the following information: 
• Short corporate background, history, overview and experience of the Company 
• Product portfolio available present and future products 
• Details on how the Proponent will manage the kitchen/concession 
• Demonstrate ability to deliver on Financial Proposal  
• Sufficient Start up financing 
• Operating hours 

 
  

-80-



RFP# 202 XXX 
Operation of XXX Concession 
 

 

APPENDIX C – EXPERIENCE FORM 
 

 

Proposals must include the details requested in this Appendix C – Experience, as detailed 
under Section 6.2 (Scored Criteria) of Part B.    

 

1. Experience 

Please provide details of company history and financial well-being, history of past performance dealing 
with Interior Health, Fire Department and City of Penticton (i.e. business licence) to deliver the Services 
outlined in Part A.  

 

  

-81-



RFP# 202 XXX 
Operation of XXX Concession 
 

 

APPENDIX D – MENU AND PRICING FORM 

 

Proposals must include the details requested in this Appendix D – Menu and Pricing, as 
detailed under Section 6.2 (Scored Criteria) of Part B.    

1. Menu and Pricing 

Please provide details of a proposed menu, variety and competitive prices to deliver the Services 
outlined in Part A.  
 
  

-82-



RFP# 202 XXX 
Operation of XXX Concession 
 

 

APPENDIX E – FINANCIAL PROPOSAL FORM 
 

 

Proposals must include the details requested in this Appendix E – Financial Proposal, as 
detailed under Section 6.2 (Scored Criteria) of Part B.    

 

1. Financial Proposal 

Please provide details of proposed License to Use Fee Structure providing the best value for the City, 
and an illustrative sample of the type of report to be provided showing sales to deliver the Services 
outlined in Part A.  

 

 
 
  

-83-



RFP# 202 XXX 
Operation of XXX Concession 
 

 

APPENDIX F – REFERENCES FORM 
 

 

Proposals must include the details requested in this Appendix F – References Form, as 
detailed under Section 6.2 (Scored Criteria) of Part B.   Respondents should provide details 
on 3 business references over the past 3 years which are of a similar nature and scope to the 
Services.  Respondents should note that the City may the references listed (including 
amending scoring in the evaluation based on the client’s feedback).   

 
Company Name: 

Contact Person: 

Contact Person’s Title: 

Telephone No. (including area code): 

Contact Email Address: 

 

Company Name: 

Contact Person: 

Contact Person’s Title: 

Telephone No. (including area code): 

Contact Email Address: 

 

Company Name: 

Contact Person: 

Contact Person’s Title: 

Telephone No. (including area code): 

Contact Email Address: 

 
 

-84-



 

 
Council Report 

 

   

 

 

Date: February 15, 2022        File No: 5080-01 
To: Donny van Dyk, Chief Administrative Officer 
From: Adam Goodwin, Social Development Specialist; and Jamie Lloyd-Smith, Community Mobilizer  
 
Subject: Youth-Led Youth Homelessness Research Report 

 

Staff Recommendation 

THAT Council endorse the report “No Where to Go: A report from the Youth Homelessness Research Project” 
as presented in Attachment A; 

AND THAT Council direct staff to work with local youth to send a copy of the research report to relevant 
Federal and Provincial Agencies and Ministries; 

AND THAT Council direct staff to work collaboratively with youth and community partners on implementing 
the 10 recommendations of the report.  

Strategic priority objective 

Community Safety: The City of Penticton will support a safe, secure and healthy community. 

Background 

No where to go: A report from the youth homelessness research project is based on 
the stories and experiences of over 260 young people who completed surveys and five 
interviews with youth. All the surveys and interviews were facilitated by youth. As the 
youth-led report states, “there were clear messages […] things can not continue the 
way they are” (p. 27).  

Based on conversations with community partners, direction from the Official Community Plan, the priorities 
Council identified when Social Development was formed (age friendliness, housing and homelessness, and 
mental health and substance use), and a desire by community groups to start focusing on preventing/early 
interventions around adult homelessness, the City of Penticton applied for a grant from the Social Planning 
and Research Council of BC (SPARC BC) in 2020 to address youth homelessness in Penticton.  

The grant application focused on a project that would help the social sector and community better 
understand young people experiencing homelessness. The City played a convening and (project) 
coordinating role with the project. It acted as the body that brought partners together to work on the 

-85-



 
Council Report  Page 2 of 4 

initiative, applied for the funding, and administered the project. Partners on the project include the City, 
Penticton Indian Band, not-for-profit organizations, the school district, and Interior Health Authority who 
have been working with WRH Consulting to engage young people in surveys and interviews.  

Council last had an update on the project during the Regular Meeting on December 8, 2020 (Council 
Resolution 462/2020). The December 2020 report was a request from the project working group to have 
Council support the group in asking School District 67 about electronically distributing the questionnaires to 
young people in local schools. Since this last update, the project group has engaged over 260 young people, 
a number of service providers and Provincial agencies/ministries, and several programs that work specifically 
with youth. Based on the results of the engagement sessions, a report outlining the research findings and 
recommendations about next steps has been developed (see Attachment A).   

Report Synopsis 

Containing many anecdotes and personal stories of lived experience, as well as survey and other data, the 
No Where Home report outlines the unique challenges of youth faced with homelessness in Penticton. The 
report outlines the methodology for its creation, partners involved and includes 10 recommendations / 
objectives for improvement, including:  

1. Meaningfully engaging youth voice (decision making, development of solutions) 
2. Creating and maintaining a strong, community leadership structure 
3. Implementing effective prevention strategies 
4. Creating a continuum of housing options for youth 
5. Increasing intra-partner collaboration 
6. Educating and enhancing awareness 
7. Implementing evidence-based and trauma informed practices 
8. Increasing access to a range of services and supports 
9. Increasing support for families with at-risk youth  
10. Using data and evaluation to inform our decisions 

Financial implication 

This research was funded by an external grant. If there are cost implications with recommendations from the 
project, appropriate funding sources will be pursued by the working group.  

Analysis 

There was a clear consensus among young people who participated in the questionnaire and interviews, 
and service providers/community partners: 

• There is nowhere to go: There are very limited options available in Penticton for youth experiencing 
homelessness; 

• There is no time to wait: Young people can no longer wait for agencies/ministries to change to help 
prevent homelessness or provide earlier interventions; and 

• Things cannot continue the same: The research report identified some specific and tangible 
recommendations to help the community work together to advocate to federal and provincial 

-86-



 
Council Report  Page 3 of 4 

governments, opportunities at the local level for stronger coordination, and for youth to be more 
engaged in this work.  

For these reasons, community partners have committed to work collectively to make an impact on some of 
the next steps recommended in the research report.  

Next steps 

The research report identifies that federal and provincial governments have responsibility to ensure that 
youth homelessness is prevented, or if a youth does experience it, there are early interventions to try to 
decrease the duration of time the youth is experiencing homelessness. However, it also identified that the 
local community can play roles that support the well-being of more vulnerable young people. This local 
response, based on consultation with young people and service providers, identifies roles and 
recommendations for the City, not-for-profit organizations, the school districts, local health authority and 
other provincial staff/agencies in the region, and other community groups. 

During the project, it was made clear by young people that they do not just access a single government 
agency/department, not-for-profit service provider, or other organizations; they touch an array of groups 
and organizations. As such, the project working group identified that using a common agenda to 
collaborate with young people on youth homelessness would be the necessary approach in moving forward 
(referred to as collective impact in the field). While there are many other recommendations in the report (see 
Attachment A), the community has identified ones where there is already a readiness to implement the 
recommendations fairly quickly and easily within existing resources. As such, the next steps of working with 
young people on the research findings will include the ones identified below: 

• Sending the final and endorsed report to applicable federal and provincial ministers, ministries, and 
staff. The City can take an advocacy role for this step by helping coordinate a collective local 
submission to these federal and provincial government entities.  

• Continuing the working group in conjunction with 100 More Homes that was used during the 
development of the research report to provide a collective impact approach and community 
leadership on implementing the recommendations. The City can take a community building role for 
this step by ensuring that the current youth homelessness project working group transitions to this 
new, permanent structure with 100 More Homes.  

• Collective impact training for those working in this and associated fields to ensure the most 
contemporary and relevant community collaboration tools are used in this work. The City can take a 
coordination role with this step by helping identify resources and planning the logistics for this type 
of training that is applicable to many groups and organizations in the community.  

• Refining the community’s understanding of what services are available in the community in 
partnership with HelpSeeker, an organization that City is partnering with to assist in system 
mapping, gap analysis and client navigation to services. The City can take a coordination role with 
this step by helping community partners find resources for the partnership, administer the contract 
with HelpSeeker, and provide project management assistance to 100 More Homes with this body of 
work. Any components of this work involving the City will be done by the grant-funded Community 
Mobilizer role in the Social Development department.  

• Establishing a supports coordination table of community partners to use a whatever it takes-type 
attitude to begin coordinating any available services for youth while other services are able to start. 

-87-



 
Council Report  Page 4 of 4 

The City can take a coordination role with this step by helping get the table convened and 
supporting its early development. 

• And most importantly, meaningfully engage youth in decisions, development of solutions, and next 
steps.  

Based on this project’s alignment with Policies 4.1.2.1, 4.1.2.3, and 4.1.2.5 of the Official Community Plan, the 
priorities Council identified when Social Development was formed (age friendliness, housing and 
homelessness, and mental health and substance use), a desire by community groups to start focusing on 
preventing/early interventions around adult homelessness, and data from the youth who participated in the 
project, staff are recommending that Penticton City Council endorse No where to go: A report from the 
youth homelessness research project and have staff work with community partners to ensure that relevant 
federal and provincial government agencies and ministries received a copy of the report.  

Alternate recommendations 

THAT Council direct staff to bring back additional information.  

Attachments 
 
Attachment A – No Where to Go:  A report from the Youth Homelessness Research Project 
 
Respectfully submitted, 

 

Adam Goodwin Jamie Lloyd-Smith 
Social Development Specialist  Community Mobilizer  
 

Concurrence  

Director, Development 
Services 

Chief Administrative 
Officer 

BL 
 

DvD 
 

 

-88-



  

-89-



 

P
ag

e1
 

Contents 
“Things could have looked very different….” .......................................................................................................... 3 

Chapter 1: Background to the Project ..................................................................................................................... 4 

Project Intention ................................................................................................................................................. 4 

Project Methodology .......................................................................................................................................... 4 

Key Steps in the Process .................................................................................................................................. 4 

Ensuring Youth Voice ...................................................................................................................................... 5 

Stories and Numbers ....................................................................................................................................... 5 

The Impact of COVID ....................................................................................................................................... 6 

Survey of Youth ............................................................................................................................................... 6 

Project Reference Group ................................................................................................................................. 7 

“I did things I didn’t want to have to do to have somewhere to sleep…” ...................................................... 8 

Chapter 2: Community Consultations ..................................................................................................................... 9 

Conversations with Service Providers ................................................................................................................. 9 

Resources for Youth Who are At Risk or Homeless ............................................................................................ 9 

Shelter and Emergency Beds ............................................................................................................................. 10 

What are the numbers? .................................................................................................................................... 10 

Point in Time Count ........................................................................................................................................... 11 

History of Trauma.............................................................................................................................................. 13 

Unsafe Home Situations .................................................................................................................................... 13 

Unmet Needs .................................................................................................................................................... 13 

Negative Experiences with Government Ministries .......................................................................................... 13 

Additional Barriers ............................................................................................................................................ 14 

“It’s not the Hilton, but it feels safe…” ............................................................................................................. 15 

Chapter 3: What the Survey Revealed About Youth in Penticton ........................................................................ 16 

Profile of Youth ................................................................................................................................................. 16 

Living Circumstances of Youth .......................................................................................................................... 18 

Housing History of Youth .................................................................................................................................. 20 

Supports Available to Youth .............................................................................................................................. 21 

Youth Perspective on Homelessness in Penticton ............................................................................................ 22 

Youth that are Homeless/Precariously Housed ................................................................................................ 23 

Discussion .......................................................................................................................................................... 24 

Limitations ......................................................................................................................................................... 24 

“I didn’t know how to find someone to help me…” .......................................................................................... 25 

-90-



 

P
ag

e2
 

Chapter 4: Conclusion and Recommendations ..................................................................................................... 26 

Conclusion ......................................................................................................................................................... 26 

Steps Forward ................................................................................................................................................... 26 

“It’s a do or die situation…” .............................................................................................................................. 29 

Appendices ............................................................................................................................................................ 30 

Appendix A ........................................................................................................................................................ 30 

Appendix B ........................................................................................................................................................ 35 

Appendix C ........................................................................................................................................................ 36 

Appendix D ........................................................................................................................................................ 37 

Appendix E ........................................................................................................................................................ 38 

 

 

  

-91-



 

P
ag

e3
 

“Things could have looked very different….” 
 

In his very early 20’s, this young man has already walked a harder path than most. He is currently living on his 

own with the support of an Agreement with Young Adults, a funding option provided by MCFD. “I live alone and 

feel safe where I am now.” 

  

His housing insecurity began in 2016 when his dad passed away due to an overdose. He was very close to his 

father and was living with him at the time of his death.  After the trauma and tragedy of his father’s passing, he 

moved in with his aunt to avoid going into foster care. Describing that awful time, he said, “My father’s death 

killed my ambition.  I played hockey…, somehow, I kept going to games, no matter what. In a way, hockey 

helped me keep on.”  

 

Luckily, he has had the benefit of family support.  “My family jumped through every hoop imaginable to get me 

on a youth agreement.” Eventually successful in getting this financial support, it has made a huge difference for 

him. However, he told us “had I not had family to rely on, things would have been very different for me. Finding 

support was very difficult…the government has made it harder than it should be to access financial aid.”  He is 

clear that without the family support he has had, “my story would have turned out much differently.” 

  

Also instrumental to his survival, was the support he received from a caring teacher, his school principal, and a 

youth worker.  He has accessed Foundry for medical care and some counselling and found those resources 

helpful as well.  Grief has been a difficult and ongoing challenge to manage – he dips in and out of attending 

counselling appointments depending on his energy. 

 

After graduation, he enrolled in college courses but learned he “wasn’t ready to manage the demand and 

dropped out”. He moved to Kelowna for a change of scenery…”everything in Penticton made me sad”.  The time 

in Kelowna was brief. Returning to Penticton, he lived with his aunt for a while before moving into a shared 

house with four friends. As of March 2020, he has his own place.  As part of his current financial support from 

MCFD, he is learning about money management and budgeting.  

  

When asked what he needed throughout this time that would have helped, he told us he could have used food. 

“There were times I was really hungry, but my pride prevented me from asking for help.” He has also struggled 

to find work, necessary to supplement his income, and during the pandemic has been laid off 3 times. Balancing 

school, work, and life have been difficult – securing affordable, safe housing is an enormous problem.  “Housing 

is unaffordable.  If I was not on this agreement, I would not be where I am now. And having a supportive 

team….it has really helped.” 

  

-92-



 

P
ag

e4
 

Chapter 1: Background to the Project 

Project Intention 
 

The City of Penticton applied for and was successful in receiving a grant from the Social Planning and 
Research Council of BC (SPARC) in early 2020.  The grant provided financial assistance to support the 
development of a community-led youth homelessness assessment and strategy to mitigate, and ultimately work 
to eliminate youth homelessness in the City of Penticton.  A contract to provide project leadership was awarded 
to WRH Consulting, a local company with extensive experience in youth serving organizations, community 
development, and the BC social services sector. 
 
The project defined four primary deliverables: 
  

• Completing community consultations to assess the size of the challenge, ensuring that the voices of youth 
are privileged,  

• Convening the collaborative input of a collective of community service providers, 

• Development of a draft implementation strategy for review, analysis, and endorsation by project partners, 
and, 

• Completion and submission of a final report.  
 
These deliverables were also intended to enhance local understanding of the issues precipitating youth 
homelessness, establish a baseline of numbers of at-risk and homeless youth, assess existing community capacity 
to respond, and support planning and decision-making with respect to the implementation of solutions and future, 
strategic investments of resources. 
 

Project Methodology 
 
Beyond recruiting baseline data on the numbers of at-risk and homeless youth in Penticton between the ages of 
12 and 24, the project was designed to also privilege youth voice and promote youth leadership.  Also key to the 
project intent was stimulating momentum on the topic among community stakeholders.  

 

Key Steps in the Process 

• Establishing baseline data regarding the numbers of at-risk and homeless youth (ages 12-24) in 

Penticton, including causal factors to determine the scope and size of the challenge. 

 

o This involved conducting research with community organizations, local services, and provincial 

entities and projects to develop a profile of youth who are at-risk or homeless and estimates 

of their numbers. 

o A comprehensive survey was created and distributed to youth via participating stakeholder 

organizations, through the dedicated support of the Foundry, and via School District 67. (see 

Appendix A for Survey used) 

o Research on youth homelessness within the province of BC and Canada was reviewed for 

contextual information relevant to Penticton’s information. 

 

• Supporting youth led, peer-to-peer stakeholder consultation including the development of skills and 

confidence. 

-93-



 

P
ag

e5
 

o This involved recruiting youth facilitators, ensuring cultural representation to welcome the 
voices of Indigenous youth, GLBTQ2S+ Youth, and other marginalized groups.  Recruitment 
occurred through accessing affiliated, partnering organizations including Foundry Peer Support 
team members and the RADAR group. 

o Youth Peer Workers assisted with designing interview questions and the survey content and 
participated in reviewing input and theme analysis from the information that was gathered. 

o Youth facilitators were supported in their leadership roles by both the project team and the staff 
at Foundry. 
 

• Conducting community stakeholder consultation with partners 
 

o This involved hosting guided interviews with key stakeholders and applying theme analysis to 
the feedback received for comparison to survey data. 

 

• Preparation of draft report encompassing consultations and baseline information to solicit key 
stakeholder review and input 
 

o This involved distribution of the draft report to key stakeholders and hosting facilitated, 
feedback sessions with members of both the working group and youth representatives to 
receive their feedback and input regarding next steps and recommended implementation 
strategies 

 

• Produce and submit a final report with analysis and implementation strategy for submission to key 
stakeholders. 
 

Ensuring Youth Voice 
A small group of interested youth, some of whom had been previously involved in the Youth Engagement 

Strategy (YES), were convened to assist with the project design and survey development.  They provided 

validation of the importance of addressing youth homelessness, one of the original pillars emerging from the 

work of the YES project.  With the input of youth, a Project Charter was created to articulate the core values of 

the project and the processes which would be honoured. (Appendix B).  This core group were also convened to 

review preliminary data and suggested strategies for moving forward to address youth homelessness. 

Peer Support Workers with Foundry were also instrumental in supporting youth engagement. In particular, 

Melisa Edgerly and Honor Hollman, provided invaluable support with interviewing youth, survey distribution 

and design, and ongoing feedback. 

Stories and Numbers 
Understanding the first hand, lived experience of youth in our community who have been or are homeless was 

considered vital information necessary to assuring the integrity of this project. Stories from youth have been 

highlighted throughout this report.  Their stories present an intimate and authentic portrait of some of the 

people who are living in Penticton and who have experienced homelessness, remain in precarious housing, 

and/or have found some measure of stability in their housing situation. 

Guided interviews were conducted with five youth, all under 24, who were referred to the project team by 

community agencies.  Prior to the interview, the intent of the project was explained to each person, how their 

confidentiality would be protected, and their consent was obtained to speak with them for the purposes of 

including their anonymous experiences in the report.  The interviews were conducted by the Peer Support 

-94-



 

P
ag

e6
 

Workers at Foundry Penticton with support of the project team.  Hosting the interviews at the Foundry also 

provided an opportunity to introduce the youth to the resources available there if they weren’t already 

familiar with them.  As a result of this strategy, some of the youth interviewed made their first, vital 

connection to the centre.  This connection provided access to warm clothing and footwear, food, and an 

opportunity to make appointments for medical care and counselling all available at Foundry. 

Each individual’s story is a representation of the pathways to homelessness discussed in Chapter 2. Trauma 

and abuse, substance misuse, a lack of emergency housing, systemic poverty, and unstable family situations 

are all recorded in these accounts. 

The Impact of COVID 
Immediately after the contract was awarded to the consulting team, the COVID-19 pandemic escalated as a 
consuming and emergent threat in the world.  As in other communities, the restrictions imposed to protect 
public health have continued to present barriers for youth in accessing resources, inhibiting face-to-face 
communication, and requiring ongoing and dramatic alterations to the delivery of vital community services.  As a 
result, both the project timeline and aspects of the proposed methodology had to repeatedly pivot. This meant 
that some of the hoped for events to bring youth together did not occur.  As well, physical access to local 
agencies to meet with youth was blocked, and participating members of the collaborative working group were 
reckoning with constant juggling of shifting service delivery priorities demanded by the pandemic.  
 

Survey of Youth 
A survey was developed to create a profile of the experience of youth regarding homelessness in Penticton. The 
survey breaks new ground in compiling detailed, baseline information on this age cohort to inform the 
development of community led strategies. 
 
The roll out of the community survey of youth was also delayed because of the pandemic.  Initial distribution of 
the survey was supported by the Foundry and local community agencies.  Access to the schools, considered a 
vital point of connection for youth, required a more formal process. 
 
Project team members were first invited to make a presentation to Mayor and Council who unanimously 
endorsed the survey content.  A written request from the City of Penticton was made to the Board of Education 
of School District 67 to allow the survey to be promoted amongst youth in the local schools.  The Board of 
Education also reviewed the survey.  Permission to promote the survey in schools was received in early 2021 
and youth were then invited to submit their feedback until mid March.  
 
Ethical considerations with respect to the survey were proactively managed. The survey was anonymous, and all 
results were kept confidential. Respondents used a QR code, or could go to an on-line link, to complete the 
survey.  The completed surveys could not be traced back to the individual and there was no tracking of IP 
addresses. If a person required or requested a paper survey to complete, no identifying information was 
included in their response. 
 
The report prepared provides only aggregated data with detailed analysis of subcategories restricted to cell sizes 
of at least 10 youth. Participation in the survey was expressly stated as voluntary.  This was explained to the 
youth who accessed the survey via community partners and was included in the pre-amble to the survey 
distributed in the schools.  
 
To build the survey, research was conducted on other data gathering projects involving youth for both content 
and style. Specific questions were included to align with data that is being gathered for the Foundry in order to 
provide comparative information.  Plain language principles were applied along with vocabulary aligned to 

-95-



 

P
ag

e7
 

reflect the cohort of youth who were completing the survey. Both the project working group and youth advisors 
reviewed the survey and provided feedback into the questions. 
 
The data was securely stored in the cloud on an account owned by WRH Consulting for the duration of the data 
collection period. Once the survey closed, the data was downloaded to a secure password protected file on Dr. 
Warren Helfrich’s computer for analysis. Once the analysis was completed, the data files used were destroyed 
along with the original data files stored on the cloud. 

 

Project Reference Group 
Throughout the project period, a working group of community organizations and services provided advice and 

supported access to distribute the survey where possible.  Representatives from the following organizations 

met regularly throughout the project term: 

• School District 67 

• South Okanagan Women in Need 

• Foundry Penticton 

• OneSky Community Resources 

• South Okanagan Brain Injury Society 

• Interior Health  

• City of Penticton 

• South Okanagan Immigrant and Community Services 

• Penticton Indian Band 

• Ooknakane Friendship Centre 

Their interest in the experience of homeless youth, contributions to the project, and desire to support 

community change is deeply appreciated. 

  

-96-



 

P
ag

e8
 

“I did things I didn’t want to have to do to have somewhere to sleep…” 
 
This young woman was housed in the Transition House when we met her. Prior to securing a bed in this 

resource, she had been living on the street for three months.  We learned, however, that her story of housing 

insecurity started much earlier. 

  

Violence was part of her life prior to being on the streets. She recounted experiences of physical harm at home 

at the hands of an older sibling so severe she ended up in the hospital with her face badly bruised.  At 16, she 

was kicked out of her family home. Shortly thereafter, her family was evicted from their residence. She took 

refuge at a friend’s house, couch surfing in their apartment.  This arrangement lasted two months falling apart 

over conflict with her friend’s boyfriend.  Without money or family support, she was alone, unhoused, and 

forced to take care of herself.   

 

She spent three nightmarish months living on the streets. During this time, she had no contact with her family 

members, was not in school, and didn’t have a phone to communicate. More poignantly, no one was checking 

up on her.  “My mom wasn’t checking up on me….she didn’t look for me once.” 

 

Drugs became a way of coping.  Scared to fall asleep on the streets, she used drugs to stay awake instead of 

sleeping. When asked where she would eat, she replied “I wasn’t”. She went two weeks during this time 

without eating, drugs filling the emptiness in her stomach and staunching the constant fear. It is also 

noteworthy that her burgeoning substance use was occurring in the midst of the opioid crisis in our province. 

She told us about “a friend who has overdosed three times, been revived at the point of near death, and is still 

alive.”  The need to numb outweighed the risks she was taking. 

  

She gravitated to the local shelter during this time, however, did not qualify for their services as she was under 

19. To survive, she tearfully told us that “I did things I didn’t want to do to have somewhere to sleep”.  

Harassment from predatory men was a constant source of fear. 

  

At the time of our conversation with her, she had recently reconnected with a family member who helped her 
obtain a bed at the Transition House. She has cautiously returned to school; receiving support from a counsellor 
who has been gently encouraging her to complete her education. She is also working to manage her substance 
use. When asked what people reading this report should know in order to create opportunities for change for 
youth, she said, “they could have helped me, but chose not to. Youth need safe places to live.” 
 
  

-97-



 

P
ag

e9
 

Chapter 2: Community Consultations 
 

Conversations with Service Providers 
A scan of local, community organizations and affiliated services was conducted to assist with developing a 

profile of youth who are at-risk or homeless, and to develop estimates of their numbers. Guided interviews 

were conducted with a wide variety of local informants.  These included: 

• community service providers, including those with services specifically supporting First Nations 

persons, 

• school district and college personnel, 

• RCMP, and 

• affiliated government partners in mental health, emergency care, housing, and child serving ministries. 

The interviews were conducted over the phone and explored the following topic areas: 

• their organization’s connection with youth homelessness, 

• if and how they collect quantitative data on numbers of youth experiencing homelessness, 

• their opinions regarding the causes of youth homelessness, and, 

• recommended strategies to prevent and address youth homelessness. 

A total of 21 interviews were conducted.  (see Appendix C for list of the organizations who were interviewed) 

The information was analyzed to extract themes from the input received. 

Resources for Youth Who are At Risk or Homeless 
All of the organizations interviewed are engaged to varying degrees with youth in Penticton.  The scope of 

their involvement ranged from providing direct services including counselling, mental health supports, 

educational supports, arranging youth agreements, attending court appointments, etc. through to more 

tangential contact such as school liaison, food security, and settlement services.  These services are vital to the 

health and wellbeing of youth in our community, and essential as both prevention and intervention supports. 

Under the leadership of the Community Foundation of the South Okanagan/Similkameen (CFSOS), over a 6 
year period from 2013-2019, the YES project galvanized youth voices in Penticton to identify issues impacting  
youth and champion the creation of supports that would assist. The biggest and most significant issues 
impacting youth were identified as: 

• mental and physical health 

• drugs and alcohol 

• poverty 

• lack of resources including social, health, housing, and recreational options. 

A core issue identified at the outset of the YES project was the need for both emergency beds and permanent, 
supportive housing options for youth to provide stability, safety, and life skills needed for future success. 

A successful, multi-year fundraising campaign, conducted by the CFSOS,  led to the purchase of a building in 
downtown Penticton and the creation of the Youth Centre which opened in 2019.  In partnership with OneSky 
Community Resources, who are the lead agency for Foundry Penticton, a constellation of youth services have 
been co-located in this building.  The addition of this resource, and the partnership of the many organizations 

-98-



 

P
ag

e1
0

 

who work as a collaborative alongside Foundry Penticton, mean that young people ages 12-24 can access 
mental health and substance use support, primary care, peer support, and social services.  

Shelter and Emergency Beds 
Currently Penticton has only two options for youth who are at risk of or homeless.  The South Okanagan 

Women in Need Society has two emergency beds available which have been designated for youth.  These are 

co-located within the Society’s emergency shelter with provisions in place to separate the youth from the adult 

women also staying there. These two beds are in constant use, and only available for individuals who identify 

as women. Individuals can self-refer to this resource or be referred via the Ministry for Children and Family 

Development (MCFD) or through community agencies.  

Compass House, is an emergency shelter operated by the Penticton & District Society for Community Living 

and limited to individuals over the age of 19. Outside of these two options, youth reported that they are couch 

surfing, living on the streets, or in tent encampments.   

The Ministry for Children and Family Development funds Youth Agreements which provide a monthly 

allocation of $1,250.  The same Ministry also has a program called Agreements with a Young Adult (AYA).  If a 

young adult has been in foster care or previously had a Youth Agreement, they may qualify for this program to 

help cover the cost of things like housing, childcare, tuition, and health care while they attend school or do job 

training, or attend rehabilitation, mental health, or life skills programs. The maximum allocation under this 

program is $1,250 per month which is expected to cover rent, food, living expenses, childcare, etc. 

To apply for an AYA agreement, a young person must be between 19 and 26 years old, and on their 19th 
birthday be in one of the following care arrangements: 

• The custody of a director or permanent custody of the Superintendent 

• The guardianship of a director of adoption 

• The guardianship of a director under the Family Relations Act 

• A Youth Agreement 

In either funding arrangement, the allocation serves to barely sustain youth and the costs of living in Penticton. 
The CMHC Rental Market Report for 2020, highlighted that there are fewer places to rent in Penticton than in 
previous years and that the cost has increased year over year, currently averaging $1,070.00 per month.1  
Vacancy rates remain low at 1%, and new affordable housing is slow to come available. Predictions from CMHA 
indicate that the rental costs will continue to climb for Penticton.  Compounding the issues of affordability and 
scarcity of rental accommodation, is the discrimination youth typically experience to securing tenancy based 
on their age and incomes.  As a result, youth are often required to share accommodation with others; 
situations that can significantly increase their vulnerability depending upon who they are living with. 

 

What are the numbers? 
While all those interviewed are engaged with youth and the issue of youth homelessness, only two were able 

to provide any data on the incidence of homelessness.  For a one year period spanning 2019 to 2020, South 

 
1 Rental Market Report. 2020. Canadian Mortgage and Housing Corporation. https://assets.cmhc-
schl.gc.ca/sites/cmhc/data-research/publications-reports/rental-market-reports/2020/rental-market-report-69720-2020-
en.pdf?rev=936ca622-a6c5-4cbc-b937-d29b1d63cc14  

-99-

https://assets.cmhc-schl.gc.ca/sites/cmhc/data-research/publications-reports/rental-market-reports/2020/rental-market-report-69720-2020-en.pdf?rev=936ca622-a6c5-4cbc-b937-d29b1d63cc14
https://assets.cmhc-schl.gc.ca/sites/cmhc/data-research/publications-reports/rental-market-reports/2020/rental-market-report-69720-2020-en.pdf?rev=936ca622-a6c5-4cbc-b937-d29b1d63cc14
https://assets.cmhc-schl.gc.ca/sites/cmhc/data-research/publications-reports/rental-market-reports/2020/rental-market-report-69720-2020-en.pdf?rev=936ca622-a6c5-4cbc-b937-d29b1d63cc14


 

P
ag

e1
1

 

Okanagan Women in Need counted an average of 49 bed use days/month.2  Compass House recorded 29 

youth between the ages of 19-24 accessing their emergency shelter in the period from June 2019 to 

September 2020.  Compass House staff emphasized that a large number of shelter stays were counted for 

persons just outside this age group. 

Point in Time Count 
In spring of 2018, the Province of British Columbia funded homeless counts in 12 B.C. communities. The count 
occurs over the course of one day and provides a 24-hour snapshot.  This does not easily or accurately factor 
into account the numbers of individuals who experience transient homelessness, changes in individual 
situations that perpetuate cycles of homelessness, or those who leave the province.  As well, those who are 
couch surfing, living in cars, and so on, are often not counted – they constitute the hidden homeless. 

The Homelessness Services Association of BC, Urban Matters, and the BC Non-profit Housing Association 
coordinated these counts and combined the results with available data from 12 additional counts and shelter’s 
usage to prepare their report.  

In 2018, a total of 7,655 individuals were identified as experiencing homeless in BC.  This included 219 children 
under the age of 19 and accompanied by a parent or guardian. Individuals spanned the age range with 20% 
aged 55+ years of age, and 15% under 25.  29% indicated that they had been in foster care, a youth group 
home, or under a youth agreement.  Disturbingly, 51% of all respondents reported experiencing homeless for 
the first time when they were under 25 years of age.3  
 

Penticton’s 2018 Point in Time count identified 108 persons and more individuals who identified as men than 
those who identified as women. 12 youth, under 25, were identified in the count. The planned count for 2020 
was postponed due to the pandemic. A count occurred on April 20th of 2021; the results for Penticton are not 
yet available for comparison to the 2018 numbers. 

 

 

 

  

 
2 SOWINS counts each day a bed was used per person.  Bed use dramatically increased in the months of July, August, and 
September. 
3 The Homelessness Services Association of BC, Urban Matters, and BC Non-Profit Housing Association (2018). 2018 
Report on Homeless Counts in B.C. Prepared for BC Housing. Burnaby, BC: Metro Vancouver. www.bchousing.org 

-100-

http://www.bchousing.org/


 

P
ag

e1
2

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

-101-



 

P
ag

e1
3

 

History of Trauma 
Organizations working with youth, highlighted the deep impact of trauma as a significant wounding experience 

for youth.  This trauma may be generational, as in the circumstance of First Nations persons who have survived 

residential schools, systemic racism, and continued trauma in their contact with colonial structures and 

institutions.  The trauma may also be a result of having witnessed or experienced violence in their home or 

community, sexual abuse, and sexual violence.  When left unaddressed, trauma has the potential to lead to 

self harm, substance use, increased vulnerability and exploitation, and mental health issues. 

Unsafe Home Situations 
It would be a fallacy to believe that youth leave home for the insecurity and danger of life on the streets 

because their family home is stable and safe. They are rarely simply “rebelling” against parental restrictions 

and rules. Too often they are fleeing from a variety of hard, painful experiences including family violence, 

parental neglect, sexual and physical abuse, and abandonment. Youth report witnessing their parent’s 

substance misuse and the chronic challenges with food and housing security that are often a by-product of 

this. Poverty, including the crushing type experienced even by parents who are working full time, places extra 

stress on the home. Youth also report being kicked out of their family home when they take the enormous risk 

of coming out as gay, bisexual, transgendered, or questioning their gender identity. 

In research from the National Youth Homelessness Survey in 2016, 40.1% of their respondents reported that 

they were under the age of 16 when they first experienced homelessness.  Their findings indicated that youth 

who leave home at an earlier age, not only experienced very difficult conditions that precipitated their 

homelessness, but that they also experienced greater hardship once they were on the streets. In addition, 

early homelessness can lead to bullying, exploitation, poor quality of life, attempts at suicide, and chronic 

homelessness.4 Overall, youth who are living rough have an extremely fragile sense of belonging. To address 

the need for belonging, attachments are instead formed with pets, with other homeless youth, and sadly often 

with those who will exploit them further. 

Unmet Needs 
Youth who live with unmet needs that impact them cognitively, physically, and socially are at greater risk of 

experiencing alienation and mistrust that makes them cautious about accessing services and at risk of 

isolation.  If their needs are chronically unmet and/or undiagnosed, their lived experience becomes one of 

continual failure, the “outsider”, and the stigmas associated with those identities. Not being able to access 

appropriate resources to both assess their needs and respond to them, can lead to dropping out of school, 

problems with literacy and processing information, poverty, and using substances to cope. 

Negative Experiences with Government Ministries 
Involvement with the child welfare system, including child protection services, is a recurring theme in the 
experiences of youth who become homeless.  For those who need child protection services, they have already 
experienced trauma in their family home. This can often be compounded by the experiences of foster care and 
the aftermath of aging out of that service at 19.  Eligibility and accessing the Agreement with Young Adults 
program is equally difficult. Data compiled by the Representative for Children and Youth5 highlights higher 
rates of homelessness, lower educational attainments, less success in the workforce, poverty, and poorer 
mental health among youth leaving care. These are vastly more significant issues for First Nations, Métis, Inuit, 
and Urban Indigenous youth who are disproportionately overrepresented in the child welfare system. As the 

 
4 Gaetz. S, O’Grady, B. Kidd, S. & Schwan, K. Without a Home: the National Youth Homelessness Survey. P. 5. 
5 The Representative for Children and Youth supports children, youth, and families who need help in dealing with the child 
welfare system, and advocates for changes to the system itself.  

-102-



 

P
ag

e1
4

 

Representative so clearly states, “youth homelessness is an issue of systems failures, not the failings of the 
young people experiencing it.”6 The scant funding associated with Youth Agreements of either type, makes a 
challenging time in any young person’s life, as they transition to adulthood, significantly harder.  As the 

Representative so eloquently states, “research over decades has repeatedly confirmed that poverty is a 
major predictor for everything difficult that happens to a person in the course of a life. Yet our own 
system of care for B.C.’s most vulnerable children and youth virtually shapes a life of poverty for them.”7 
 
The Representative continues to advocate for extending and improving transition planning, and the 
development of  a province-wide system of dedicated transition workers through community agencies to 
provide systems navigation and case management support, as well as adult guidance, for these young 
people up to the age of 27. 
 

Additional Barriers 
Community interviews highlighted a host of additional barriers which act as a pathways to homelessness for 

youth.  There is a dearth of youth friendly, affordable housing options in Penticton and many young people 

face considerable discrimination in their attempts to rent based on age, appearance, and lack of rental history 

to use as a positive reference. Finding services and knowing how to access them successfully, can be a steep 

and daunting learning curve. The cost of WIFI and a cell phone, now considered essential to access 

information, may be beyond the financial means of a youth on their own. If they are also young parents and 

trying to work and/or finish high school, accessing safe, affordable, and flexible childcare is extremely difficult. 

 

The pathways to homelessness discussed above, echo themes confirmed by other advocates and researchers. 

Our research, including the interviews conducted with youth, verified these issues are impacting the lives of 

young people in Penticton. 

 

 

 

  

 
6 Representative for Children and Youth. A Parent’s Duty: Governments Obligation to Youth Transitioning into Adulthood. 
December 2020. https://rcybc.ca/wp-content/uploads/2020/12/RCY-A-Parents-Duty_FINAL.pdf  
7 Ibid. 

-103-

https://rcybc.ca/wp-content/uploads/2020/12/RCY-A-Parents-Duty_FINAL.pdf


 

P
ag

e1
5

 

“It’s not the Hilton, but it feels safe…” 
 

This youth grew up in an abusive home; both parents struggled with alcoholism. At times, the youth would 

leave his home to stay at his biological father’s house, but this parent was also abusive. He found ways to 

survive his home life, isolating himself in his room to avoid abuse. He left home at sixteen but had 

contemplated leaving home as early as twelve or thirteen. He identifies as non-binary. 

 

Once he left home, a school counsellor helped him get on a youth agreement. In the process of applying for the 

youth agreement, there were times he had nowhere to go. Thankfully, he had a girlfriend where he could spend 

many of his nights. He has also had the support of a youth worker with one of the local agencies who he has 

bonded with and who has gone over and above to support him.  “She has been amazing – is even there on 

weekends to help.” This is in contrast to his experience with Ministry social workers who are busy with other 

cases and rarely contact him.  He felt “demonized” in his experiences with the world of child protection. 

 

He relayed that he has stayed at the Penticton Hostel twice and has also had to sleep outside because he had 

nowhere to go. He told us he has friends who “literally sleep outside”. 

  

Since he has been able to obtain a youth agreement, he has “no anxiety about going home or fear.  It’s not the 

Hilton but it feels safe.” He reported feeling that he is growing as a person and becoming more responsible. The 

financial support he receives just barely covers his rent however - there is only $50 to cover other living 

expenses. 

 

He also told us his relationship with his mom has improved.  When asked what he needed that he didn’t have 

throughout the challenge of leaving his abusive home, he highlighted the need for “alternative housing options, 

a youth shelter,  emergency beds….anything to offer a last resort. It fucking sucks to not be able to feel safe in 

your home.” 

  

He harbours a chronic fear about losing what little stability his youth agreement has provided. “If things fell 

through tomorrow, I would have nowhere to go”. He is equally fearful of being unhoused once he ages out of 

care of the Ministry. Homelessness is an ongoing fear, further elevated without immediate family he can rely 

upon. 

  

-104-



 

P
ag

e1
6

 

Chapter 3: What the Survey Revealed About Youth in Penticton 
 

In order to understand the reality of youth homelessness in Penticton, and in the absence of data being 
collected by agencies, a survey of young people was conducted over a several month period from the fall of 
2020 and concluding in the spring of 2021. The survey questionnaire was developed in conjunction with youth 
advisors and with advice from the working group. Many of the questions mirrored ones already used as part of 
a Health Survey collected during a youth’s first visits to Foundry in Penticton.  The youth survey was 
administered through staff at Foundry, community organizations, and eventually through local schools. As 
mentioned previously, there was some delay in getting the survey into schools due to the process required to 
get approval. The survey was accessible both through a dedicated iPad at Foundry and through scanning a QR 
code so it could be completed on the youth’s own device.  
 
The survey was anonymous, with all responses gathered electronically.  The following highlights the results and 
includes comparisons with data gathered on Foundry’s Health Survey (n=41) where available. 
 
            Figure 1 

A total of 264 young people 
took part in the survey.  The 
average age of respondents 
to the survey was 15 and 
ranged in age from 13 to 26. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Profile of Youth 
 
Two thirds of youth participating in the survey identified as female, with another 1 in 4 identifying as male. 
Trans male (4.6%) and non-binary (4.2%) were the next most common responses regarding gender 
identification.  Although the sample reflects a relatively large proportion of youth that identify as female, this 
mirrors the typical population of youth seeking services that attends Foundry Penticton. A recent data report 
from Foundry covering a six month period between September 2020 and February 2021 found that 57% of 
those seeking services were female, 27% identified as male, 5.7% identified as trans male and 4.1% identified 
as non-binary. According to Interior Health’s Local Health Area (LHA) profile for 2019, approximately 18.8% of 
the general population is between the ages of 15 and 24, with 8.5% being female and 10.3% being male. Male 
youth appear to be less likely to seek services in general and less likely to show interest in participating in 
these types of surveys.  

0.4%

0.4%

0.8%

2.3%

4.2%

4.6%

24.7%

65.0%

Prefer not to answer

Agender

2-Spirit

Not sure/Questioning

Non-binary

Trans male

Male

Female

0% 20% 40% 60% 80%

Gender Identification

-105-



 

P
ag

e1
7

 

 
 
 
 
Figure 2       Figure 3 

 
 
Nearly three out of four young people participating in the survey identified themselves as Caucasian/white 
(72.8%).  The next most common identification was Indigenous (27.2%), with a near even split between those 
identifying as First Nations (42%) and Metis (45%). Again, this is similar to data provided by Foundry on those 
seeking services, where 84% identify as Caucasian/white and 22% identify as Indigenous. While the population 
of Indigenous persons in BC is significantly younger than the rest of BC’s population, the sample for this survey 
likely has an overrepresentation of Indigenous young people given that persons identifying as Indigenous make 
up less than 7% of the general population of Penticton (Source: Statistics Canada). It is worth noting that the 
population of individuals that identify as a visible minority in Penticton’s general population is also 
approximately 7%. The proportion of individuals responding to this survey that identified as a visible minority 
appears to be consistent the general population of Penticton. 
 
The vast majority (95.8%) of respondents to the survey were Canadian citizens. 14 of those surveyed identified 
themselves as permanent residents (5.4%) while two indicated that they were on student visas (0.8%). 
 
 
  

72.8%

27.2%

4.8% 3.0% 0.4% 0.4% 0.8% 2.9%

0.0%

10.0%

20.0%

30.0%

40.0%

50.0%

60.0%

70.0%

80.0%

Ethnic or Cultural 
Background 95.8%

5.4%
0.8% 0.4% 0.8%

0.0%

10.0%

20.0%

30.0%

40.0%

50.0%

60.0%

70.0%

80.0%

90.0%

100.0%

Citizenship

-106-



 

P
ag

e1
8

 

Living Circumstances of Youth 
 
Figure 4 

 
 
The youth participating in the survey identified a variety of living situations. The most common living situation 
identified by youth was with both parents (43.6%), followed by living with their mother (18.6%). Roughly 1 in 
10 said that they were living with brother or sister (11.4%) or with their partner, boyfriend, or girlfriend 
(10.2%). Of those surveyed, 18 (6.8%) indicated that they were living on their own.  The same number of 
individuals indicated “other” as their living situation.  A review of responses to “other” found a wide range of 
circumstances, including some that were precarious (e.g., couch surfing, living in a spare room of an ex-
partner, and living with random people). Four youth (1.5%) indicated that they were living with foster parents. 
 
Figure 5 

 
 
 
 
 
 

43.6%

18.6%

11.4% 10.2%
6.8% 5.3% 4.6% 4.2% 4.2% 3.8% 3.0% 1.9% 1.5% 1.1% 0.8%

6.8%

0.0%
5.0%

10.0%
15.0%
20.0%
25.0%
30.0%
35.0%
40.0%
45.0%
50.0%

Currently Living With:

75.1%

16.7%
4.7% 3.1% 2.7% 0.8% 0.0% 1.6%

In a house In an
apartment

In a
basement

suit

I couch surf In a single
room in a
house or

apartment
building

In a shelter In a group
home

I am
unhoused

0.0%

20.0%

40.0%

60.0%

80.0%

Currently Living In

-107-



 

P
ag

e1
9

 

Figure 6       Figure 7 

 
 
One in twenty youth surveyed (12 individuals – 5.5%) identified being in a precarious housing situation, which 
included couch surfing, living in a shelter, and being homeless. This closely matches data gathered in Foundry’s 
Health Survey, where 4.4% of respondents were precariously housed (i.e., couch surfing, in a shelter, in an 
SRO, or on the street). The data provided from Foundry’s Health Survey also indicated that one in ten youth 
(10.2%) had been homeless or had couch surfed in the past month. 
 
3 out of 4 respondents (75.1%) were living in a house, while 17% indicate living in an apartment and 5% lived in 
a basement suite. On average, youth that responded to the survey indicated that they had been living in their 
current situation for just under 10 years, with a range of a few months to their whole life. 
 
Figure 8 

 
 
Roughly half (48.1%) of respondents indicated that they know someone in their group that they hung out with 
who was living away from their family home. On average, young people reported knowing 4 people in this 
situation, with a range from 0 to 13. The most common (modal) response was 2.  
 

70.9%

19.0%

5.3%

1.6%

1.1%

1.1%

0.5%

0.5%

In a house

In an apartment

Other

I couch surf

In a homeless
shelter

In a single room
occupancy

In a group home

On the street

Foundry Data: I currently live:

89.8%

10.2%

No

Yes

Foundry Data: I have been 
homeless or couch surfed in 

the past month

48.1%

29.2%
19.6%

3.1%

Yes No Not sure Prefer not to answer

0.0%

20.0%

40.0%

60.0%

% of respondents that know someone in the group of 
people they hang out with who is living away from 

their family home

-108-



 

P
ag

e2
0

 

Housing History of Youth 
 
Figure 9       Figure 10 

 
 
Half of those surveyed (49.6%) indicated that they had lived with adults who were not their parents at some 
time in their life. Of those 18 years old and younger at the time of the survey, the results remained stable with 
46.5% (87 individuals) indicating that they had lived with someone other than their parents. Of those 18 and 
younger that had lived with someone other than their family, nearly half (48.2%) had been homeless or 
precariously housed, including 30% that had couch surfed, 10.4% that had lived on the streets, and 7.8% that 
they had lived in a shelter. Nearly 1 in 10 (18.2%) of those 18 years and younger had lived in Foster Care or a 
group home at some point in their life. 1 in 3 respondents indicated having run away from home at least once. 
 
Figure 11 

 
      
 

  

46.50%

53.50%

Responses

0.0% 20.0% 40.0% 60.0%

% of individuals 18 years 
and younger that have lived 

with adults who were not 
their parents at some time 

in their life

No

Yes

46.8%

30.0%

18.2%15.6%
11.7%10.4% 7.8%

2.6%

0.0%

10.0%

20.0%

30.0%

40.0%

50.0%

Living arrangment for those 
18 and under who have lived 

with someone other than 
their family

20.3%

13.7%

21.1%

44.9%

More than once

Once

I thought about it

Never

0.0% 5.0% 10.0% 15.0% 20.0% 25.0% 30.0% 35.0% 40.0% 45.0% 50.0%

% that have run away from home (overnight):

-109-



 

P
ag

e2
1

 

Supports Available to Youth 
 
Figure 12 

 
Figure 13 

 
 
The overwhelming majority of youth indicated that the had someone they could count on to offer emotional 
support (86.2%) and provide help in an emergency (91.9%). Most also indicated having someone that they 
could count on check in to see how they were doing (85.8%). This is similar to results from the Health Survey 
completed by youth when they attend Foundry, where the majority of youth indicated having someone they 
could talk to in their family if they had problems. 
 
In contrast, one in five youth (19.7%) indicated not having anyone or anywhere they would go to to ask for 
help to find a safe place to live. Of those that indicated having someone/somewhere, the most commonly 
identified options were friends (70.3%) or a relative (42.1%).  
 

47.6%

32.6%

19.8%

Sometimes, depending on the
problem

Yes, about most things

No

Foundry Data: I can talk to someone in my family if I have 
problems:

91.9%

85.8%

86.2%

8.1%

14.2%

13.9%

Provide help in an emergency

Check in to see how you are doing

Offer emotional support

0.0% 20.0% 40.0% 60.0% 80.0% 100.0%

% that have someone they can count on to:

No

Yes

-110-



 

P
ag

e2
2

 

Figure 14 

 
 
 

Youth Perspective on Homelessness in Penticton 
 
Figure 15 

 
 
Most youth believe that homelessness is absolutely (54.8%) or probably (22.2%) a problem in Penticton.  
The vast majority of youth felt that Penticton needed more affordable housing suites for youth (78.8%) and 
more supported housing (72.8%). Emergency beds (46.8%) and hotels that will rent to youth (40.4%) were also 
noted by many youth as a need. 
 

  

70.3%

42.1%

26.6% 25.5%
19.7% 18.9%

10.8% 7.3% 5.4% 4.3% 3.9% 2.3%
0.0%

10.0%
20.0%
30.0%
40.0%
50.0%
60.0%
70.0%
80.0%

Where would you go for help to ask about finding a safe 
place to live?

19.9%

3.1%

22.2%

54.8%

Don't really know

Not at all

Probably

Absolutely!!!

0.0% 20.0% 40.0% 60.0%

% that think youth 
homelessness is a 

problem in Penticton

19.2%

34.4%

40.4%

46.8%

72.8%

78.8%

More foster homes

More shelters

More motels that will rent to
youth

Emergency youth beds

Supported youth housing (e.g.
staff on site, help with skill…

More affordable housing with
suites for youth

0.0% 20.0% 40.0% 60.0% 80.0% 100.0%

What Penticton needs to help 
youth who are having housing 

troubles, or who are 
experiencing homelessness

-111-



 

P
ag

e2
3

 

Youth that are Homeless/Precariously Housed 
 

  
 
Compared to all youth surveyed, youth that were homeless or precariously housed were twice as likely to be 
male (58.3% compared to 24.7% for the overall sample) or trans male (8.3% compared to 4.6% for the overall 
sample).  Youth were also nearly twice as likely to identify as Indigenous (50% compared to 27.2% in the 
overall sample). All youth identified themselves as Canadian citizens.  On average, youth had been living in this 
situation for 3 months, with a range of 1 to 8 months.   
 

 
 
The majority of youth indicated that their current living situation was because they were kicked out of where 
they were or were in conflict with the adults they were living with. One in three indicated not feeling safe at 
home.  
 

58.3%

33.3%

8.3%

Male Female Trans male

0.0%

10.0%

20.0%

30.0%

40.0%

50.0%

60.0%

70.0%

Gender Identification:

50.0%

50.0%

Indigenous (First nation,
Metis, Inuit)

Caucasian (white)

0.0% 20.0% 40.0% 60.0%

Ethnic or cultural 
background:

8.3%

8.3%

8.3%

33.3%

58.3%

66.7%

My guardians/caregivers choose this place

Was in foster care and left

"Aged out" of the place I was living/ the foster…

I felt unsafe at home

I was in conflict with the adults in my house

I was kicked out of where I was

0.0% 10.0% 20.0% 30.0% 40.0% 50.0% 60.0% 70.0% 80.0%

Reason for current living situation:

-112-



 

P
ag

e2
4

 

 
 
While all of the youth that were precariously housed indicated having someone that they could count on to 
provide help in an emergency, only two thirds indicated having someone that they could count on to offer 
emotional support or to check in to see how they were doing. 
 
 

Discussion 
 
The results discussed above provide important insight into the current housing and homelessness situation 
facing youth in Penticton. The findings suggest that as many as 1 in 20 youth between the ages of 12 and 24 
may be experiencing homelessness at any one time in Penticton. A generous inflation of that ratio to 1 in 40 
would mean that there are 135 to 140 youth in Penticton between the ages of 12 and 24 that are homeless or 
precariously housed at any one time in Penticton, based on an estimated general population of roughly 5500 
youth in that age range. Further, nearly half of youth surveyed knew someone in their peer group that was 
living away from home and as many as 1 in 10 youth that accessed services at Foundry identified having been 
homeless or couched surfed in the past month. Youth that were homeless or precariously housed were more 
likely to be male, trans-male and Indigenous.  Most youth in the survey reported having someone that they 
could count on for emotional support, to provide help in an emergency or to check in on them. However, those 
that were homeless or precariously housed were less likely to have someone that they could count on for 
emotional support or to check in on them. 
 

Limitations 
 
The youth that participated in the homelessness survey conducted as part of this project or that accessed 
Foundry and completed Health Survey are not fully representative of the general youth population in 
Penticton. While effort was made to get as diverse a sample as possible, those that participated in either of 
these data collection activities were more likely to be female and Indigenous compared to the general 
population.  There may have been other important differences not reflected in the data on participant 
characteristics that were gathered. While the results are a reflection of the true picture of housing and 
homelessness for youth in Penticton, caution should be used in generalizing these results. 
 
  
 
 
 

100.0%

66.7%

66.7%

Provide help in an emergency

Check in to see how you are doing

Offer emotional support

0.0% 20.0% 40.0% 60.0% 80.0% 100.0% 120.0%

% that have someone they can count on to:

-113-



 

P
ag

e2
5

 

 

“I didn’t know how to find someone to help me…” 
  

This young person is currently living on their own and has been for 10 months having been able to secure 

funding via an Agreement with Young Adults. She is pregnant. 

 

Her story of housing insecurity began at fourteen when she ran away from her abusive home. That initiated a 

period of transience where she moved back and forth between Penticton and Kelowna, finding shelter at 

Transition Houses, the youth shelter, and sometimes staying with family and friends.  These were not easy or 

safe times. “I got into physical fights at some of the places I stayed at. I didn’t know how to find someone to 

help me.” 

 

Her mother passed away when she was 16, reducing her small circle even further and adding more trauma to 

her story. It was during a stay at the Transition House that she received support to help her get on a Youth 

Agreement. She believes that she “would not have gotten a youth agreement without the help of the staff at 

the Transition House. I am really scared of aging out without this support.” 

  

When asked what would have helped her navigate the challenges she faced, she said “more emergency youth 

beds and more safe, affordable housing.  Some of the places that are cheap are not the best or safest places.” 

 

There also needs to be “easier access to social workers…ones who take her seriously and want to help her.” 

After several less than ideal contacts with child welfare, she now has what she considers “a very helpful social 

worker” – one who is supportive and listens to her. 

 

Asked what would support youth, she described the ideal solution as a youth shelter in Penticton that provides 

“easy access to supports, laundry, and showers.”  She reinforced that if you need to flee an unsafe situation, 

you need “a solid plan, you have to have some money, and a safe place to go.  You need a decent support 

system, family, and friends who care about you.” 

  

-114-



 

P
ag

e2
6

 

Chapter 4: Conclusion and Recommendations 

Conclusion 
This research project was initiated to conduct a community-led youth homelessness assessment and develop a 
strategy to mitigate and ultimately work to eliminate youth homelessness in the City of Penticton.  The project 
had four primary deliverables: 
  

• Completing community consultations to assess the size of the challenge, ensuring that the voices of youth 
are privileged; 

• Convening the collaborative input of a collective of community service providers; 

• Development of a draft implementation strategy for review, analysis, and endorsement by project 
partners, and; 

• Completion and submission of a final report.  
 
The project work was also intended to enhance local understanding of the issues precipitating youth 

homelessness, establish a baseline of numbers of at-risk and homeless youth, assess existing community 

capacity to respond, and support planning and decision-making with respect to the implementation of 

solutions and future, strategic investments of resources. 

The project began in 2020 just prior to the onset of the worldwide COVID 19 pandemic.  The project 

coordinators regularly revised the project activities and timeline in response to changing restrictions and 

access protocols, shutdowns of schools and in-person gatherings, and community capacity. 

The research validated the generalized concern and perception among service providers and others that youth 

homelessness in Penticton is a significant issue.  The experience of housing insecurity and homelessness 

among youth was not well quantified, and data was not being collected in a consistent manner to support 

planning. A fixed point of responsibility, or coordination strategy, had not been established to address the 

problem.  Service providers, in partnership with school-based counsellors and teachers, were responding to 

the need through informal networking relationships. Foundry Penticton, a critical addition to the local service 

network, has provided an invaluable access point for youth and their families to address health and wellness. 

However, current resources are not adequate to address all of the identified needs. 

Housing options for at risk or homeless youth are currently limited to two beds for individuals, and only 

available to persons identifying as women.  Concurrent issues facing at risk or homeless youth include, but are 

not limited to, the potential for substance use, trauma and abuse, challenges attending and completing their 

education, unemployment, and poor health associated with irregular access to health care and food insecurity. 

 

Steps Forward 
In order to construct a pathway to address youth homelessness, a series of facilitated focus groups were 

convened by WRH Consulting with the key participants of the project.  An initial session with the Youth 

Advisory group involved a presentation of the survey findings and recruiting their input on solutions.  Two 

facilitated sessions were held with the project working group to garner their feedback on the draft report and 

generate strategies to move forward.  The sessions were all held via Zoom due to the ongoing challenges of 

COVID and the restrictions on in-person gatherings.   

Themes from the three groups were analyzed by the consulting team and synthesized into ten objectives.  

Ideas generated through the focus groups were sorted into proposed specific actions and sorted into short, 

medium, and long term categories for priority. The ten objectives and proposed actions were reviewed by the 

-115-



 

P
ag

e2
7

 

members of the working group for their feedback and revised accordingly.  They are listed in the graphic below 

and described in more detail in Appendix E. 

 

-116-



 

P
ag

e2
8

 

The working group discussed the need to determine a community leadership structure to act as a point of 

responsibility in moving forward on the pressing issue of youth homelessness and tackling further refinement 

of the proposed actions and assignment of responsibility for those actions.  Consensus was reached that the 

most appropriate entity to do so is the working coalition “100 More Homes”, under whose community action 

mandate the next steps to address youth homelessness will live. 

  

-117-



 

P
ag

e2
9

 

“It’s a do or die situation…” 
 

This young woman, who identified herself as an Aboriginal person, has had poverty and precarious housing 

shadow her entire life. “I have been in and out of transition homes since I can remember.” 

 

First on her own at the age of 15, she was able to get on a Youth Agreement at 16 which ended when she 

turned 19.  Despite all the challenges associated with this funding arrangement, during these years she was 

working to complete high school while holding down an almost full-time job. When she turned 19, she lost her 

housing because the landlord knew she would no longer be receiving money from the government. “I wasn’t 

working enough for people’s liking”. She is now on social assistance. 

  

Prior to losing her housing, she felt she was doing comparatively well. With nowhere to go, she 8returned to live 

with her family in supported housing in another part of the province. She described these circumstances as “not 

good. It was under construction, workers intruded in my space…there was no privacy,” She shared this space 

with her brother, sister and her mom – all trying to survive on social assistance. 

  

After leaving that arrangement, she moved into her current housing describing it as a solution to a “do or die 

situation”. She found the place on Facebook and while the situation is volatile and abusive in this shared 

accommodation, she continues to live there to avoid being homeless. “The housing market is ridiculous – no 

one wants to rent to a kid!” 

  

Her current living situation has become tangled and exploitative. She is sexually involved with her landlord who 

demands her social assistance cheques. “He knows I am on welfare and he expects it. He makes me go to the 

bank, deposit my cheques, and give the money to him.” Realizing that this is an unsafe situation, she has tried 

to leave often.  There are few options for her, however. She has slept in her car on the side of the road, in a 

tent, and found shelter at the Transition House twice. She always ends up returning to the unsafe situation as 

she had nowhere else to go. To add to the exploitation, her landlord has withheld personal items, her cat, 

important documents, and other things as a means to control her and keep her staying with him. She has called 

the police a number of times to help him get her things back so she can leave for good, but she has not had any 

luck.  When asked if she had somewhere else to live would she still be living there, she replied “no”.   

  

Her difficulties are compounded by substance use which has attracted the attention of MCFD who have given 

her ultimatums about getting treatment or risk losing financial supports.  She told us she wished there would 

have been some type of youth housing to help with ageing out of care, managing addictions and substance use, 

and mental health issues. Asked how serious a problem youth homelessness is, she replied “it’s a dire situation 

and it has been here for too long. They say children are our future, but do they really care that much if they are 

letting this happen? There are kids out here, kids that are dying.  They are not being murdered; they just cannot 

simply sustain life without more supports”. 

 
8 Update on this story: This young woman moved out of the living arrangement described in the interview but has been 

unable to retrieve her belongings. She is living in a single bedroom apartment with three adults. Her own substance use 

has gotten a lot better, however she is surrounded by substance use in her living situation.  

She has entered a work skills program and has really taken strides forward in her life to get things to where she wants 

them to be. She is participating in counselling and says “she is managing”.  She told us she often feels like she is “grasping 

at straws, but I will not admit defeat to the system we are trying to change”. 

-118-



 

P
ag

e3
0

 

 

Appendices 

 

Appendix A 
Youth Homelessness Project 

Survey 

What is this survey asking about: We are trying to understand the experiences of 
Penticton youth, ages 12 – 24, with homelessness and housing problems.  We hope you will 
consider completing the survey because your information and ideas are important to creating 
solutions. You only have to answer the questions you feel comfortable with. 

This survey collects anonymous information to assist with our inquiry. Precautions have been 
taken to protect you.  Your feedback cannot be traced back to you. 

  

1. What is your age? _________________ 

 

2. I identify as: 

 Male      Female 

 2-spirit       Non-binary 

 Trans female      Trans male 

 Agender      Not sure/ questioning 

 Prefer not to answer 

 I don’t identify with any of these options (please 

specify)______________________________________________ 

 

3. I would describe my ethnic or cultural background as: 

  Indigenous (First Nations, Metis, Inuit)  Caucasian (white) 

  Chinese       Filipino 

  Japanese       Korean 

  Latin American      Arab 

  Black (e.g. African, Haitian, Jamaican)  

  West Asian (e.g. Afghan, Iranian 

-119-



 

P
ag

e3
1

 

  Southeast Asian (e.g. Indonesian, Vietnamese) 

  South Asian (e.g. East Indian, Pakistani, Punjabi, Sri Lankan) 

  Prefer not to answer 

¨ I don’t identify with any of these options (please 

specify)_____________________________________________________ 

 

4 If Indigenous (First Nations, Metis, Inuit) selected, please tell us if you are: 

  Metis      Inuit 

  First Nations     Unsure 

   

5. I am a: 

  Canadian citizen     Visitor to Canada 

  Permanent resident    Refugee claimant 

  On a work visa     On a student visa 

  Not sure      Prefer not to answer 

 

6. I live with: (check all that apply) 

  Both of my parents    Both parents, at different times 

 Mother(s)      Brother(s)/ sister(s) 

  Father(s)      Friend(s) 

  Partner/boyfriend/girlfriend   Grandparent(s) 

  Stepmother or stepfather   Roommate(s) 

  Foster Parent(s)     I live alone 

  My child/children         

  Aunt, uncle, or other adults related to me 

  Multiple people who aren’t related to me 

  Other (please specify)___________________________________  

 

7. I currently live: 

  In a house       in a basement suite 

-120-



 

P
ag

e3
2

 

  In an apartment      I couch surf 

  In a single room in a house or apartment building 

  In a homeless shelter     I am unhoused 

  In a group home 

  Other. If you chose “other”, please tell us what your current living situation is: 

 _______________________________________________________________ 

 

8. I have been living in this type of housing for: ______ years or _______ months  

 

9. I get along with the people I live with: 

  Never      Often 

  Sometimes     Always 

 

10. My current living situation is because: 

  I have always lived here      I am happier now  

 I felt unsafe at home      I was kicked out 

  I was in conflict with the adults in my house   Was in foster care & left 

  The rules at home were too strict    

  “Aged out” of the place I was living 

  I am on a Youth Agreement 

  I felt that I was old enough to leave home 

 Other reason(s): please tell us why 
_____________________________________________________________________
___________________________________________________________ 

 

11. At some point in my life, I have lived with adults who were not my parents. 

  yes      no 

 If you answered yes, who did you live with? 

  with friends     with foster family 

  couch surfed     in a shelter 

-121-



 

P
ag

e3
3

 

  in a group home     on the street 

  other family member    roommates 

  partner      other ___________________ 

 

12. I have run away from home: 

  never      thought about it 

  once      more than once 

 

13. Do you know anyone in the group of people you hang out with who is living away from 
their family home? 

 Yes       No 

 Not sure      Prefer not to answer 

 

14. How many in the group you hang out with are worried about their housing and not in a 
safe or secure place? 

 _____________________________________ 

 

15. Do you have someone you can count  on to: 

 Provide help in an emergency?  Yes      No 

 Check in to see how you are doing?  Yes     No 

 Offer emotional support?  Yes    No 

 

16. Where would you go for help to ask about finding a safe place to live? 

  friends      youth worker 

  school counsellor or teacher   government social worker 

  the Foundry     Community Living BC 

  your doctor     co-worker at my job 

  the hospital     a relative 

  a local shelter 

  I don’t know where I would go 

-122-



 

P
ag

e3
4

 

  

17. What does Penticton need to help youth who are having housing troubles or who are 
homeless? (check as many as apply) 

  supported, youth housing (e.g. staff on site, help with skill building, safety 
precautions) 

  more affordable housing with suites just for youth 

 more motels that will rent to youth 

 more shelters 

 emergency youth beds 

 more foster homes 

 Other (please provide us with your ideas) 
_____________________________________________________________________
_____________________________________________________________________
_____________________________________________________________________
_________________________________________________ 

 

18. Do you think that youth homelessness is a problem in Penticton? 

  Absolutely!!!     Probably 

  Not at all       Don’t really know 

  

 

If any of the questions in this survey has triggered stress, anxiety, or worry 
for you, PLEASE contact: 

the Foundry at 501 Main Street at 778-646-2292, or, 

the Kids Help Line at 1-800-668-6868. 

Support is available and free of charge. 
 

 

 

   

  

  

  

  

-123-



 

P
ag

e3
5

 

  

  

  

Appendix B 
PENTICTON YOUTH HOMELESSNESS 

ASSESSMENT & STRATEGY  
2020 

 
What we value and believe: 
 

1. The lived experience of youth must be central to our process; we each bring a unique 
perspective to understanding the issues and creating solutions. Our voices must be heard and 
respected in order to achieve the best possible outcome. 
 

2. Safety must be protected so that everyone can participate.  We will model respect for 
individual identity including gender identity, cultural safety, and celebration of diversity. 
 

3. We are deeply grateful to be on working and playing on the ancestral, traditional, and 
unceded territory of the Syilx Nation. Our interactions will be based on recognition of the 
impact of colonization, our responsibility to uphold the principles of truth and reconciliation, 
equity, and respect for Indigenous voices. 
  

4. The meaningful participation and sustainable involvement of young people, in shared 
decisions on matters which affect their lives and those of their community, is essential to 
creating viable solutions and supports they are needed now and others may need in the 
future. 

 
5. Thoughtful decision-making, considering multiple perspectives and best practices, will help 

guide our solutions. Solutions will emerge from a good understanding of the scope of the 
issue and thinking together about our community. 

 
In practice, this will look like: 

  

• Making sure the voices of youth mirror the diversity of our community.  

• Working to reduce barriers to participation including meeting people in the places that 
feel safe for them. 

• Conveying information and ideas in ways that include all participants and respect their 
ways of learning and processing information. 

• Acknowledging that trauma is likely part of the experience for many youth 
experiencing housing insecurity and homelessness. We resolve to do no further harm 
in our interactions and to apply a trauma-informed lens. 

-124-



 

P
ag

e3
6

 

• Taking individual and collective responsibility for supporting a shared experience that 
demonstrates respect for one another, welcomes opinions and ideas, and seeks to 
understand rather than judge. 

  

Appendix C 

List of Organizations Interviewed 

RCMP Liaison Officers 

South Okanagan Women in Need Society 

Pathways Addictions Resource Society 

United Way 

School District 67 

Interior Health 

Ooknakane Friendship Centre 

ASK Wellness Society 

South Okanagan Similkameen Brain Injury Society 

Penticton & District Society for Community Living 

Foundry Penticton 

South Okanagan Immigrant and Community Services Society 

Ministry for Children and Family Development 

Okanagan College, Penticton Campus 

Okanagan Boys and Girls Clubs 

Bridge Youth and Family Services 

OneSky Community Resources Society 

BC Housing 

Away Home Kelowna 

Away Home Kamloops 

Canadian Mental Health Association 

 

 

 

-125-



 

P
ag

e3
7

 

 

 

 

Appendix D 
 

 

 

  

-126-



 

P
ag

e3
8

 

 

 

Appendix E 

 

Next Steps 

As a community, we will prevent and end youth homelessness in Penticton by working 
to achieve these objectives: 

·      Meaningfully engaging youth voice (decision-making, development of solutions) 

·      Creating and maintaining a strong, community leadership structure 

·      Implementing effective prevention strategies 

·      Creating a continuum of housing options for youth 

·      Increasing intra-partner collaboration 

·      Educating and enhancing awareness 

·      Implementing evidence-based and trauma-informed practices 

·      Increasing access to a range of services and supports 

·      Increasing support for families with at-risk youth 

·      Using data and evaluation to inform our actions 

  

Meaningfully engaging youth voice (decision-making, development of solutions) 

Proposed specific actions   
Short Term ·      Create real opportunities for youth voice in all 

initiatives and activities – ensure seats at decision-
making tables and/or other ways that youth want to 
participate 

·      Support youth to design and deliver presentations to 
local, regional, & provincial government entities and 
other organizations,  about the gaps in services and 
needs 

-127-



 

P
ag

e3
9

 

·      Provide honoraria for all forms of youth participation 
in collaborative work 

Medium Term ·      Create opportunities for youth to develop skills that 
support their capacity and success (employment, 
housing, accessing services, etc.). This could include 
initiatives such as a speakers’ bureau and writing 
support. 

Long Term ·      Develop and implement strategies to ensure self 
determination for youth in making their housing 
decisions including targeted mentoring supports 

  

Creating and maintaining a strong, community leadership structure 

Proposed specific actions   
Short Term ·      Establish leadership on youth housing & homelessness 

within 100 More Homes structure 
·      Establish a youth homelessness table within the 100 

More Homes structure to inform decision making 
across partners, including the City of Penticton, 
School District 67, and Provincial agencies and 
ministries confirming leadership structure for 
reporting and decision making responsibilities. 

·      Embed a collective impact approach, including 
providing training to the community partnership to 
apply the elements of this social action approach 

Medium Term ·      Engage local and regional MCFD leadership to 
meaningfully participate in future planning with 
respect to initiatives to address youth homelessness 
and housing insecurity 

·      Work with City of Penticton to develop a role focused 
on youth and youth homelessness 

·      Establish process for regular reporting to City Council, 
other governments, and broader community on 
progress on youth homelessness initiatives 

Long Term ·      Work with the City of Penticton to develop a social 
policy framework for Penticton inclusive of youth 
homelessness as well as other social issues and 
needs. 

  

Implementing effective prevention strategies 

Proposed specific actions   

-128-



 

P
ag

e4
0

 

Medium Term ·      Engage in collaborative, school based prevention 
initiatives with School District 67 and community 
agencies (such as the Upstream Project) 

·      Create and implement school presentations to educate 
and enhance awareness for students on community 
based resources to support safety and well-being, 
including housing security 

·      Enhance awareness among school based partners on 
identifying signs of students who may be at-risk 

Long Term ·      Create and implement a shelter diversion strategy 
·      Explore the expansion of the “rent bank” for youth 

  

Creating a continuum of housing options for youth 

Proposed specific actions   
Short Term ·      Identify short term solutions for youth needing 

emergency housing 
·      Update the City of Penticton’s Official Community Plan 

(OCP) using a youth housing and homelessness lens 

Medium Term ·      Develop a specific plan and pathway to create a 
continuum of housing for youth, prioritizing 
emergency housing as the first step 

·      Identify and engage potential funding sources for 
support for long term housing plan (e.g. Orange Door, 
Catalyst Funding, BC Housing) 

·      Identify and engage local developers for support for 
long term housing to address youth housing needs 
and options 

·      Research expertise from other communities in 
developing plans for Penticton (e.g. Okanagan Boys 
and Girls Clubs, Away Home Kelowna, Away Home 
Kamloops) 

Long Term ·      Work with City of Penticton to ensure that new 
housing projects include options for youth 

  

  

Increasing intra-partner 
collaboration 

  

Proposed specific actions   

-129-



 

P
ag

e4
1

 

Short Term ·      Create a coordinated access table and triage system 
that all organizations and community resources have 
access to 

·      Educate front line staff and organizations, bylaw, and 
RCMP about how and where to direct at risk and 
homeless youth 

·      Establish a Youth-By-Name List to maintain real time 
information on individuals who are at risk of or 
homeless 

·      Develop a MOU between agencies and other partners, 
including an information sharing process, to support 
youth 

Medium Term ·      Activate broad based engagement with: 
o   local, multicultural organizations and community 

groups to provide information about available 
supports for at risk and homeless youth 

o   School District 67 
o   Interior Health 
o   First Nations Health Authority 
to support the development of partnerships on behalf of 
youth and access to services/supports 

Long Term ·      Strengthen linkages with youth homelessness 
initiatives throughout the interior, province, and 
nationally (e.g. Away Home Canada and provincial 
tables) 

·      Partner with First Nations communities to support 
culturally relevant supports for at risk youth 

·      Initiate personal support network building project to 
support at risk youth 

  

Educating and enhancing awareness 

Proposed specific actions   
Short Term and ongoing ·      Initiate and implement ongoing community awareness 

and understanding regarding the issue of youth 
homelessness in Penticton (e.g. reports, news 
articles, promotional campaigns, presentations) 

·      The City of Penticton should work with local youth to 
send this report to all applicable Provincial Ministers, 
Ministries and agencies outlining the community’s 
youth homelessness and housing priorities 

  

Implementing evidence-based and trauma informed practices 

-130-



 

P
ag

e4
2

 

Proposed specific actions   
Short Term ·      Expand harm reduction strategies targeted to meet 

youth needs 
·      Establish mentor program for youth at risk or 

experiencing homelessness 
·      Explore implementation of a local Duty to Assist 

framework [1] 

Medium Term ·      Develop and implement a plan to ensure all staff 
involved in providing services to youth who are or at 
risk of homelessness, have access to training on 
trauma informed practice 

·      Develop and implement a peer support system for 
professionals working in intervention services 

·      Utilize the Housing First for Youth (HR4Y) [2]model in 
planning 

Long Term ·      Ensure that housing options available for youth are 
low barrier (e.g. do not exclude youth who are using 
substances, have multiple complex needs, and have 
required supports available to them) 

  

[1] More info: 

https://awayhome.ca/2019/10/23/experiments-in-paradigm-shifting-how-service-design-can-inform-the-duty-to-assist-policy/ 

  

[2] More info: 

https://www.homelesshub.ca/HF4Y 

  

Increasing access to a range of services and supports 

Proposed specific actions   
Short Term ·      Map existing services and identify gaps where 

additional services are required 

Medium Term ·      Advocate for expanded resources to increase access to 
mental health supports available through Foundry 
Penticton 

·      Identify social work/case management process to 
follow and support youth (e.g. key contact or case 
manager) 

·      Enhance availability of peer support workers targeted 
to at risk youth and youth who are homeless 

-131-

https://word-edit.officeapps.live.com/we/wordeditorframe.aspx?WOPISrc=https://wopi.dropbox.com/wopi/files/SlN8o2jjWwoAAAAAAAAAAg&cloud_editor=word&dl=0&force_role=personal&rlkey=pnc3ctvaihhqcsd1cbdxi9rwg&ui=en-us#_ftn1
https://word-edit.officeapps.live.com/we/wordeditorframe.aspx?WOPISrc=https://wopi.dropbox.com/wopi/files/SlN8o2jjWwoAAAAAAAAAAg&cloud_editor=word&dl=0&force_role=personal&rlkey=pnc3ctvaihhqcsd1cbdxi9rwg&ui=en-us#_ftn2
https://word-edit.officeapps.live.com/we/wordeditorframe.aspx?WOPISrc=https://wopi.dropbox.com/wopi/files/SlN8o2jjWwoAAAAAAAAAAg&cloud_editor=word&dl=0&force_role=personal&rlkey=pnc3ctvaihhqcsd1cbdxi9rwg&ui=en-us#_ftnref1
https://awayhome.ca/2019/10/23/experiments-in-paradigm-shifting-how-service-design-can-inform-the-duty-to-assist-policy/
https://word-edit.officeapps.live.com/we/wordeditorframe.aspx?WOPISrc=https://wopi.dropbox.com/wopi/files/SlN8o2jjWwoAAAAAAAAAAg&cloud_editor=word&dl=0&force_role=personal&rlkey=pnc3ctvaihhqcsd1cbdxi9rwg&ui=en-us#_ftnref2
https://www.homelesshub.ca/HF4Y


 

P
ag

e4
3

 

·      Develop an afterhours outreach team and/or 
responsive process to connect with youth on the 
streets to provide emergency supports 

·      Establish designated youth emergency housing 
·      Develop process for informing youth about how help is 

available to them before their housing is no longer 
safe or available 

·      Provide training to teachers and others that work 
closely with youth to ensure they know where to 
send youth when students are in a housing problem 

·      Work together to recruit and retain staff providing 
consistent training opportunities for their interactions 
with youth who engage with their supports and 
services 

Long Term ·      Develop and implement skills development 
programming as part of the continuum of supports 
and services for youth 

·      Establish interagency methods to provide follow up 
supports and facilitate transitions into adulthood 

  

Increasing support for families with at-risk youth 

Proposed specific actions   
Short Term ·      Map out current supports for families and identify 

gaps/needs for additional supports 
·      Continue to promote available family support services 

throughout the community 

Medium Term ·      Seek funding for training for service providers on 
engaging family and natural supports 

·      Advocate for more funding for family support 
programs 

  

Using data and evaluation to inform our actions 

Proposed specific actions   
Medium Term ·      Develop a homelessness data collection and analysis 

plan 
·      Provide honoraria to youth when they  are asked to 

provide data or participate in data collection 
·      Embed OCAP principles in data collection 
·      Create data sharing agreements between 

organizations and common consent forms for sharing 

-132-



 

P
ag

e4
4

 

·      Develop appropriate data collection tools aligned with 
the data collection plan and guided by input from 
youth 

·      Design and implement methods for receiving and 
managing data on a regular schedule.  

Long Term ·      Create a repository for non-identifying data that can 
be accessed by community partners for advocacy and 
ongoing planning 

·      Explore formal partnerships with academics who are 
conducting research supportive of initiatives to 
address youth homelessness. 

 

 

 

[ 

-133-

https://word-edit.officeapps.live.com/we/wordeditorframe.aspx?WOPISrc=https://wopi.dropbox.com/wopi/files/SlN8o2jjWwoAAAAAAAAAAg&cloud_editor=word&dl=0&force_role=personal&rlkey=pnc3ctvaihhqcsd1cbdxi9rwg&ui=en-us#_ftnref1


 

 
Council Report 

 

   

 

 

Date: February 15, 2022 
To: Donny van Dyk, Chief Administrative Officer 
From: Cheryl Hardisty, Senior Executive Assistant  
 
Subject: 2022 Southern Interior Local Government Association (SILGA) Resolution   

 

Staff Recommendation 

THAT Council submit the following resolution regarding CAR type programs for consideration at the 2022 
SILGA Convention: 

WHEREAS Car 40 type programs, which aim to support the diversion of those suffering 
with mental health issues from the criminal justice system, and reduce patrol response 
and unnecessary hospital admissions, have been successful in a variety of formats 
across the Province since 1978;  

AND WHEREAS a Provincially integrated and sustainably funded Car 40 type program 
would provide consistency to communities seeking new ways to support the health 
and safety of their residents.  

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that UBCM request the Province support an 
integrated Car 40 type program with appropriate and sustainable funding.  

AND THAT Council direct staff to provide the resolution and background to the RDOS Board for their 
consideration of co-sponsorship.  

Strategic priority objective 

Community Safety: The City of Penticton will support a safe, secure and healthy community. 

Background 

SILGA considers resolutions from member local governments at its annual convention. Resolutions passed at 
the SILGA convention are submitted to the Union of BC Municipalities (UBCM) for consideration for its annual 
convention, and resolutions passed through UBCM are directed to the Province for response and form UBCM’s 
policy decision making. The resolution should be relative to regional issues and should not pertain to a finite 
local interest. The deadline for submission of resolutions is February 25, 2022. 

The 2022 Annual General Meeting and Convention is schedule to be held in Salmon Arm April 26 to April 29, 
2022.  

-134-



 
Council Report  Page 2 of 3 

Council expressed an interest in pursuing the Car Program in Penticton. Staff have reviewed the program and 
provide further background and recommendation in Attachment A for Council’s consideration.  

Attachments 

Attachment A – SILGA resolution regarding Provincial CAR Program 

Respectfully submitted, 

Cheryl Hardisty 
Senior Executive Assistant, CAO, Mayor and Council 

 

Concurrence  

Chief Administrative 
Officer 

 
DvD 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

-135-



 
Council Report  Page 3 of 3 

 

 

 

 

2022 SILGA Resolution  

Provincial CAR Program  

 

WHEREAS Car 40 type programs, which aim to support the diversion of those suffering 
with mental health issues from the criminal justice system, and reduce patrol response 
and unnecessary hospital admissions, have been successful in a variety of formats 
across the Province since 1978;  

AND WHEREAS a Provincially integrated and sustainably funded Car 40 type program 
would provide consistency to communities seeking new ways to support the health 
and safety of their residents.  

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that UBCM request the Province support an 
integrated Car 40 type program with appropriate and sustainable funding.  

Background 

Car Programs have been in place since 1978. In Vancouver, the programs have shown to reduce the need for 
patrol response and unnecessary hospital admissions, while connecting people in crisis to the appropriate 
services in the community. The Car Programs are not intended to be a cure all, but an additional resource to 
support the health and safety of citizens in our communities.  

A number of communities with established Car Programs have requested expansion of their programs or the 
introduction of a new program and are met with inconsistent responses from local health authorities. Such 
programs should be implemented and funded provincially not as one-off local programs. 

-136-



 

 
Council Report 

 

   

 

 

Date: February 15, 2022      File No:    RMS/585 Jermyn Ave 
To: Donny van Dyk, Chief Administrative Officer 
From: Steven Collyer, Planner II 
Address: 585 Jermyn Avenue 
 
Subject: Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 2022-10 
 Development Permit PL2021-9241 
 

Staff Recommendation 

THAT Council give first reading to “Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 2022-10”, a bylaw to rezone Lot B District 
Lot 249 Similkameen Division Yale District Plan 4224, located at 585 Jermyn Avenue, from R2 (Small Lot 
Residential) to RM2 (Low Density Multiple Housing); 

AND THAT Council forward “Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 2022-10” to the March 1, 2022 Public Hearing; 

AND THAT Council, prior to adoption of “Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 2022-10”, require that a road reserve 
covenant be registered with the Land Title Office for the purpose of securing: 

1. A 1.7m future road dedication along Government Street; and 
2. A 5.5m x 5.5m future road dedication corner cut at the southeast corner (Government Street and 

Jermyn Street) of the subject property. 

AND THAT Council, subject to adoption of “Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 2022-10”, approve “Development 
Permit PL2021-9241, for Lot B District Lot 249 Similkameen Division Yale District Plan 4224, located at 585 
Jermyn Avenue, a permit to allow the construction of a 3-unit cluster housing development. 

Strategic Priority Objective 

Community Vitality: The City of Penticton, guided by the Official Community Plan, will promote the 
economic wellbeing and vitality of the community.  

Proposal 

The property currently contains a single family dwelling with a secondary suite (total 2 units). The applicant 
is proposing to rezone the property to allow three units. The applicant is proposing to demolish the principal 
dwelling portion of the building and reconstruct a new dwelling unit. The applicant also intends to convert 
the garage on the main floor into another dwelling unit. The existing secondary suite would also remain as a 

-137-



 
Council Report  Page 2 of 14 

dwelling unit on the property. This proposal would result in a total of three units on the property and is 
described in the Zoning Bylaw as ‘cluster housing’. 

To facilitate the proposed cluster housing development, the applicant has requested to rezone the property 
from the R2 (Small Lot Residential) zone to the RM2 (Low Density Multiple Housing) zone. In addition, the 
proposed development is considered within the Multifamily Development Permit Area outlined by the 
Official Community Plan (OCP). As such, the applicant has applied for a development permit for approval of 
the form and character of the proposed development. The development permit is presented to Council 
concurrently with the rezoning application. 

Background 

The subject property is located at the corner of Jermyn Avenue 
and Government Street (Figure 1). The property contains a 
single detached home with a secondary suite, above an 
attached garage. The house was built in 1930 and the addition 
containing the secondary suite and garage was constructed in 
2015. Surrounding land uses are primarily residential, with a mix 
of single detached dwellings, duplexes, townhomes and 
apartments. Commercial uses are located further south along 
Government Street. 

The subject property is currently zoned R2 (Small Lot 
Residential) and is designated Ground Oriented Residential by 
the Official Community Plan (OCP).  

Financial Implication 

The applicant is responsible for the costs associated with the 
recommended road reserve covenant (more details below). 

Technical Review 

This application package was reviewed by the Technical 
Planning Committee, a group of internal staff who review planning applications. The committee is 
recommending that future road dedications be secured through agreement at this time in order to meet the 
City’s desired right-of-way width standards.  

There is a 1.7m wide road dedication identified along Government Street and an 8.5m x 8.5m corner cut 
identified at the intersection of Government Street and Jermyn Street. Through discussions, the applicant 
requested that the corner cut size be reduced to 5.5m x 5.5m, which staff have reviewed in detail with the 
desired road widths and visibility requirements, and ultimately agreed to. In this instance, staff are 
recommending that a road reserve covenant be registered on the property to account for these road 
dedications. A road reserve covenant is a legal agreement registered on title of the property which stipulates 
conditions for the City to obtain the road dedication in the future. Staff are recommending the road reserve 
covenant as opposed to taking the road dedication at this time. The reason for the road reserve covenant is 

Figure 1 - Property location map 

-138-



 
Council Report  Page 3 of 14 

to enable the City to obtain the dedication when the property redevelops at some point in the future and 
the existing buildings are removed. 

The committee also provided comments to the applicant which will apply at the future building permit 
stage, should the rezoning and development permit ultimately be approved. 

Development Statistics 

The following table outlines how the proposed development meets the applicable Zoning Bylaw 
regulations: 

 RM2 Zone Requirement  Provided on Plans 
Minimum Lot Width: 18 m 25.6 m * 
Minimum Lot Area: 540 m2 598 m2 * 
Maximum Lot Coverage: 40% 35% 
Maximum Density: 0.8 Floor Area Ratio (FAR) 0.47 FAR 

Vehicle Parking: 
1 parking space per dwelling unit 
Total: 3 parking spaces 

3 parking spaces provided, plus 
additional space in the garage 

Required Setbacks 
Front Yard (Jermyn Ave): 
Exterior Side Yard (east): 
Interior Side Yard (west): 
Rear Yard (north): 

 
3.0 m 
4.5 m 
1.5 m 
6.0 m 

 
4.7 m 
4.25 m ** 
1.5 m 
6.0 m 

Maximum Building Height 12 m 7.2 m 

Other Information: 

* The minimum lot width and minimum lot area requirements do not 
apply to existing lots, only when a subdivision or lot line adjustment is 
proposed. 
** Existing setback permitted through the current R2 zoning, will be 
considered non-conforming for the existing structure when rezoned to 
RM2. 

Analysis 

Rezoning 

The OCP designation for the property is ‘Ground Oriented Residential’. The Ground Oriented Residential 
designation supports medium-density residential areas with multi-family developments where each unit has 
an exterior door. Anticipated building forms include duplexes with suites, cluster housing, townhouses and 
bareland stratas (Figure 2). The proposed three-unit cluster housing development is consistent with this OCP 
designation. 

-139-



 
Council Report  Page 4 of 14 

 

Figure 2 - Excerpt from Official Community Plan, Land Use Designations table 

Staff consider that the proposed rezoning will allow for development that is supported by the following OCP 
policies: 

OCP Policy 4.1.1.1 Focus new residential development in or adjacent to existing developed areas. 

OCP Policy 4.1.3.1 Encourage more intensive “infill” residential development in areas close to the 
Downtown, to employment, services and shopping, through zoning amendments 
for housing types compatible with existing neighbourhood character, with form 
and character guided by Development Permit Area Guidelines. 

OCP Policy 4.1.3.5 Ensure through the use of zoning that more-intensive forms of residential 
development are located close to transit and amenities, such as parks, schools and 
shopping. 

OCP Policy 4.1.3.6 Require amenity areas in all multifamily and mixed-use projects through 
regulations in the Zoning Bylaw. 

OCP Policy 4.1.4.1 Work with the development community – architects, designers and builders – to 
create new residential developments that are attractive, high-quality, energy 
efficient, appropriately scaled and respectful of their context. 

OCP Policy 4.1.5.1 Recognize that some traditionally single-family neighbourhoods will see 
intensification as the city grows, but ensure that new forms of residential 
development are compatible with the neighbourhood in scale and design, and are 
appropriately located (e.g., greater density close to collector roads, services and 
amenities). 

OCP Policy 4.1.5.3 Use Multifamily and Intensive Residential Development Permit Area Guidelines to 
direct, through the City’s approval processes, the character and feel of residential 
neighbourhoods, as well as guide water and energy conservation. 

OCP Policy 4.2.7.8 Ensure new residential developments provide an appropriate amount of parking 
for residents and their guests. 

Staff consider that the proposal is an appropriately-scaled development in an area of the community that 
has been identified for a moderate increase in density by the OCP. As shown above, there are many OCP 
policies that encourage compatible infill development in areas close to services, parks, and shops to 
encourage walkability and active transportation. Staff note that this property is within walking distance of 
two schools, Kiwanis Park, the KVR trail, and shops and services along Government Street. 

-140-



 
Council Report  Page 5 of 14 

Given that there is adequate policy through the OCP to support the proposal, staff recommend Council give 
first reading to “Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 2022-10”, and forward the bylaw to the March 1, 2022 Public 
Hearing to give the public an opportunity to provide their comments and feedback. 

Development Permit 

The proposed development is included in the Multifamily Residential Development Permit Area, which is 
established in the OCP to enhance neighbourhoods and create sensitive transitions in scale and density by 
addressing issues such as privacy, landscape retention, and neighbourliness. Staff have completed a 
development permit analysis (Attachment ‘D’) that shows how the development conforms to the applicable 
design guidelines. The applicant also provided a development permit analysis with their submission 
(Attachment ‘F’). 

The proposed development has been designed with the OCP policies in mind and with consideration of 
impacts on neighbouring property owners and landscaping. As such, staff recommend that Council consider 
approving the Development Permit, subject to the adoption of the related Zoning Amendment Bylaw. 

Alternate Recommendations 

Council may consider the proposed rezoning is not consistent with the OCP or is not appropriate for this 
property. If this is the case, Council should deny first reading of the Zoning Amendment Bylaw. Staff are 
recommending against this option, as the proposed development is consistent with the OCP policies, 
provides the housing form anticipated by the Ground Oriented Residential future land use designation, and 
is a similar scale to other multifamily developments in the surrounding area. 

1. THAT Council deny first reading of “Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 2022-10”. 

Attachments 

Attachment A – Zoning Map 
Attachment B – Official Community Plan Map 
Attachment C – Images of Subject Property 
Attachment D – Development Permit Analysis (staff)  
Attachment E – Letter of Intent 
Attachment F - Development Permit Analysis (applicant) 
Attachment G – Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 2022-10 
Attachment H –Draft Development Permit PL2021-9241 

 

Respectfully submitted, 

Steven Collyer, RPP, MCIP 
Planner II 

 

 

 

Director of 
Development Services 

Chief Administrative 
Officer 

BL 
 

DvD 
 

-141-



 
Council Report  Page 6 of 14 

Attachment A – Zoning Map

 

  

-142-



 
Council Report  Page 7 of 14 

Attachment B – Official Community Plan Map

 
  

-143-



 
Council Report  Page 8 of 14 

Attachment C – Images of Subject Property 

Subject Property: 
585 Jermyn Ave 

Jermyn Ave 

Existing home 
to be replaced 

Addition to remain 

-144-



 
Council Report  Page 9 of 14 

 
  

Upper level 
suite to remain 

Lower level to be 
converted to suite 

Subject Property: 
585 Jermyn Ave 

Existing home 
to be replaced 

-145-



 
Council Report  Page 10 of 14 

Attachment D – Development Permit Analysis (staff) 
 

Development Permit Analysis 

The proposed development is located within the Multifamily Residential Development Permit Area. The 
following analysis demonstrates how the proposal is aligned with the applicable design guidelines. 

Guideline G1 Prior to site design, analysis shall be undertaken to identify significant on-site and off-
site opportunities and constraints, including built and natural elements (e.g., 
structures, slopes and drainage, significant landscape features, etc.). 

 • Site analysis was completed to review elevations on the property, in order to 
confirm the allowable height under the federal airport zoning regulations. 

Guideline G5 Siting of buildings should support strong street definition by minimizing front yard 
setbacks while sensitively transitioning to neighbouring building setbacks. 

 • The proposed rebuilt home will have a minimal front yard setback to Jermyn Ave 
at 4.7m. The portion of the existing building to remain is already located close to 
Government St and is not proposed to change. 

Guideline G13 Entry to ground-level residential units should be no more than 1.8m above the grade 
of adjacent public sidewalks and walkways. 

 • Entrances to the two ground-level units are within a couple of steps from grade. 
The entrance to the existing upper level suite is a staircase which leads down 
towards Government St. The entries and patios/decks beside them provide a 
connection to the two adjacent streets. 

Guideline G16 Site and building access must prioritize pedestrian movement, minimize conflict 
between various modes of transportation and optimize use of space… 

 • Each unit entry is located adjacent to its parking area, reducing the walking 
distance necessary from the parking space to the entry. Paved connections to 
both Jermyn Ave and Government St are provided on the plans, for access to 
sidewalks and the surrounding neighbourhood. 

Guideline G21 Orientation of buildings should face public spaces (e.g., street and lane) with a 
preference for ground-oriented types (e.g., a front door for everyone and every 
business). 
• The development faces both street facades with individual ground-oriented 

entries. The existing entry to the upper level suite in the retained portion of the 
building will remain as-is. 

Guideline G23 Articulation of building mass should include horizontal (minor) setbacks and 
stepbacks (along upper storeys) to provide visual interest and enrich the pedestrian 
experience. Balconies and/or cantilever upper floors may be considered as a means 
to breaking up massing while promoting overlook and/or weather protection. 

 • The development design includes covered patios and covered decks, as well as 
minor projections to create visual interest. These features also assist with breaking 
up massing while providing weather projection and visual overlook onto the 
adjacent streets and private rear yard. 

-146-



 
Council Report  Page 11 of 14 

Guideline G24 Street-facing units should utilize a layering of elements – including but not limited to 
street-facing entries, stairs, stoops, porches, patios and landscape elements – to 
create transitions between the public (e.g., street, sidewalk), semi-public (e.g., 
walkway, ramp, stair), semi-private (e.g., stoop, balcony) and private areas. 

 • As shown on the development plans, the rebuilt dwelling unit will have a covered 
porch facing the street, as well as a small patio area to provide a semi-private 
amenity space. The other two units each have amenity spaces and covered entries 
to provide weather protection and interesting architectural features on the 
exterior of the building. 

Guideline G26 Building designs should minimize impacts on the privacy of adjacent dwellings, 
including private open spaces. 

 • The two-storey design helps maintain privacy and reduce the height and 
therefore the amount of visual overlook onto neighbouring properties. There are 
two small windows on the west façade which is closer to the neighbour (1.5m to 
property line), and more windows on the north façade where there is a greater 
setback (6m) to the adjacent neighbour. This physical separation assists with 
maintaining privacy for the neighbour to the north. 

Guideline G29 Development should orient windows, porches, balconies and patios toward the 
public realm, allowing for casual overlook of parks, open spaces, and parking areas. 

 • Large windows, main unit entries, and covered patios and entries face towards 
Jermyn Ave, providing a connection to the street and allowing for casual overlook 
onto this public space. 

Guideline G33 Water conservation and plant maintenance: xeriscaping, irrigation & mulching. 
• The landscape plan shows a primarily xeriscaping approach to ground cover, as 

the applicant proposed groundcover which requires minimal watering. The 
proposed trees, planting boxes, and other landscaping will be irrigated to ensure 
their long-term success. 

Guidelines G34 & 35 Tree retention & tree planting… 

 • The landscaping plan shows three trees on different sides of the property. One 
mature elm tree will remain on site, and the applicant will plant two new trees 
(Attachment ‘F’). 

Guideline G43 Address both fronting streets in a pedestrian-friendly way, preferably with pedestrian 
entrances and/or windows on both facades. 
• The proposed development provides both pedestrians entrances and windows 

on the street-facing sides of the building. Paved connections to sidewalks on both 
streets are provided. This design improves the connectivity between the 
development and the streetscapes of both Jermyn Ave and Government St. 

Guideline G58 Garbage/recycling areas and other similar structures should be located out of public 
view in areas that mitigate noise impacts and which do not conflict with pedestrian 
traffic. 

 • The garbage/recycling bins will be stored in the garage for the rebuilt home, and 
adjacent to each unit entry for the other two units. The storage areas will not 
impede pathways on the site to each entry. 

-147-



 
Council Report  Page 12 of 14 

Guideline MF1 All multifamily development should incorporate community amenity spaces that 
provide opportunity for recreation and play and address the needs of all age groups 
likely to reside within the development. 

 • Each unit will have a dedicated amenity space. The rebuilt home has a covered 
patio at the front with two new decks and patio in the rear yard. The proposed 
main level unit in the retained portion of the building will have a covered patio 
facing towards Jermyn Ave. The existing upper unit in the retained portion of the 
building already has a covered deck at the entry, and will have a patio space 
added at-grade. These amenity spaces provide semi-private outdoor space for 
future residents. The property is located close to Kiwanis Park on Edmonton Ave 
and the recreation amenities at KVR Middle School and Penticton Secondary 
School, as well as the KVR, for residents to access outdoor spaces. 

 
  

-148-



 
Council Report  Page 13 of 14 

Attachment E – Letter of Intent 

 
  

-149-



 
Council Report  Page 14 of 14 

Attachment F - Development Permit Analysis (applicant)

 
 

-150-



 
 

Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 2022-10  Page 1 of 1 
 

The Corporation of the City of Penticton 
 

Bylaw No. 2022-10 
  

A Bylaw to Amend Zoning Bylaw 2021-01 
 
WHEREAS the Council of the City of Penticton has adopted a Zoning Bylaw pursuant the Local Government Act; 
 
AND WHEREAS the Council of the City of Penticton wishes to amend Zoning Bylaw No. 2021-01;  
 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the Municipal Council of the City of Penticton, in open meeting 
assembled, hereby ENACTS AS FOLLOWS: 
  
1. Title: 
 
 This bylaw may be cited for all purposes as “Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 2022-10”. 
 
2. Amendment: 
 

2.1 Zoning Bylaw No. 2021-01 is hereby amended as follows: 
 

Rezone Lot B District Lot 249 Similkameen Division Yale District Plan 4224, located at 585 
Jermyn Avenue, from R2 (Small Lot Residential) to RM2 (Low Density Multiple Housing).  

 
2.2 Schedule ‘A’ attached hereto forms part of this bylaw. 
 
READ A FIRST time this  day of , 2022 

A PUBLIC HEARING was held this  day of , 2022 

READ A SECOND time this  day of , 2022 

READ A THIRD time this  day of , 2022 

ADOPTED this  day of , 2022 

 
Notice of intention to proceed with this bylaw was published on the __ day of ____, 2022 and the __ day of ____, 2022 in the Penticton 
Herald newspaper, pursuant to Section 94 of the Community Charter.  
 
 
 

      
 John Vassilaki, Mayor 
      

 
 

       
 Angie Collison, Corporate Officer 

-151-



City of Penticton – Schedule ‘A’

Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 2022-10

Date: _________________ Corporate Officer:  _______________________________

Rezone 585 Jermyn Avenue
From R2 (Small Lot Residential) To RM2 (Low Density Multiple Housing)

-152-



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

DRAFT

DP PL2021-9241 Page 1 of 9

-153-



 

 

 

 

 

DRAFT

DP PL2021-9241 Page 2 of 9

-154-



JERMYN AVENUE

G
O

V
E

R
N

M

E
N

T
 
S

T
R

E
E

T

3

1

8

"

378.00

3
7
7
.
0
0

3

7

7

.

0

0

80.60' (24.567 m)

87.70' (26.731 m)

7
6

.
1

0
'
 
(
2

3
.
1

9
5

 
m

)

1
0

.
3

0
'

(
3

.
1

3
9

 
m

)

6
6
.
1
8
'
 
(
2
0
.
1
7
2
 
m

)

1
9
'
-
5

1

8

"

1
9
'
-
9

1 8

"
 
T

O
 
N

E
W

 
H

O
M

E

F
O

U
N

D
A

T
I
O

N
 
W

A
L
L

1
9
'
-
8

1 4

"

[
6
.
0
0
 
m

]

1
4
'-
9

1

8

"

[4
.5

0
 m

]

9
'
-
1
0

1

8

"

[
3
.
0
0
 
m

]

4'-11"

[1.50 m]

5'-2

7

8

"

1
5
'
-
4

1

8

"

LOT B

PLAN 4224

LOT A

PLAN 4224

LOT 4

PLAN 1030

1
3
'-
1
1

3

8

"

[4
.2

5
 m

]

SIDEWALK

S
I
D

E
W

A
L
K

P

O

W

E

R

 

P

O

L

E

EXISTING 96 FT²

STORAGE SHED

NOT ATTACHED

TO HOUSE (TO

REMAIN)

SUITE 3 TO REMAIN:

EXISTING SECONDARY

SUITE w/ 2nd FLOOR

DECK (104 ft², 9.7 m²),

SUITE 1, NEW:

PROPOSED NEW

2 STOREY RESIDENCE

w/ BASEMENT

EXISTING SECONDARY

SUITE WAS BUILT 3-1/8"

OVER THE NORTH

SETBACK LINE

EXISTING SECONDARY

SUITE WAS BUILT 9-7/8"

OVER THE EASTERN

SETBACK LINE

9

7

8

"

3 SHADED AREAS REPRESENT

AMENITY SPACES FOR EACH

SUITE (20m² MIN). SUITES 1 & 3

HAVE DECKS INCLUDED.

F
I
R

E
 
H

Y
D

R
A

N
T

 
A

C
R

O
S

S

J
E

R
M

Y
N

 
(
A

P
P

R
O

X
 
5
4
'
 
A

W

A
Y

)

3'-3"

DECK

16'-0" x 8'-0"

128 ft² (11.9 m²)

14'-0"

SIDEWALK

20'-0"

PROPOSED CITY CORNER

CUT FOR FUTURE ROAD

WIDENING (5.5 m x 5.5 m)

23'-0"

1
0
'
-
0
"

NEW

CONCRETE

DRIVEWAY

-   ENTRANCE / EXIT

LEGEND:

NEW CONCRETE

STAIRS UP FROM

SUNKEN PATIO

NEW WOOD STAIR

DOWN FROM MAIN

FLOOR RAISED DECK

EXISTING WOOD

STAIRS FROM

DECK DOWN

TO GRADE

EXISTING

BLACK GRAVEL

DRIVEWAY

SUITE 2: TO REMAIN

PROPOSED SECONDARY

SUITE ON MAIN FLOOR,

NO DECK ATTACHED

J

E

R

M

Y

N

 
A

V

E

F

O

R

E

S

T

B

R

O

O

K

 
A

V

E

G

A

H

A

N

 
A

V

E

G

O

V

E

R

N

M

E

N

T

 
S

T

R

E

E

T

K

V

R

 
M

I
D

D

L

E

S

C

H

O

O

L

P

E

N

T

I
C

T

O

N

H

I
G

H

 
S

C

H

O

O

L

B

I
R

D

 
S

T

R

E

E

T

LEGAL ADDRESS:  - 

LOT B, PLAN 4224, DL 249

CIVIC ADDRESS:

    -  585 JERMYN AVENUE, PENTICTON, BC

P.I.D. NUMBER:

      002-468-891

ZONED: - 

R2 - SMALL LOT RESIDENTIAL

PROPOSED

RE-ZONING:

    -  RM2 - LOW DENSITY MULTIPLE HOUSING

LOT SIZE:

    -  6440 FT²  (598.3 m²)

BUILDING FOOTPRINT:

    -  2256 FT² (209.68 m²)

LOT COVERAGE:

    -  2256 / 6440  = 35.0%

F.A.R.:

    -  MAIN FLOOR (BOTH SIDES): 1731 FT² 

-  UPPER FLOOR (BOTH SIDES): 1316 FT²

-  EXTERIOR SHED: 96 FT²

   TOTAL AREA OF HOUSE: 3143 FT²

-  3143 / 6440 = 48.8 %

SETBACK PROPOSED

SETBACKS:

    - FRONT YARD: 3.0 m 4.674 m

- REAR YARD: 6.0 m 6.022 m

- SIDE YARD (INTERIOR): 1.5 m 1.575 m

- SIDE YARD (EXTERIOR): 4.5 m 4.251 m

BUILDING HEIGHT:

 -  24'-9" (7.54 m)

- MAX ALLOWED UNDER AIRPORT HEIGHT 

  RESTRICTION: 25'-8" (7.82m)

DRAWING LIST:

A1 - SITE AND LOCATION PLANS

A2 - BASEMENT PLAN

A3 - MAIN FLOOR PLAN

A4 - 2nd FLOOR PLAN

A5 - SOUTH & WEST ELEVATIONS

A6 - NORTH & EAST ELEVATIONS

A7 - BUILDING SECTION

L1 - LANDSCAPE PLAN

COPYRIGHT

C

sheet no.

dwg. title

r
e

v
i
s
i
o

n

d
a

t
e

n
o

.

1

J
u

l
 
1

3
,
 
2

0
2

1
I
s
s
u

e
d

 
F

o
r
 
P

r
e

l
i
m

i
n

a
r
y
 
R

e
v
i
e

w

project title

R
A

 
H

I
C

K
S

O
N

D
E

S
I
G

N
 
S

E
R

V
I
C

E
S

1
6
7
 
B

R
A

C
E

W
E

L
L
 
D

R
.

P
E

N
T

I
C

T
O

N
,
 
B

C
.
 
 
V

2
A

 
6
X

1

(
2
5
0
)
 
4
9
3
-
2
4
3
8
 
t
e
l

(
2
5
0
)
 
4
8
8
-
2
6
5
1
 
c
e
l

r
a
h
i
c
k
s
o
n
@

s
h
a
w

.
c
a

A1

1 SITE PLAN

SCALE: 3/16" = 1'-0"

be reproduced without written permission from the designer. 

property of RA Hickson Design Services.  No part of this drawing may 

This drawing and design are copyrighted and considered intellectual 

HALVERSON RESIDENCE

585 JERMYN AVE

PENTICTON, BC

PROPOSED NEW REBUILD

SITE PLAN

A1

2 LOCATION PLAN

SCALE: NTS

2

J
u

l
 
3

0
,
 
2

0
2

1
I
s
s
u

e
d

 
F

o
r
 
R

e
v
i
e

w

3

A
u

g
 
2

3
,
 
2

0
2

1
A

d
d

e
d

 
S

u
i
t
e

 
L

a
y
o

u
t
 
t
o

 
P

l
a

n
s

4

N
o

v
 
4

,
 
2

0
2

1
I
s
s
u

e
d

 
F

o
r
 
R

e
v
i
e

w

5

N
o

v
 
1

5
,
 
2

0
2

1
I
s
s
u

e
d

 
F

o
r
 
R

e
v
i
e

w

6

D
e

c
 
2

3
,
 
2

0
2

1
I
s
s
u

e
d

 
F

o
r
 
D

e
v
e

l
o

p
m

e
n

t
 
P

e
r
m

i
t

Sch
edule 'A

' 

DP PL2021-9241
DP PL2021-9241 Page 3 of 9

-155-



HWT

OFFICE

9'-0" x 6'-10"

U
P

1
5

1
4

1
3

1
2

1
1

1
0

9
8

7
6

5
4

3
2

1

48x32

REC ROOM

8'-5" x 12'-3"

UP TO GRADE

1234567

CRAWLSPACE

6'-0" x 14'-8"

30x80

WET BAR
FRIDGE

32x80

SUNKEN

PATIO

14'-8" x 7'-4"

48x42

5
'
-
4
"

1
0
'
-
9

1 2

"
1
5
'
-
1
0

1 2

"

4
"
S

T
E

P

5
'
-
0
"

22'-2

3

4

" 19'-9

1

4

"

4
'
-
4
"

3
2
'
-
0
"

8
'
-
0
"

16'-0"

2'-5

1

2

"

8
"

4
'
-
4
"

8
"

3
'
-
0
"

10'-7"

13'-0" 9'-0"

C
R

A
W

L
S

P
A

C
E

A
C

C
E

S
S

FLUSH BEAM

FURN

ROUGH-IN

BATH

9'-0" x 5'-0"

3
0
x
8
0

3
6
x
8
2

F
R

E
N

C
H

6'-11

1

2

"

1

A9

1

A9

EXISTING SLAB AND FOUNDATION

FOR ADDITION (SUITES 2 & 3)

5'-7

1

2

"

5'-0" 19'-8"

5'-8

1

2

"

6'-0" 22'-0"

64'-0"

2'-0"

SUNKEN PATIO WALLS

STOP 8" ABOVE GRADE

4
'
-
0
"

42'-0"

14'-0" 8'-8" 19'-4"

NEW SUITE 1 -

MAIN RESIDENCE

NEW SUITE 2 -

RENTAL UNIT

FLUSH BEAM

REC ROOM

16'-9" x 29'-7"

19'-10"

8
'
-
0
"

3
2
'
-
0
"

9
'
-
0
"

COPYRIGHT

C

sheet no.

dwg. title

r
e

v
i
s
i
o

n

d
a

t
e

n
o

.

1

J
u

l
 
1

3
,
 
2

0
2

1
I
s
s
u

e
d

 
F

o
r
 
P

r
e

l
i
m

i
n

a
r
y
 
R

e
v
i
e

w

project title

R
A

 
H

I
C

K
S

O
N

D
E

S
I
G

N
 
S

E
R

V
I
C

E
S

1
6
7
 
B

R
A

C
E

W
E

L
L
 
D

R
.

P
E

N
T

I
C

T
O

N
,
 
B

C
.
 
 
V

2
A

 
6
X

1

(
2
5
0
)
 
4
9
3
-
2
4
3
8
 
t
e
l

(
2
5
0
)
 
4
8
8
-
2
6
5
1
 
c
e
l

r
a
h
i
c
k
s
o
n
@

s
h
a
w

.
c
a

A2

1 BASEMENT PLAN - 940 ft²

SCALE: 1/4" = 1'-0"

be reproduced without written permission from the designer. 

property of RA Hickson Design Services.  No part of this drawing may 

This drawing and design are copyrighted and considered intellectual 

HALVERSON RESIDENCE

585 JERMYN AVE

PENTICTON, BC

PROPOSED NEW REBUILD

BASEMENT FLOOR PLAN

2

J
u

l
 
3

0
,
 
2

0
2

1
I
s
s
u

e
d

 
F

o
r
 
R

e
v
i
e

w

3

A
u

g
 
2

3
,
 
2

0
2

1
A

d
d

e
d

 
S

u
i
t
e

 
L

a
y
o

u
t
 
t
o

 
P

l
a

n
s

4

N
o

v
 
4

,
 
2

0
2

1
I
s
s
u

e
d

 
F

o
r
 
R

e
v
i
e

w

5

N
o

v
 
1

5
,
 
2

0
2

1
I
s
s
u

e
d

 
F

o
r
 
R

e
v
i
e

w

6

D
e

c
 
2

3
,
 
2

0
2

1
I
s
s
u

e
d

 
F

o
r
 
D

e
v
e

l
o

p
m

e
n

t
 
P

e
r
m

i
t

Sch
edule 'A

' 

DP PL2021-9241
DP PL2021-9241 Page 4 of 9

-156-



MASTER

BEDROOM

10'-11" x 13'-6"

ENSUITE

5'-6" x 13'-6"

LAUNDRY

6'-11" x 5'-1"

PANTRY

8'-1" x 3'-11"

30x80

32x80

30x80

POCKET

3
6
x
8
2

F
R

E
N

C
H

48x36 60x48

123456

48x48

96x60

COVERED

PATIO

14'-0" x 9'-0"

DOUBLE

GARAGE

18'-11" x 20'-11"

LIVING AREA

14'-6" x 13'-3"

DINING

AREA

14'-6" x 8'-0"

36x80

POCKET

KITCHEN

10'-9" x 13'-6"

4
8
x
8
0

B
I
F

O
L
D

S

4
8
x
8
0

B
I
F

O
L
D

S

3
2
x
8
0

3
2
x
8
0

QUEEN 66x36

DROP-IN

66x36

SHOWER

R
O

D
 
&

 
S

H
E

L
F

SHELF

OVER

D/W

EXTENDED EATING BAR

S
T

O
V

E

w
/

H
O

O
D

F
R

I
D

G
E

R
O

D
 
&

S
H

E
L
F

3
0
x
6
0

3
0
x
6
0

D
N

1
2

3
4

5
6

7

U
P

16'x7'

OVERHEAD

DOOR

3
6
x
8
4
 
w

/

S
I
D

E
L
I
T

E

1
2

3
4

5
6

7

LINE OF

FLOOR

ABOVE

3
6
x
8
0

B
I
F

O
L
D

COVERED

DECK

16'-0" x 8'-0"

64'-0"

42'-0" 22'-0"

3
2
'
-
0
"

4
'
-
0
"

5
'
-
0
"

ROD & SHELF

60x80

BIFOLDS

ROD & SHELF

60x80

BIFOLDS

22'-6

1

2

" 19'-5

1

2

"

22'-0"

3
2
'
-
0
"

4
'
-
4
"

5
'
-
0
"

8
'
-
0
"

16'-0"

1
'
-
1
"

1

A9

1

A9

2
1
'
-
5

1 2

"
1
4
'
-
6

1 2

"

16'-1" 5'-11"

HWT

S
T

A
C

K
I
N

G

W
/
D

SHELF

OVER

BEDROOM 1

10'-2" x 10'-3"

BEDROOM 2

10'-2" x 9'-11"

KITCHEN

10'-2" x 10'-9"

LIVING RM

10'-2" x 11'-0"

DINING RM

10'-2" x 9'-2"

48x42

48x42

4
8
x
4
2

32x82

12345

DN TO

GRADE

L
I
N

E
N

L
I
N

E
N

3
2
x
8
0

3
2
x
8
0

9
6
x
4
8

6
0
x
8
0

B
I
F

O
L
D

S

1
2
'
-
0
"

8'-0"

NEW SUITE 1 -

MAIN RESIDENCE

NEW SUITE 2 -

RENTAL UNIT

4'-0"

EXISTING LEANTO SHED

USED FOR CONSTRUCTION

TOOLS AND SUPPLIES

UNATTACHED

STORAGE

SHED

7'-3" x 11'-3"

NEW ROOF OVER FRONT

OF EXISTING ADDITION

64'-0"

CONCRETE EXIT STAIRS

UP FROM SUNKEN PATIO

WOOD STAIRS DOWN

FROM RAISED DECK

WOOD STAIRS DOWN

FROM RAISED DECK

67

COPYRIGHT

C

sheet no.

dwg. title

r
e

v
i
s
i
o

n

d
a

t
e

n
o

.

1

J
u

l
 
1

3
,
 
2

0
2

1
I
s
s
u

e
d

 
F

o
r
 
P

r
e

l
i
m

i
n

a
r
y
 
R

e
v
i
e

w

project title

R
A

 
H

I
C

K
S

O
N

D
E

S
I
G

N
 
S

E
R

V
I
C

E
S

1
6
7
 
B

R
A

C
E

W
E

L
L
 
D

R
.

P
E

N
T

I
C

T
O

N
,
 
B

C
.
 
 
V

2
A

 
6
X

1

(
2
5
0
)
 
4
9
3
-
2
4
3
8
 
t
e
l

(
2
5
0
)
 
4
8
8
-
2
6
5
1
 
c
e
l

r
a
h
i
c
k
s
o
n
@

s
h
a
w

.
c
a

A3

1 MAIN FLOOR PLAN - SUITE 1 =1027 ft² + 429 ft² GARAGE, SUITE 2 = 704 ft²

SCALE: 1/4" = 1'-0"

be reproduced without written permission from the designer. 

property of RA Hickson Design Services.  No part of this drawing may 

This drawing and design are copyrighted and considered intellectual 

HALVERSON RESIDENCE

585 JERMYN AVE

PENTICTON, BC

PROPOSED NEW REBUILD

MAIN FLOOR PLAN

2

J
u

l
 
3

0
,
 
2

0
2

1
I
s
s
u

e
d

 
F

o
r
 
R

e
v
i
e

w

3

A
u

g
 
2

3
,
 
2

0
2

1
A

d
d

e
d

 
S

u
i
t
e

 
L

a
y
o

u
t
 
t
o

 
P

l
a

n
s

4

N
o

v
 
4

,
 
2

0
2

1
I
s
s
u

e
d

 
F

o
r
 
R

e
v
i
e

w

5

N
o

v
 
1

5
,
 
2

0
2

1
I
s
s
u

e
d

 
F

o
r
 
R

e
v
i
e

w

6

D
e

c
 
2

3
,
 
2

0
2

1
I
s
s
u

e
d

 
F

o
r
 
D

e
v
e

l
o

p
m

e
n

t
 
P

e
r
m

i
t

Sch
edule 'A

' 

DP PL2021-9241
DP PL2021-9241 Page 5 of 9

-157-



12345678910111213

BEDROOM 2

9'-8" x 11'-1"

BEDROOM 3

9'-7" x 9'-11"

MEDIA/TOY

ROOM

13'-1" x 13'-6"

OPEN TO

BELOW

48x48

D
N

1
2

3
4

5
6

7
8

9
1

0
1

1
1

2
1

3
1

4
1

5

GARAGE

BELOW

R
O

D
 
&

 
S

H
E

L
F

R
O

D
 
&

 
S

H
E

L
F

32x80

3
2
x
8
0

32x80

3
0
x
8
0

3
6
x
8
0

B
I
F

O
L
D

3
6
x
8
0

B
I
F

O
L
D

24x80

BIFOLD

BATH

5'-0" x 9'-11"

5' TUB &

SHOWER

ROD & SHELF

60x80

BIFOLDS

72x82 PATIO DR

DECK

16'-0" x 8'-0"

LINEN

8
'
-
0
"

1
4
'
-
6

1 2

"
1
7
'
-
5

1

2

"

4
'
-
0
"

48x42

48x42

LIVING

ROOM

BEDROOM 1BEDROOM 2

BATH

KITCHEN

W.I.C.

4
8
x
3
6

8
4
x
4
8

NEW SUITE 1 -

MAIN RESIDENCE

EXISTING SUITE 3 -

RENTAL UNIT

DECK

13'-0" x 8'-0"

48x48

64'-0"

42'-0" 22'-0"

16'-0"

10'-2

1

2

"

5'-4

1

4

"

4'-0"

15'-6"

5'-5

1

2

"

6'-4"

13'-7

1

4

"7'-6

1

2

"

1

A9

1

A9

1

2

x

4

8

1

2

x

4

8

48x42

COPYRIGHT

C

sheet no.

dwg. title

r
e

v
i
s
i
o

n

d
a

t
e

n
o

.

1

J
u

l
 
1

3
,
 
2

0
2

1
I
s
s
u

e
d

 
F

o
r
 
P

r
e

l
i
m

i
n

a
r
y
 
R

e
v
i
e

w

project title

R
A

 
H

I
C

K
S

O
N

D
E

S
I
G

N
 
S

E
R

V
I
C

E
S

1
6
7
 
B

R
A

C
E

W
E

L
L
 
D

R
.

P
E

N
T

I
C

T
O

N
,
 
B

C
.
 
 
V

2
A

 
6
X

1

(
2
5
0
)
 
4
9
3
-
2
4
3
8
 
t
e
l

(
2
5
0
)
 
4
8
8
-
2
6
5
1
 
c
e
l

r
a
h
i
c
k
s
o
n
@

s
h
a
w

.
c
a

A4

1 UPPER FLOOR PLAN - SUITE 1 =612 ft², SUITE 3 = 704 ft²

SCALE: 1/4" = 1'-0"

be reproduced without written permission from the designer. 

property of RA Hickson Design Services.  No part of this drawing may 

This drawing and design are copyrighted and considered intellectual 

HALVERSON RESIDENCE

585 JERMYN AVE

PENTICTON, BC

PROPOSED NEW REBUILD

UPPER FLOOR PLAN

2

J
u

l
 
3

0
,
 
2

0
2

1
I
s
s
u

e
d

 
F

o
r
 
R

e
v
i
e

w

3

A
u

g
 
2

3
,
 
2

0
2

1
A

d
d

e
d

 
S

u
i
t
e

 
L

a
y
o

u
t
 
t
o

 
P

l
a

n
s

4

N
o

v
 
4

,
 
2

0
2

1
I
s
s
u

e
d

 
F

o
r
 
R

e
v
i
e

w

5

N
o

v
 
1

5
,
 
2

0
2

1

6

D
e

c
 
2

3
,
 
2

0
2

1
I
s
s
u

e
d

 
F

o
r
 
D

e
v
e

l
o

p
m

e
n

t
 
P

e
r
m

i
t

I
s
s
u

e
d

 
F

o
r
 
R

e
v
i
e

w

Sch
edule 'A

' 

DP PL2021-9241
DP PL2021-9241 Page 6 of 9

-158-



EXISTING 2 STOREY

DUPLEX, BEYOND

-7'-10 7/8" T/O

BASEMENT SLAB -

375.541

17'-11 5/8" U/S

OF ROOF - 383.123

1'-0" T/O MAIN

FLOOR - 377.951

9'-10 7/8" TOP

OF 2nd FLOOR -

380.666

385.26 MAX AIRPORT HEIGHT

-0'-8" GRADE - 377.448

12

5

BROWNSTONE VINYL

SIDING TO MATCH

EXISTING ADDITION

NEW COVERED WOOD DECK

OVER SUNKEN PATIO

2ND FLOOR DECK OVER

MAIN FLOOR DECK

GRADE AT FAR

END OF HOUSE

(BEYOND)

-3'-11 

3

8

" GRADE - 376.443

NEW ROOF PEAK - 384.683

12

5

-7'-10 7/8" T/O BASEMENT

SLAB - 375.541

17'-11 5/8" U/S

OF ROOF - 383.123

1'-0" T/O MAIN

FLOOR - 377.951

9'-10 7/8" TOP OF 2nd

FLOOR - 380.666

2
3
'
-
8
"

[
7
.
2
1
 
m

]

21'-8" TOP OF

EXISTING ROOF - 384.250

MAX AIRPORT HEIGHT - 385.26

-0'-8" GRADE - 377.443

0'-0" T/O ADDITION MAIN

FLOOR & T/O OF GARAGE

SLAB - 377.646

NEW CONSTRUCTION EXISTING CONSTRUCTION

NEW ROOF OVER EXISTING

ADDITION ENTRY. POST TO

CLEAR FUTURE1.4 m  ROADWAY

ALLOWANCE. ROOF EXTENDS

FROM LIVING ROOM ROOF.

NEW ROOF PEAK - 384.683

-0'-6" GRADE - 377.494

2
5
'
-
8
"

[
7
.
8
2
 
m

]

EXISTING LEANTO SHED

UNATTACHED TO HOME

NEW SHINGLES IN GABLE TO

MATCH NEW CONSTRUCTION

COPYRIGHT

C

sheet no.

dwg. title

r
e

v
i
s
i
o

n

d
a

t
e

n
o

.

1

J
u

l
 
1

3
,
 
2

0
2

1
I
s
s
u

e
d

 
F

o
r
 
P

r
e

l
i
m

i
n

a
r
y
 
R

e
v
i
e

w

project title

R
A

 
H

I
C

K
S

O
N

D
E

S
I
G

N
 
S

E
R

V
I
C

E
S

1
6
7
 
B

R
A

C
E

W
E

L
L
 
D

R
.

P
E

N
T

I
C

T
O

N
,
 
B

C
.
 
 
V

2
A

 
6
X

1

(
2
5
0
)
 
4
9
3
-
2
4
3
8
 
t
e
l

(
2
5
0
)
 
4
8
8
-
2
6
5
1
 
c
e
l

r
a
h
i
c
k
s
o
n
@

s
h
a
w

.
c
a

A5

2 LEFT SIDE (WEST) ELEVATION

SCALE: 1/4" = 1'-0"

be reproduced without written permission from the designer. 

property of RA Hickson Design Services.  No part of this drawing may 

This drawing and design are copyrighted and considered intellectual 

HALVERSON RESIDENCE

585 JERMYN AVE

PENTICTON, BC

PROPOSED NEW REBUILD

SOUTH & WEST ELEVATIONS

A5

1 FRONT (SOUTH) ELEVATION

SCALE: 1/4" = 1'-0"

2

J
u

l
 
3

0
,
 
2

0
2

1
I
s
s
u

e
d

 
F

o
r
 
R

e
v
i
e

w

3

A
u

g
 
2

3
,
 
2

0
2

1
A

d
d

e
d

 
S

u
i
t
e

 
L

a
y
o

u
t
 
t
o

 
P

l
a

n
s

4

N
o

v
 
4

,
 
2

0
2

1
I
s
s
u

e
d

 
F

o
r
 
R

e
v
i
e

w

5

N
o

v
 
1

5
,
 
2

0
2

1

6

D
e

c
 
2

3
,
 
2

0
2

1
I
s
s
u

e
d

 
F

o
r
 
D

e
v
e

l
o

p
m

e
n

t
 
P

e
r
m

i
t

I
s
s
u

e
d

 
F

o
r
 
R

e
v
i
e

w

Sch
edule 'A

' 

DP PL2021-9241
DP PL2021-9241 Page 7 of 9

-159-



NEW LIVING ROOM

ROOF BEYOND

NEW ROOF PEAK

CONNECTION TO

EXISTING ROOF

EXISTING 2ND FLOOR

DECK TO GRADE

NEW LIVING ROOM

ROOF EXTENDS OVER

EXISTING ADDITION

SOUTH FACE

-7'-10 7/8" T/O BASEMENT

17'-11 5/8" U/S

OF ROOF - 383.123

1'-0" T/O MAIN

FLOOR - 377.951

9'-10 7/8" TOP OF 2nd

FLOOR - 380.666

MAX AIRPORT HEIGHT - 385.26

NEW ROOF PEAK - 384.683

21'-8" TOP OF

EXISTING ROOF - 384.250

0'-0" T/O ADDITION MAIN

FLOOR & T/O OF GARAGE

SLAB - 377.646

-0'-6" GRADE - 377.494

-0'-6" GRADE - 377.494

EXISTING 2 STOREY

DUPLEX

NEW RETAINING WALL

EXTENDS NORTH FROM

BUILDING TO PICK

UP REAR DRIVEWAY

EXISTING 2nd FLOOR

DECK & WOOD STAIR

BROWNSTONE VINYL

SIDING TO MATCH

EXISTING ADDITION

NEW CONSTRUCTIONEXISTING CONSTRUCTION

NEW COVERED WOOD DECK

OVER SUNKEN PATIO

CONCRETE STAIRS

FROM SUNKEN PATIO

2ND FLOOR DECK OVER

MAIN FLOOR DECK

VENTED SOFFIT

BEYOND

-7'-10 7/8" T/O BASEMENT

SLAB - 375.541

17'-11 5/8" U/S

OF ROOF - 383.123

1'-0" T/O MAIN

FLOOR - 377.951

9'-10 7/8" TOP OF 2nd

FLOOR - 380.666

MAX AIRPORT HEIGHT - 385.26

NEW ROOF PEAK - 384.683

21'-8" TOP OF

EXISTING ROOF - 384.250

0'-0" T/O ADDITION MAIN

FLOOR & T/O OF GARAGE

SLAB - 377.646

WINDOW WELL

IF REQUIRED

-3'-11 

3

8

" GRADE - 376.443

-0'-8" GRADE - 377.443

GRADE AT FRONT

OF HOUSE (BEYOND)

GRADE AT REAR

OF HOUSE

STEP CONCRETE AS

REQUIRED FOR GRADE

NEW 36" GUARDRAIL WHERE

DROP IS 24" OR MORE

COPYRIGHT

C

sheet no.

dwg. title

r
e

v
i
s
i
o

n

d
a

t
e

n
o

.

1

J
u

l
 
1

3
,
 
2

0
2

1
I
s
s
u

e
d

 
F

o
r
 
P

r
e

l
i
m

i
n

a
r
y
 
R

e
v
i
e

w

project title

R
A

 
H

I
C

K
S

O
N

D
E

S
I
G

N
 
S

E
R

V
I
C

E
S

1
6
7
 
B

R
A

C
E

W
E

L
L
 
D

R
.

P
E

N
T

I
C

T
O

N
,
 
B

C
.
 
 
V

2
A

 
6
X

1

(
2
5
0
)
 
4
9
3
-
2
4
3
8
 
t
e
l

(
2
5
0
)
 
4
8
8
-
2
6
5
1
 
c
e
l

r
a
h
i
c
k
s
o
n
@

s
h
a
w

.
c
a

A6

2 RIGHT SIDE (EAST) ELEVATION

SCALE: 1/4" = 1'-0"

be reproduced without written permission from the designer. 

property of RA Hickson Design Services.  No part of this drawing may 

This drawing and design are copyrighted and considered intellectual 

HALVERSON RESIDENCE

585 JERMYN AVE

PENTICTON, BC

PROPOSED NEW REBUILD

NORTH & EAST ELEVATIONS

A6

1 REAR (NORTH) ELEVATION

SCALE: 1/4" = 1'-0"

2

J
u

l
 
3

0
,
 
2

0
2

1
I
s
s
u

e
d

 
F

o
r
 
R

e
v
i
e

w

3

A
u

g
 
2

3
,
 
2

0
2

1
A

d
d

e
d

 
S

u
i
t
e

 
L

a
y
o

u
t
 
t
o

 
P

l
a

n
s

4

N
o

v
 
4

,
 
2

0
2

1
I
s
s
u

e
d

 
F

o
r
 
R

e
v
i
e

w

5

N
o

v
 
1

5
,
 
2

0
2

1

6

D
e

c
 
2

3
,
 
2

0
2

1
I
s
s
u

e
d

 
F

o
r
 
D

e
v
e

l
o

p
m

e
n

t
 
P

e
r
m

i
t

I
s
s
u

e
d

 
F

o
r
 
R

e
v
i
e

w

Sch
edule 'A

' 

DP PL2021-9241
DP PL2021-9241 Page 8 of 9

-160-



Sch
edule 'A

' 

DP PL2021-9241

DP PL2021-9241 Page 9 of 9

-161-



 

 
Council Report 

 

   

  

 

Date: February 15, 2022     File No:    RMS/726 Westminster Ave W 
To: Donny van Dyk, Chief Administrative Officer 
From: Steven Collyer, Planner II 
Address: 726, 738, 750 Westminster Avenue West 
 
Subject: Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 2021-38 

Development Variance Permit PL2021-9045 
 

Staff Recommendation 

THAT Council rescind third reading of “Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 2021-38”; 

AND THAT Council give third reading as amended to “Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 2021-38”, excluding 
762 Westminster Avenue West from the zoning change; 

AND THAT Council, subject to adoption of “Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 2021-38”, approve amended 
“Development Variance Permit PL2021-9045” excluding 762 Westminster Avenue West from the variance 
permit; 

AND THAT Council direct staff to issue amended “Development Variance Permit PL2021-9045”. 

Background 

On October 19, 2021, staff introduced “Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 2021-38” to Council. The Zoning 
Bylaw amendment was to rezone 726, 738, 750 and 762 Westminster Avenue West from R2 (Small Lot 
Residential) zone to RM2 (Low Density Multiple Housing) zone, in order to build one fourplex on each of the 
four subject properties.  

A Public Hearing was held on November 2, 2021, for “Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 2021-38”. One letter of 
concern was received and one member of the public gave comments in support. Following the Public 
Hearing, Council voted to give 2nd and 3rd readings to “Zoning Amendment Bylaw 2021-38”, with adoption 
subject to the following three conditions: 

• A 0.9m road dedication across the frontage of the subject properties be registered with the Land 
Title Office; 

• A 3.5m by 3.5m corner cut in the southeast corner of 726 Westminster Avenue West be registered 
with the Land Title Office; and 

-162-



 
Council Report  Page 2 of 2 

• Payment for the installation of a new fire hydrant ($9,500). 

After the Public Hearing on November 2, 2021, the applicant is now requesting that “Zoning Amendment 
Bylaw 2021-38” be amended to remove 762 Westminster Avenue West from the proposed rezoning at this 
time. They intend to proceed with development on three lots at this time, rather than four, because 
ownership transfer has been delayed on the one property. 

No permits for 762 Westminster Avenue West will be issued at this time as it will be excluded from the 
Zoning Bylaw Amendment. The zoning for that property will remain unchanged at this time. Should 
rezoning be proposed in the future for 762 Westminster Avenue West, a separate application will be 
considered by Council. 

The road dedication and lane corner cut have now been registered with the Land Title Office, and the fire 
hydrant fee has been paid. The required conditions have all been met and staff are recommending approval 
of the rezoning for the three properties, as well as approval of the related Development Variance Permit 
PL2021-9045, Development Permit PL2021-9046, Development Permit PL2021-9047, and Development 
Permit PL2021-9048, and that Council direct staff to issue those permits.  

Attachments 

Attachment A – Amended “Development Variance Permit PL2021-9045” 
Attachment B – Amended “Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 2021-38” 
 

Respectfully submitted, 

 

Steven Collyer, RPP, MCIP 
Planner II 

 

Concurrence  

Director of 
Development Services 

Chief Administrative 
Officer 

BL 
 

DvD 
 

 

-163-



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

DRAFT

DVP PL2021-9045 Page 1 of 3

-164-



 

 

 

DRAFT

DVP PL2021-9045 Page 2 of 3

-165-



K-3398SAN RAPHAELTOILETSVITREOUS CHINA K-3398SAN RAPHAELTOILETSVITREOUS CHINA

K-3398SAN RAPHAELTOILETSVITREOUS CHINA

K-3398SAN RAPHAELTOILETSVITREOUS CHINA

K-3398SAN RAPHAELTOILETSVITREOUS CHINA K-3398SAN RAPHAELTOILETSVITREOUS CHINA

K-3398SAN RAPHAELTOILETSVITREOUS CHINA

K-3398SAN RAPHAELTOILETSVITREOUS CHINA

K-3398SAN RAPHAELTOILETSVITREOUS CHINA K-3398SAN RAPHAELTOILETSVITREOUS CHINA

K-3398SAN RAPHAELTOILETSVITREOUS CHINA

K-3398SAN RAPHAELTOILETSVITREOUS CHINA

K-3398SAN RAPHAELTOILETSVITREOUS CHINA K-3398SAN RAPHAELTOILETSVITREOUS CHINA

K-3398SAN RAPHAELTOILETSVITREOUS CHINA

K-3398SAN RAPHAELTOILETSVITREOUS CHINA

s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s

s
s

s
s

s
s

s
s

s
s

s
s

s
s

s
s

s
s

s
s

s
s

s
s

s
s

s
s

s
s

s
s

s
s

s
s

s
s

s
s

s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s

s

s

s

s

s

s

s

s

s

s

ssssssssss

s
s

s
s

s

s

s

s

s

s
s

s
s

w

w w w w w w w w w w w w w w w w w w w w w w w w w w w w w w w w w w w w w w w w w w w w w w w w w w w w w w w w w w w w w w w w w w w w w w w w w w w

w
w

w
w

w
w

w
w

w
w

w
w

w
w

w
w

w w w w w w w w w w w w w w w w w w w w w

w

w

w

w

w

w

w

w

w

s
s

s
s

s
s

s
s

s

s
s

s
s

s
s

s
s

s

s
s

s
s

s
s

s
s

s

s

s

s

s

s

s

s

s

s

s
s

s
s

s
s

s
s

               architect aaa, aibc, oaa, mraic

JMArchitecture Inc.

PENTICTON TOWNHOMES

COPYRIGHT & USE OF DOCUMENTS

DESIGNING THE WORLD AS IT SHOULD BE

SITE PLAN

SCALE 1 : 200

Sch
edule 'A

' 

DVP PL2021-9045
DVP PL2021-9045 Page 3 of 3

-166-

AutoCAD SHX Text
VISITOR 

AutoCAD SHX Text
VISITOR 

AutoCAD SHX Text
VISITOR 

AutoCAD SHX Text
VISITOR 

AutoCAD SHX Text
2 

AutoCAD SHX Text
1 

AutoCAD SHX Text
5 

AutoCAD SHX Text
4 

AutoCAD SHX Text
3 

AutoCAD SHX Text
2 

AutoCAD SHX Text
1 

AutoCAD SHX Text
5 

AutoCAD SHX Text
4 

AutoCAD SHX Text
3 

AutoCAD SHX Text
2 

AutoCAD SHX Text
1 

AutoCAD SHX Text
5 

AutoCAD SHX Text
4 

AutoCAD SHX Text
3 

AutoCAD SHX Text
2 

AutoCAD SHX Text
1 

AutoCAD SHX Text
342.98

AutoCAD SHX Text
343.50

AutoCAD SHX Text
343.50

AutoCAD SHX Text
343.50

AutoCAD SHX Text
343.50

AutoCAD SHX Text
343.08

AutoCAD SHX Text
343.08

AutoCAD SHX Text
343.07

AutoCAD SHX Text
343.07

AutoCAD SHX Text
343.07

AutoCAD SHX Text
343.19

AutoCAD SHX Text
343.57

AutoCAD SHX Text
343.57

AutoCAD SHX Text
343.57

AutoCAD SHX Text
343.57

AutoCAD SHX Text
343.62

AutoCAD SHX Text
343.62

AutoCAD SHX Text
343.62

AutoCAD SHX Text
343.62

AutoCAD SHX Text
343.62

AutoCAD SHX Text
343.62

AutoCAD SHX Text
343.62

AutoCAD SHX Text
343.62

AutoCAD SHX Text
343.19

AutoCAD SHX Text
343.04

AutoCAD SHX Text
343.07

AutoCAD SHX Text
342.90

AutoCAD SHX Text
343.20

AutoCAD SHX Text
343.18

AutoCAD SHX Text
343.22

AutoCAD SHX Text
343.18

AutoCAD SHX Text
343.13

AutoCAD SHX Text
343.18

AutoCAD SHX Text
343.14

AutoCAD SHX Text
343.17

AutoCAD SHX Text
Electric Pole 

AutoCAD SHX Text
3 

AutoCAD SHX Text
4 

AutoCAD SHX Text
W E S T M I N S T E R       A V E N U E

AutoCAD SHX Text
343.16

AutoCAD SHX Text
Project Name

AutoCAD SHX Text
REV

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
DESCRIPTION

AutoCAD SHX Text
BY

AutoCAD SHX Text
START DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROJECT No

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CH.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE

AutoCAD SHX Text
DO NOT SCALE DRAWING

AutoCAD SHX Text
Architects Seal

AutoCAD SHX Text
Project No.

AutoCAD SHX Text
2021-15

AutoCAD SHX Text
REV No.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Digital Certificate

AutoCAD SHX Text
This document has been electronically certified with his document has been electronically certified with is document has been electronically certified with s document has been electronically certified with  document has been electronically certified with document has been electronically certified with ocument has been electronically certified with cument has been electronically certified with ument has been electronically certified with ment has been electronically certified with ent has been electronically certified with nt has been electronically certified with t has been electronically certified with  has been electronically certified with has been electronically certified with as been electronically certified with s been electronically certified with  been electronically certified with been electronically certified with een electronically certified with en electronically certified with n electronically certified with  electronically certified with electronically certified with lectronically certified with ectronically certified with ctronically certified with tronically certified with ronically certified with onically certified with nically certified with ically certified with cally certified with ally certified with lly certified with ly certified with y certified with  certified with certified with ertified with rtified with tified with ified with fied with ied with ed with d with  with with ith th h digital certificate and encryption technology authorized igital certificate and encryption technology authorized gital certificate and encryption technology authorized ital certificate and encryption technology authorized tal certificate and encryption technology authorized al certificate and encryption technology authorized l certificate and encryption technology authorized  certificate and encryption technology authorized certificate and encryption technology authorized ertificate and encryption technology authorized rtificate and encryption technology authorized tificate and encryption technology authorized ificate and encryption technology authorized ficate and encryption technology authorized icate and encryption technology authorized cate and encryption technology authorized ate and encryption technology authorized te and encryption technology authorized e and encryption technology authorized  and encryption technology authorized and encryption technology authorized nd encryption technology authorized d encryption technology authorized  encryption technology authorized encryption technology authorized ncryption technology authorized cryption technology authorized ryption technology authorized yption technology authorized ption technology authorized tion technology authorized ion technology authorized on technology authorized n technology authorized  technology authorized technology authorized echnology authorized chnology authorized hnology authorized nology authorized ology authorized logy authorized ogy authorized gy authorized y authorized  authorized authorized uthorized thorized horized orized rized ized zed ed d by the AIBC and APEGBC.  The authoritative original y the AIBC and APEGBC.  The authoritative original  the AIBC and APEGBC.  The authoritative original the AIBC and APEGBC.  The authoritative original he AIBC and APEGBC.  The authoritative original e AIBC and APEGBC.  The authoritative original  AIBC and APEGBC.  The authoritative original AIBC and APEGBC.  The authoritative original IBC and APEGBC.  The authoritative original BC and APEGBC.  The authoritative original C and APEGBC.  The authoritative original  and APEGBC.  The authoritative original and APEGBC.  The authoritative original nd APEGBC.  The authoritative original d APEGBC.  The authoritative original  APEGBC.  The authoritative original APEGBC.  The authoritative original PEGBC.  The authoritative original EGBC.  The authoritative original GBC.  The authoritative original BC.  The authoritative original C.  The authoritative original .  The authoritative original   The authoritative original  The authoritative original The authoritative original he authoritative original e authoritative original  authoritative original authoritative original uthoritative original thoritative original horitative original oritative original ritative original itative original tative original ative original tive original ive original ve original e original  original original riginal iginal ginal inal nal al l had been transmitted to you in electronic form.  Any ad been transmitted to you in electronic form.  Any d been transmitted to you in electronic form.  Any  been transmitted to you in electronic form.  Any been transmitted to you in electronic form.  Any een transmitted to you in electronic form.  Any en transmitted to you in electronic form.  Any n transmitted to you in electronic form.  Any  transmitted to you in electronic form.  Any transmitted to you in electronic form.  Any ransmitted to you in electronic form.  Any ansmitted to you in electronic form.  Any nsmitted to you in electronic form.  Any smitted to you in electronic form.  Any mitted to you in electronic form.  Any itted to you in electronic form.  Any tted to you in electronic form.  Any ted to you in electronic form.  Any ed to you in electronic form.  Any d to you in electronic form.  Any  to you in electronic form.  Any to you in electronic form.  Any o you in electronic form.  Any  you in electronic form.  Any you in electronic form.  Any ou in electronic form.  Any u in electronic form.  Any  in electronic form.  Any in electronic form.  Any n electronic form.  Any  electronic form.  Any electronic form.  Any lectronic form.  Any ectronic form.  Any ctronic form.  Any tronic form.  Any ronic form.  Any onic form.  Any nic form.  Any ic form.  Any c form.  Any  form.  Any form.  Any orm.  Any rm.  Any m.  Any .  Any   Any  Any Any ny y printed version can be relied upon as a true copy of rinted version can be relied upon as a true copy of inted version can be relied upon as a true copy of nted version can be relied upon as a true copy of ted version can be relied upon as a true copy of ed version can be relied upon as a true copy of d version can be relied upon as a true copy of  version can be relied upon as a true copy of version can be relied upon as a true copy of ersion can be relied upon as a true copy of rsion can be relied upon as a true copy of sion can be relied upon as a true copy of ion can be relied upon as a true copy of on can be relied upon as a true copy of n can be relied upon as a true copy of  can be relied upon as a true copy of can be relied upon as a true copy of an be relied upon as a true copy of n be relied upon as a true copy of  be relied upon as a true copy of be relied upon as a true copy of e relied upon as a true copy of  relied upon as a true copy of relied upon as a true copy of elied upon as a true copy of lied upon as a true copy of ied upon as a true copy of ed upon as a true copy of d upon as a true copy of  upon as a true copy of upon as a true copy of pon as a true copy of on as a true copy of n as a true copy of  as a true copy of as a true copy of s a true copy of  a true copy of a true copy of  true copy of true copy of rue copy of ue copy of e copy of  copy of copy of opy of py of y of  of of f the original when supplied by the original author, he original when supplied by the original author, e original when supplied by the original author,  original when supplied by the original author, original when supplied by the original author, riginal when supplied by the original author, iginal when supplied by the original author, ginal when supplied by the original author, inal when supplied by the original author, nal when supplied by the original author, al when supplied by the original author, l when supplied by the original author,  when supplied by the original author, when supplied by the original author, hen supplied by the original author, en supplied by the original author, n supplied by the original author,  supplied by the original author, supplied by the original author, upplied by the original author, pplied by the original author, plied by the original author, lied by the original author, ied by the original author, ed by the original author, d by the original author,  by the original author, by the original author, y the original author,  the original author, the original author, he original author, e original author,  original author, original author, riginal author, iginal author, ginal author, inal author, nal author, al author, l author,  author, author, uthor, thor, hor, or, r, , bearing images of the professional seal and digital earing images of the professional seal and digital aring images of the professional seal and digital ring images of the professional seal and digital ing images of the professional seal and digital ng images of the professional seal and digital g images of the professional seal and digital  images of the professional seal and digital images of the professional seal and digital mages of the professional seal and digital ages of the professional seal and digital ges of the professional seal and digital es of the professional seal and digital s of the professional seal and digital  of the professional seal and digital of the professional seal and digital f the professional seal and digital  the professional seal and digital the professional seal and digital he professional seal and digital e professional seal and digital  professional seal and digital professional seal and digital rofessional seal and digital ofessional seal and digital fessional seal and digital essional seal and digital ssional seal and digital sional seal and digital ional seal and digital onal seal and digital nal seal and digital al seal and digital l seal and digital  seal and digital seal and digital eal and digital al and digital l and digital  and digital and digital nd digital d digital  digital digital igital gital ital tal al l certificate, or when printed from the digitally certified ertificate, or when printed from the digitally certified rtificate, or when printed from the digitally certified tificate, or when printed from the digitally certified ificate, or when printed from the digitally certified ficate, or when printed from the digitally certified icate, or when printed from the digitally certified cate, or when printed from the digitally certified ate, or when printed from the digitally certified te, or when printed from the digitally certified e, or when printed from the digitally certified , or when printed from the digitally certified  or when printed from the digitally certified or when printed from the digitally certified r when printed from the digitally certified  when printed from the digitally certified when printed from the digitally certified hen printed from the digitally certified en printed from the digitally certified n printed from the digitally certified  printed from the digitally certified printed from the digitally certified rinted from the digitally certified inted from the digitally certified nted from the digitally certified ted from the digitally certified ed from the digitally certified d from the digitally certified  from the digitally certified from the digitally certified rom the digitally certified om the digitally certified m the digitally certified  the digitally certified the digitally certified he digitally certified e digitally certified  digitally certified digitally certified igitally certified gitally certified itally certified tally certified ally certified lly certified ly certified y certified  certified certified ertified rtified tified ified fied ied ed d electronic file provided.lectronic file provided.ectronic file provided.ctronic file provided.tronic file provided.ronic file provided.onic file provided.nic file provided.ic file provided.c file provided. file provided.file provided.ile provided.le provided.e provided. provided.provided.rovided.ovided.vided.ided.ded.ed.d..

AutoCAD SHX Text
Principal: Joe M. Minten Building 4 - Main Floor  uilding 4 - Main Floor  ilding 4 - Main Floor  lding 4 - Main Floor  ding 4 - Main Floor  ing 4 - Main Floor  ng 4 - Main Floor  g 4 - Main Floor   4 - Main Floor  4 - Main Floor   - Main Floor  - Main Floor   Main Floor  Main Floor  ain Floor  in Floor  n Floor   Floor  Floor  loor  oor  or  r  15243 - 91st Avenue 5243 - 91st Avenue 243 - 91st Avenue 43 - 91st Avenue 3 - 91st Avenue  - 91st Avenue - 91st Avenue  91st Avenue 91st Avenue 1st Avenue st Avenue t Avenue  Avenue Avenue venue enue nue ue e Surrey, B.C.  V3R 8P8 urrey, B.C.  V3R 8P8 rrey, B.C.  V3R 8P8 rey, B.C.  V3R 8P8 ey, B.C.  V3R 8P8 y, B.C.  V3R 8P8 , B.C.  V3R 8P8  B.C.  V3R 8P8 B.C.  V3R 8P8 .C.  V3R 8P8 C.  V3R 8P8 .  V3R 8P8   V3R 8P8  V3R 8P8 V3R 8P8 3R 8P8 R 8P8  8P8 8P8 P8 8 604 - 583 2003 - T 04 - 583 2003 - T 4 - 583 2003 - T  - 583 2003 - T - 583 2003 - T  583 2003 - T 583 2003 - T 83 2003 - T 3 2003 - T  2003 - T 2003 - T 003 - T 03 - T 3 - T  - T - T  T T jmarch@shaw.ca - Emarch@shaw.ca - Earch@shaw.ca - Erch@shaw.ca - Ech@shaw.ca - Eh@shaw.ca - E@shaw.ca - Eshaw.ca - Ehaw.ca - Eaw.ca - Ew.ca - E.ca - Eca - Ea - E - E- E EE

AutoCAD SHX Text
Penticton B.C.

AutoCAD SHX Text
726, 738, 750, 762 WESTMINSTER AVE. WEST

AutoCAD SHX Text
Mr. Parm Kandola PMP - 780 217 7800 

AutoCAD SHX Text
Mundi Hotel Enterprises Inc. Kamloops BC 

AutoCAD SHX Text
Client:

AutoCAD SHX Text
This plan and design are considered a 'Consultant's instrument of service' and shall be considered the exclusive property of the Consultant, JM Architecture Inc. and may not be used or reproduced without the consent of Mr. Joe M. Minten, architect aibc, aaa, mraic. This instrument of service shall only be used once and solely for this project; no further use shall be deemed a right by anyone without the written consent of the Consultant. No project renovations, additions or alterations shall stem from the use of this document, in any possible form of reproduction, without the written consent of the Consultant. This document may not be sold or transferred without written agreement from the Consultant.  Only the client may retain copies of this document, and only for the purpose of information and reference as it was initially intended. Any change or manipulation of this document is  change or manipulation of this document is change or manipulation of this document is  or manipulation of this document is or manipulation of this document is  manipulation of this document is manipulation of this document is  of this document is of this document is  this document is this document is  document is document is  is is expressly forbidden; this  document must remain  forbidden; this  document must remain forbidden; this  document must remain  this  document must remain this  document must remain   document must remain  document must remain document must remain  must remain must remain  remain remain completely intact at all times.  The Consultant will not  intact at all times.  The Consultant will not intact at all times.  The Consultant will not  at all times.  The Consultant will not at all times.  The Consultant will not  all times.  The Consultant will not all times.  The Consultant will not  times.  The Consultant will not times.  The Consultant will not   The Consultant will not  The Consultant will not The Consultant will not  Consultant will not Consultant will not  will not will not  not not be responsible for changes to this document by  responsible for changes to this document by responsible for changes to this document by  for changes to this document by for changes to this document by  changes to this document by changes to this document by  to this document by to this document by  this document by this document by  document by document by  by by others.

AutoCAD SHX Text
07

AutoCAD SHX Text
05-11-2021

AutoCAD SHX Text
2021-15

AutoCAD SHX Text
RR

AutoCAD SHX Text
JMM

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE

AutoCAD SHX Text
DP-100

AutoCAD SHX Text
60971

AutoCAD SHX Text
60971

AutoCAD SHX Text
15243

AutoCAD SHX Text
15243

AutoCAD SHX Text
15242

AutoCAD SHX Text
15242

AutoCAD SHX Text
15243

AutoCAD SHX Text
15243

AutoCAD SHX Text
15243

AutoCAD SHX Text
15243

AutoCAD SHX Text
36573

AutoCAD SHX Text
36573

AutoCAD SHX Text
900

AutoCAD SHX Text
900

AutoCAD SHX Text
3460

AutoCAD SHX Text
3460

AutoCAD SHX Text
20534

AutoCAD SHX Text
20534

AutoCAD SHX Text
11675

AutoCAD SHX Text
11675

AutoCAD SHX Text
1756

AutoCAD SHX Text
1756

AutoCAD SHX Text
12217

AutoCAD SHX Text
12217

AutoCAD SHX Text
1269

AutoCAD SHX Text
1269

AutoCAD SHX Text
1491

AutoCAD SHX Text
1491

AutoCAD SHX Text
12217

AutoCAD SHX Text
12217

AutoCAD SHX Text
1533

AutoCAD SHX Text
1533

AutoCAD SHX Text
1483

AutoCAD SHX Text
1483

AutoCAD SHX Text
12217

AutoCAD SHX Text
12217

AutoCAD SHX Text
1543

AutoCAD SHX Text
1543

AutoCAD SHX Text
1201

AutoCAD SHX Text
1201

AutoCAD SHX Text
12218

AutoCAD SHX Text
12218

AutoCAD SHX Text
12218

AutoCAD SHX Text
1824

AutoCAD SHX Text
1824

AutoCAD SHX Text
500

AutoCAD SHX Text
500

AutoCAD SHX Text
5800

AutoCAD SHX Text
5800

AutoCAD SHX Text
2700

AutoCAD SHX Text
2700

AutoCAD SHX Text
2700

AutoCAD SHX Text
2700

AutoCAD SHX Text
2700

AutoCAD SHX Text
2700

AutoCAD SHX Text
2700

AutoCAD SHX Text
2700

AutoCAD SHX Text
2700

AutoCAD SHX Text
2700

AutoCAD SHX Text
7000

AutoCAD SHX Text
7000

AutoCAD SHX Text
2465

AutoCAD SHX Text
2465

AutoCAD SHX Text
2700

AutoCAD SHX Text
2700

AutoCAD SHX Text
2700

AutoCAD SHX Text
2700

AutoCAD SHX Text
2700

AutoCAD SHX Text
2700

AutoCAD SHX Text
2700

AutoCAD SHX Text
2700

AutoCAD SHX Text
2700

AutoCAD SHX Text
2700

AutoCAD SHX Text
1000

AutoCAD SHX Text
1000

AutoCAD SHX Text
2700

AutoCAD SHX Text
2700

AutoCAD SHX Text
2700

AutoCAD SHX Text
2700

AutoCAD SHX Text
2700

AutoCAD SHX Text
2700

AutoCAD SHX Text
2700

AutoCAD SHX Text
2700

AutoCAD SHX Text
2695

AutoCAD SHX Text
2695

AutoCAD SHX Text
2460

AutoCAD SHX Text
2460

AutoCAD SHX Text
2700

AutoCAD SHX Text
2700

AutoCAD SHX Text
2700

AutoCAD SHX Text
2700

AutoCAD SHX Text
5800

AutoCAD SHX Text
5800

AutoCAD SHX Text
TYPICAL CLASS 1 BICYCLE STORAGE SLATTED WOOD ENCLOSURE  WITH LOCKABLE SLIDING GATE REQ'D 2 PER LOT 660MM X 2200MM

AutoCAD SHX Text
TYPICAL RAISED PATIO AREA MAXIMUM HT FROM GRADE AT 600MM

AutoCAD SHX Text
TYPICAL RAISED PATIO AREA MAXIMUM HT FROM GRADE AT 600MM

AutoCAD SHX Text
TYPICAL LANDSCAPED AREA BETWEEN  PATIOS

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONCRETE SIDEWALK MIN. DIMENSION  1100MM WIDE

AutoCAD SHX Text
TYPICAL UTILITY METER LOCATION ENCLOSURE TO MATCH BIKE ENCLOSURE WITH LOCAKABLE GATE 

AutoCAD SHX Text
GENERAL NOTE: 1. ALL SPLIT SIDEWALKS THAT STRADDLE PROPERTY ALL SPLIT SIDEWALKS THAT STRADDLE PROPERTY LINES SHALL REQUIRE LEGAL EASEMENT TO BE DRAWN UP FOR RECIPROCAL ACCESS TO BOTH LOTS 2. THIS SITE PLAN LAYOUT IS BASED ON SURVEY THIS SITE PLAN LAYOUT IS BASED ON SURVEY INFORMATION PROVIDED TO THE ARCHITECT. REFER TO SURVEY PLAN FOR ADDED INFORMATION AS NEEDED. SURVEY DATED

AutoCAD SHX Text
3658

AutoCAD SHX Text
3658

AutoCAD SHX Text
3658

AutoCAD SHX Text
3769

AutoCAD SHX Text
3769

AutoCAD SHX Text
10857

AutoCAD SHX Text
10857

AutoCAD SHX Text
3769

AutoCAD SHX Text
3769

AutoCAD SHX Text
4546

AutoCAD SHX Text
4546

AutoCAD SHX Text
1100

AutoCAD SHX Text
1100

AutoCAD SHX Text
1777

AutoCAD SHX Text
1777

AutoCAD SHX Text
1759

AutoCAD SHX Text
1759

AutoCAD SHX Text
LANDSCAPE AREAS REFER TO LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE PLANS

AutoCAD SHX Text
LANDSCAPE AREAS REFER TO LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE PLANS

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING RETAINING WALL TO BE REMOVED

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED AREA FOR 1 530L SHARED WASTE BIN FOR 16  DWELLING UNITS

AutoCAD SHX Text
TYPICAL UTILITY METER LOCATION ENCLOSURE TO MATCH BIKE ENCLOSURE WITH LOCAKABLE GATE 

AutoCAD SHX Text
INSTALL SOLID 1.2M H  WOOD FENCE IN THIS CORNER

AutoCAD SHX Text
2.0       2021-06-21   ISSUED FOR REZONING & DP APPROVAL           RR 

AutoCAD SHX Text
1.0       2021-05-25   ISSUED FOR LANDSC CONSULTANT REV.            RR	

AutoCAD SHX Text
PLANTER | BENCH | LIBRARY SEE IMAGE AT RIGHT

AutoCAD SHX Text
PUBLIC NODE BENCH AND LIBRARY  DIMENSIONS: 600mmW X 1500mmL x 450mm H C/W BACK LIBRARY ADD-ON TO BE OF SAME SHAPE AND MATERIAL 760mmD X 600mmW X 1200mm H - CLOSED GLASS DOOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
762

AutoCAD SHX Text
750

AutoCAD SHX Text
738

AutoCAD SHX Text
726

AutoCAD SHX Text
NEW FIRE  HYDRANT

AutoCAD SHX Text
3.0       2021-07-16   RE-ISSUED FOR REZONING & DP APPROVAL        JMM

AutoCAD SHX Text
1100

AutoCAD SHX Text
1100

AutoCAD SHX Text
1100

AutoCAD SHX Text
1100

AutoCAD SHX Text
1100

AutoCAD SHX Text
1100

AutoCAD SHX Text
1100

AutoCAD SHX Text
1100

AutoCAD SHX Text
1100

AutoCAD SHX Text
1100

AutoCAD SHX Text
2187

AutoCAD SHX Text
2187

AutoCAD SHX Text
7000

AutoCAD SHX Text
7000

AutoCAD SHX Text
2700

AutoCAD SHX Text
2700

AutoCAD SHX Text
3682

AutoCAD SHX Text
3682

AutoCAD SHX Text
2700

AutoCAD SHX Text
2700

AutoCAD SHX Text
4.0       2021-08-05   ISSUED FOR CLIENT REVIEW                     TJ

AutoCAD SHX Text
SITEPLAN

AutoCAD SHX Text
5.0       2021-08-09   RE-ISSUED FOR REZONING & DP APPROVAL        TJ

AutoCAD SHX Text
1500

AutoCAD SHX Text
1500

AutoCAD SHX Text
RECYCLE BIN  STORAGE

AutoCAD SHX Text
RECYCLE BIN  STORAGE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED AREA FOR  PAD MOUNT TRANSFORMER

AutoCAD SHX Text
1387

AutoCAD SHX Text
1387

AutoCAD SHX Text
3952

AutoCAD SHX Text
3952

AutoCAD SHX Text
1647

AutoCAD SHX Text
1647

AutoCAD SHX Text
2305

AutoCAD SHX Text
2305

AutoCAD SHX Text
1800

AutoCAD SHX Text
1800

AutoCAD SHX Text
700

AutoCAD SHX Text
700

AutoCAD SHX Text
RECYCLE CART STORAGE

AutoCAD SHX Text
BICYCLE CLASS 1 STORAGE

AutoCAD SHX Text
TYPICAL DOOR FRAME: - 38 X 65 WOOD-BLACK STAINED 38 X 65 WOOD-BLACK STAINED - CHAIN LINK(BLACK) INSET CHAIN LINK(BLACK) INSET - STEEL SPRING(RETURN) HINGES STEEL SPRING(RETURN) HINGES - LOCKING DEVICE BY OWNERLOCKING DEVICE BY OWNER

AutoCAD SHX Text
TYPICAL CLASS 1 BICYCLE STORAGE SLATTED WOOD ENCLOSURE  WITH LOCKABLE SLIDING GATE REQ'D 2 PER LOT 660MM X 2200MM

AutoCAD SHX Text
TYPICAL RECYCLE CART 700 X 600- 1 PER DWELLING UNIT

AutoCAD SHX Text
2305

AutoCAD SHX Text
2305

AutoCAD SHX Text
1647

AutoCAD SHX Text
1647

AutoCAD SHX Text
3952

AutoCAD SHX Text
3952

AutoCAD SHX Text
700

AutoCAD SHX Text
700

AutoCAD SHX Text
6.0       2021-08-31   RE-ISSUED FOR REZONING & DP APPROVAL        JMM

AutoCAD SHX Text
Note- Cash-in-lieu will be paid for 1 required parking space not provided at lot 726 Westminster Ave W.

AutoCAD SHX Text
7.0       2021-09-14   RE-ISSUED FOR REZONING & DP APPROVAL         TJ

collyes
Rectangle

collyes
Sticky Note
Marked set by collyes

collyes
Typewritten Text
Property not included



 
 

Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 2021-38  Page 1 of 1 
 

The Corporation of the City of Penticton 
 

Bylaw No. 2021-38 
  

A Bylaw to Amend Zoning Bylaw 2021-01 
 
WHEREAS the Council of the City of Penticton has adopted a Zoning Bylaw pursuant the Local Government Act; 
 
AND WHEREAS the Council of the City of Penticton wishes to amend Zoning Bylaw No. 2021-01;  
 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the Municipal Council of the City of Penticton, in open meeting 
assembled, hereby ENACTS AS FOLLOWS: 
  
1. Title: 
 
 This bylaw may be cited for all purposes as “Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 2021-38”. 
 
2. Amendment: 
 
 Zoning Bylaw No. 2021-01 is hereby amended as follows: 

 
2.1 Rezone Lots 5, 6 and 7 District Lot 2 Group 7 Similkameen Division Yale (Formerly Yale-Lytton) 

District Plan 3445, located at 726, 738, 750 Westminster Avenue West, from R2 (Small Lot 
Residential) to RM2 (Low Density Multiple Housing) as shown on Schedule ‘A’. 

 
2.2 Schedule ‘A’ attached hereto form part of this bylaw. 
 
READ A FIRST time this 19 day of October, 2021 

A PUBLIC HEARING was held this 2 day of November, 2021 

READ A SECOND time this 2 day of November, 2021 

READ A THIRD time this 2 day of November, 2021 

RESCIND THIRD reading and give 
THIRD reading as amended 

 day of , 2022 

RECEIVED the approval of the 
Ministry of Transportation on the 

 day of , 2022 

ADOPTED this  day of , 2022 

 
Notice of intention to proceed with this bylaw was published on the 26 day of October, 2021 and the 27 day of October, 2021 in the 
Penticton newspaper, pursuant to Section 94 of the Community Charter.  
 
 

      
 John Vassilaki, Mayor 
 

 
       

 Angie Collison, Corporate Officer 

-167-



City of Penticton – Schedule ‘A’

Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 2021-38

Date: _________________ Corporate Officer:  _______________________________

Rezone 726, 738 and 750 Westminster Ave W
From R2 (Small Lot Residential) To RM2 (Low Density Multiple Housing)

-168-



 

 
Council Report 

 

   

 

 

Date: February 15, 2022      File No:    RMS/949 James St 
To: Donny van Dyk, Chief Administrative Officer 
From: Jordan Hallam, Planner I 
Address: 949 James Street  
 
Subject: Development Variance Permit PL2021-9210 
 

Staff Recommendation 

THAT Council approve “Development Variance Permit PL2021-9210” for Lot 2 District Lot 249 Similkameen 
Division Yale District Plan 4977, located at 949 James Street, a permit to vary Section 8.2.3.5.ii of Zoning 
Bylaw 2021-01 to allow a maximum carriage house height of 5.0m and two floors where no lane exists, in 
order to facilitate the construction of a two-storey carriage house; 

AND THAT Council direct staff to issue “Development Variance Permit PL2021-9210”. 

Strategic Priority Objective 

Community Vitality: The City of Penticton, guided by the Official Community Plan, will promote the 
economic wellbeing and vitality of the community.  

Proposal 

The applicant is proposing to construct a two-storey 
carriage house in their rear yard (Figure 1) of the subject 
property. As there is no rear lane to provide access, the 
Zoning Bylaw limits carriage house height to 5.0m and one 
storey. The preliminary plans submitted show one level is 
partially below grade and the design meets the 5.0 m 
height requirement. As such, the applicant has requested a 
variance to allow for a two-storey carriage house, while still 
meeting the carriage house height requirement. Carriage 
houses are considered within the Intensive Residential 
Development Permit Area, and a development permit 
application will be required for approval of the form and 
character of the proposed carriage house, should Council 
approve the requested variance. 

Figure 1 – Proposed 
carriage house 

-169-



 
Council Report  Page 2 of 18 

 

Background 

The subject property is located on the west side of James St, south of Forestbrook Dr. in a primarily 
residential neighbourhood (Figure 2). The property contains a single detached dwelling, which was 
constructed in 1948. The property is designated ‘Detached Residential’ by the Official Community Plan (OCP) 
and is zoned ‘R2 (Small Lot Residential)’ in the Zoning Bylaw. 

Carriage houses are considered with the Intensive 
Residential Development Permit Area in the OCP. The 
applicant will be required to apply for a development permit 
for approval of the form and character of the proposed 
carriage house prior to construction. Staff have delegated 
authority to process the development permit, should 
Council approve the requested variance. 

Technical Review 

This application was reviewed by the Technical Planning 
Committee, a group of City staff from various departments 
who review development applications. Staff requested 
additional details regarding the parking space dimensions, 
height of decks, and updating labels on plans. This 
information was submitted by the applicant. Building permit 
requirements were sent to the applicant in order to expedite 
the future building permit process.  

Development Statistics 

The following table outlines the proposed development statistics on the preliminary plans submitted with 
the development application: 

 
Carriage House Requirement (Section 

8.2)  
Provided on Plans 

Minimum Lot Area: 370 m2 714.4 m2 
Maximum Building Footprint 90 m2 87 m2 
Maximum Lot Coverage: 15% 11.9% 

Siting 
No closer to the street than the main 
building 

Located in rear yard 

Required Setbacks 
Front Yard (James St): 
Side Yard (north): 
Side Yard (south): 
Rear Yard: 

 
4.5 m 
1.5 m 
1.5 m 
1.5 m 

 
27.7 m 
1.5 m 
5.3 m 
1.5 m 

Maximum Building Height 5.0 m and one floor 
4.8 m and two floors – Variance 
Requested 

Figure 2 – Property Location Map 

-170-



 
Council Report  Page 3 of 18 

Parking: 
One additional parking space for 
carriage house 

Three total parking spaces (two for 
single detached dwelling, 1 for 
carriage house) 

Analysis 

Development Variance Permit 

When considering a variance to a City bylaw, staff encourage Council to consider whether there is a hardship 
that is applicable that makes following the bylaw difficult or impossible; whether approval of the variance 
would cause a negative impact on neighbouring properties; and, if the variance request is reasonable. Staff 
have reviewed the requested variance and are recommending support for the following reasons: 

1. The design of the carriage house still meets the allowable 5.0m height requirement for a carriage 
house without lane access. 

The proposed two-storey carriage house design provides one floor partially below grade. The 
maximum allowable height requirement of 5.0m is still being met as the proposed carriage house 
height will be at 4.8 m above grade. This meets the Zoning Bylaw carriage house requirement, and 
limits the impacts on neighbours, while still allowing a two-storey design as shown in the 
preliminary plans (Figure 1). The intent of the Zoning Bylaw is to limit the height of carriage houses 
on properties without lanes so that the carriage house does not create a situation of ‘overlook’ into 
rear yard(s) of properties that share a rear property line. This proposal meets this intent because it is 
under the maximum allowable height of 5.0 m and the requested variance would allow for a second 
floor below grade.  

2. Utility corridor 

While there isn’t a 6.0m rear vehicle lane behind the subject lot, there is a 3.0m wide utility corridor 
between the back yard of the subject property and the back yard of properties fronting Brooks Place. 
This utility lane provides a buffer between the proposed carriage house and the back yard of the 
most impacted neighbours.  

3. Support from neighbours 

-171-



 
Council Report  Page 4 of 18 

 
The applicant has provided letters of support from 
immediate neighbours for the proposed carriage house, 
including those properties on Brooks Place most 
impacted by the carriage house. Many neighbours 
signed letters of support, which were submitted by the 
applicant with their variance application (Figure 3). The 
letters of support submitted are included in Attachment 
‘E’. The immediate neighbours would be most impacted 
from the proposed carriage house, and having their 
signatures of support indicates that negative impacts on 
neighbours is not anticipated.  

 

 

Given the reasons above, staff support the application to allow 
for a two-storey carriage house design within the 5.0m maximum height permitted for carriage houses 
without lane access. Staff recommend that Council approve the development variance permit, and direct 
staff to issue the permit. Should Council approve the development variance permit, staff have delegated 
authority to process the required development permit for the form and character of the proposed carriage 
house.  

Alternate Recommendations 

Council may consider the requested variance is undesirable and that the applicants should build within the 
Zoning Bylaw regulations. If this is the case, Council should deny “Development Variance Permit PL2021-
9210”. If this decision is made, the applicant would need to update their plans to meet the Zoning Bylaw 
carriage house regulations, which would result in the removal of the basement. If the applicant revises their 
plans to meet the Zoning Bylaw regulations, staff have delegated approval authority to process the 
Development Permit on its own. Staff are recommending against this option, as the requested variance is 
considered reasonable in this instance and the letters of support from neighbours indicate there will be 
minimal impacts on surrounding properties.  

1. THAT Council deny “Development Variance Permit PL2021-9210”. 

Attachments 

Attachment A – Zoning Map 
Attachment B – Official Community Plan Map 
Attachment C – Photos of Property 
Attachment D – Letter of Intent 
Attachment E – Letters of Support from Neighbours 
Attachment F – Draft Development Variance Permit PL2021-9210 
 

Figure 3 – Letters of support 
submitted by owners of sixteen 

properties (yellow). 

-172-



 
Council Report  Page 5 of 18 

Respectfully submitted, 

 

Jordan Hallam 
Planner I 

 

Concurrence  

Director of 
Development Services 

Chief Administrative 
Officer 

BL 
 

DvD 
 

 

  

-173-



 
Council Report  Page 6 of 18 

 

Attachment A – Zoning Map 

 

-174-



 
Council Report  Page 7 of 18 

 

Attachment B – Official Community Plan Map 

 

-175-



 
Council Report  Page 8 of 18 

Attachment C – Photos of Property 

 

 

Subject Property: 
949 James St 939 James St 

James St 

Subject Property: 
949 James St 

967 James St 

James St 

-176-



 
Council Report  Page 9 of 18 

 

  

Proposed carriage 
house location 

Subject Property: 
949 James St 

-177-



 
Council Report  Page 10 of 18 

Attachment D – Letter of Intent 

  

-178-



 
Council Report  Page 11 of 18 

  

-179-



 
Council Report  Page 12 of 18 

  

-180-



 
Council Report  Page 13 of 18 

  

-181-



 
Council Report  Page 14 of 18 

  

-182-



 
Council Report  Page 15 of 18 

  

-183-



 
Council Report  Page 16 of 18 

Attachment E – Letters of Support from Neighbours 

  

-184-



 
Council Report  Page 17 of 18 

  

-185-



 
Council Report  Page 18 of 18 

 

 

-186-



Development Variance Permit 

Permit Number: DVP PL2021-9210 

Owner Name 
Owner Address 

Conditions of Permit  

1. This permit is issued subject to compliance with all of the bylaws of the City, except as specifically 
varied or supplemented by this Permit. 

2. This permit applies to:  

Legal: Lot 2 District Lot 249 Similkameen Division Yale District Plan 4977 

Civic: 949 James Street 

PID: 009-108-378 

3. This permit has been issued in accordance with Section 498 of the Local Government Act, to vary 
the following sections of Zoning Bylaw 2021-01 to allow for the construction of a carriage house, 
as shown in the plans attached in Schedule ‘A’: 

a. Section 8.2.3.5.ii: to allow a maximum carriage house height of 5.0m and two floors where 
no lane exisits. 

General Conditions  

4. In accordance with Section 501 of the Local Government Act, the lands subject to this permit shall 
be developed in general accordance with this permit and the plans attached as Schedule ‘A’.  

5. In accordance with Section 504 of the Local Government Act, if the holder of this permit does not 
commence the development authorized by this permit within 2 years of the date of this permit, this 
permit shall lapse. 

6. This permit is not a building permit.  In order to proceed with this development, the holder of 
this permit must hold a valid building permit issued by the Building Inspection Department.  

7. This permit does not constitute any other municipal, provincial or federal approval. The holder of 
this permit is responsible to obtain any additional municipal, federal, or provincial approvals prior 
to commencing the development authorized by this permit.  

8. This permit does not include off-site infrastructure costs that may be required at the building permit 
stage, such as Development Cost Charges (DCC’s), road improvements and electrical servicing. 
There may be substantial infrastructure and servicing costs payable at a later date. For more 
information on servicing and infrastructure requirements please contact the Development 
Engineering Department at (250) 490-2501. For more information on electrical servicing costs, 
please contact the Electric Utility at (250) 490-2535.    

DVP PL2021-9210 Page 1 of 5

DRAFT

-187-



Authorized by City Council, the 15th day of February, 2022. 

Issued this ____ day of February, 2022. 

_________________________ 

Angela Collison 
Corporate Officer 

DVP PL2021-9210 Page 2 of 5

DRAFT

-188-



Lot Layout, dimensions of lot, buildings, parking, amenity space.

DVP PL2021-9210 Page 3 of 5

Sch
ed

ule
 'A

' 

DVP PL2
02

1-9
21

0

-189-



Floor area + Wall Dimensions

DVP PL2021-9210 Page 4 of 5

Sch
ed

ule
 'A

' 

DVP PL2
02

1-9
21

0

-190-



Setbacks:

Carriage House Elevations:

DVP PL2021-9210 Page 5 of 5

Sch
ed

ule
 'A

' 

DVP PL2
02

1-9
21

0

-191-



Late Submission for Item 
10.9 - 949 James Street



 

 
Council Report 

 

   

 

 

Date: February 15, 2022      File No:    RMS/784 Ross Ave 
To: Donny van Dyk, Chief Administrative Officer 
From: Steven Collyer, Planner II 
Address: 784 Ross Avenue 
 
Subject: Development Variance Permit PL2021-9219 
 

Staff Recommendation 

THAT Council approve “Development Variance Permit PL2021-9219”, for Lot 12 District Lot 250 Similkameen 
Division Yale District Plan 8343, located at 784 Ross Avenue, a permit to vary Section 7.4.2 of Zoning Bylaw 
2021-01 to increase the maximum permitted floor area of a major home occupation in an accessory building 
from 50m2 to 72m2; 

AND THAT Council direct staff to issue the permit. 

Strategic Priority Objective 

Community Vitality: The City of Penticton, guided by the 
Official Community Plan, will promote the economic wellbeing 
and vitality of the community.  

Proposal 

The applicants are proposing to renovate a portion of the 
existing accessory building to expand an existing home 
occupation (registered massage therapy). The proposed 
expansion results in the home occupation having a floor area of 
72m2 which exceeds the 50m2 maximum permitted floor area in 
the Zoning Bylaw. As such, the applicants have requested a 
variance to allow the increased home occupation floor area 
within the existing building (Attachment ‘D’). 

Background 

The subject property is located on the south side of Ross 
Avenue in a primarily residential area (Figure 1). The property 
contains a single detached dwelling with an accessory building. 
The accessory building was constructed as a detached garage in 

Figure 1 - Property location map 

-192-



 
Council Report  Page 2 of 13 

1999. Approximately half of the accessory building was renovated in 2017 to accommodate a registered 
massage therapy home occupation. The other half of the accessory building is used for personal storage by 
the property owner. 

The home occupation on this property has existed since 2017. Along Ross Avenue, there are several other 
home occupations related to healthcare, as this neighbourhood is located close to Penticton Regional 
Hospital. The applicants have outlined their justification for the additional floor space (Attachment ‘D’). The 
applicants have discussed the proposed expansion with surrounding neighbours, some of whom have 
submitted letters of support for the requested variance (Attachment ‘E’). 

Technical Review 

This application was reviewed by the Technical Planning Committee, a group of internal staff who review 
planning applications. The committee had no concerns related to the requested variance, as no changes are 
proposed to the exterior of the existing building and there will be no added demand on municipal services. 
Staff shared future building permit application requirements with the applicant, to assist with that future 
approvals process should Council ultimately approve the requested variance. 

Analysis 

When considering a variance to a City bylaw, staff encourages Council to consider if approval of the variance 
would cause a negative impact on neighbouring properties and if the variance request is reasonable. The 
applicant is requesting one variance to increase the maximum floor area for a home occupation in an 
accessory building from 50m2 to 72m2. Staff have reviewed the application and are recommending approval 
for the variance based on the following: 

1. No change is proposed to the exterior of the accessory building. 
 
The accessory building was constructed in 1999, and has contained a registered massage therapy 
office in a portion of the building since 2017. The proposed internal renovation to utilize the full floor 
area of the building for the home occupation will not result in any changes to the exterior size or 
look of the building (Attachment ‘D’). Given that no change will be visible from the outside, staff 
consider that neighbourhood impact is minimal from the proposed renovation and the increased 
home occupation floor area within the existing accessory building. 
 

2. The proposed expansion remains in compliance with other applicable home occupation regulations. 
 
Home occupations are limited in size and scale through the Zoning Bylaw. The intent of these 
regulations is to allow for home occupations while ensuring that the scale and uses are compatible 
with surrounding residential neighbourhoods. While this proposal is for additional floor area for an 
existing home occupation, the other home occupation regulations (i.e. limit of customer visits, limit 
to staff, maintaining a residential character, etc.) are met through this proposal. The increased floor 
area would allow for an additional treatment room to be available. Currently, there is only one 
treatment room within the size limitation. Having only two treatment rooms limits the number of 
clients at a time to a maximum of two, as required by the Zoning Bylaw and as understood by the 
applicant (Attachment ‘D’). There is sufficient parking on-site for clients and the exterior of the 
building will continue to resemble a detached garage, which is in keeping with built forms typically 

-193-



 
Council Report  Page 3 of 13 

found on detached residential properties. Staff note that the applicants have been licensed for a 
home occupation since 2017 and are aware of the applicable regulations (Attachment ‘D’). 
 

3. Immediate neighbours have submitted letters of 
support. 
 
Staff encourage applicants to discuss their variance 
proposal with immediate neighbours to gather their 
feedback and potentially revise the proposal to meet 
mutual needs. This applicants have discussed their 
variance request and proposed floor area expansion 
with neighbours (Attachment ‘D’), four of whom 
submitted letters of support which the applicant 
included with this development variance permit 
application (Figure 2). The letters of support are 
included as Attachment ‘E’. The letters suggest that 
negative impacts to neighbours from the proposed 
variance and internal renovation are not anticipated.  

Given the reasons listed above, staff support the requested 
variance. No negative impacts on neighbours are anticipated 
because there is no addition proposed to the accessory 
building and the neighbours have submitted letters of 
support, indicating they are not concerned with the proposed additional home occupation floor area. The 
variance request is considered reasonable to utilize the full area of the existing accessory building while still 
keeping the use within a reasonable scale for the surrounding residential neighbourhood and meeting the 
other applicable home occupation regulations. Staff are recommending that Council approve “Development 
Variance Permit PL2021-9219” and direct staff to issue the permit. 

Alternate Recommendations 

Council may consider that the proposed variance will negatively affect the neighborhood. If this is the case, 
Council should deny the variance. Staff are not recommending this option. 

1. THAT Council deny “Development Variance Permit PL2021-9219”. 

Attachments 

Attachment A – Zoning Map 
Attachment B – Official Community Plan Map 
Attachment C – Photos of Property 
Attachment D – Letter of Intent 
Attachment E – Letters of Support from Neighbours 
Attachment F – Draft Development Variance Permit PL2021-9219 
 

 

Figure 2 - Letters of support received from properties in yellow. 
Subject property outlined in red. 

-194-



 
Council Report  Page 4 of 13 

Respectfully submitted, 

 

Steven Collyer, RPP, MCIP 
Planner II 

 

Concurrence  

Director of 
Development Services 

Chief Administrative 
Officer 

BL 

 
DvD 

 
 

 

 

  

-195-



 
Council Report  Page 5 of 13 

Attachment A – Zoning Map

 
  

-196-



 
Council Report  Page 6 of 13 

Attachment B – Official Community Plan Map

 
  

-197-



 
Council Report  Page 7 of 13 

Attachment C – Photos of Property

 

Subject Property: 
784 Ross Ave 

Subject Property: 
784 Ross Ave 

Accessory Building 

Driveway and 
parking area 

-198-



 
Council Report  Page 8 of 13 

 
  

Accessory Building 

-199-



 
Council Report  Page 9 of 13 

Attachment D – Letter of Intent

 
  

-200-



 
Council Report  Page 10 of 13 

Attachment E – Letters of Support from Neighbours

-201-



 
Council Report  Page 11 of 13 

-202-



 
Council Report  Page 12 of 13 

-203-



 
Council Report  Page 13 of 13 

 
 

-204-



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

DRAFT

DVP PL2021-9219 Page 1 of 4

-205-



DRAFT

DVP PL2021-9219 Page 2 of 4

-206-



q^fz+ç{/
{t-tN¡g

/.0fvø

1-7Ñ'vr

\t
7
)l
d
s

lb"ã16

t-{susr

J
:

3
I

ì-.
\rt
\

€
J
U.¡

a
*"

t
Þ
ft4

\5
7
:{.
d
€cl-

frr7^4 R.oåß r\Vf,

Sch
edule 'A

' 

DVP PL2021-9219

DVP PL2021-9219 Page 3 of 4

-207-



þ4ot'ðo

4tr1 L lÈ.¡ Cr s :
R+o 6*rr tr-rg
V,g, V;.çÐ

DÊ-Tf\rrîl-L

Þou ØuF 2rq w^LL
F)r

J\t*l
L-v-.B.,

8,t rr.. It/2" D
l¡ú.l.

-Êxrs¡l^J6 SrveUe/
vr¡YL FxrËrrrsf{

Ar-l FuocàS

-lj"J
)(

"t3I

¡\4'+ Ktr U
r{lq,

rrf

rÈrnrmEF/r
Q"ooru

rßE,qrrvtfivr
R oonn

Ð(tSTrñ& .+" vã¡¡î-
Fl\ô*\ uruÐËf:rsL4rG
T'-'tt /tr|-rç Èl Ê.oaË

g

/o '.loL.

1
LAV, o

ln

R 6H,tß
Ê.oo¡v\

1

J OFtrI EE

C Lo SË r¡J

0' H' T)æOF*

ù
ct

(l

o
x
t^J

,l

36
/ I ,25¡^n

4 x3o

Sch
edule 'A

' 

DVP PL2021-9219

DVP PL2021-9219 Page 4 of 4

-208-



-209-



Late Submission for Item 10.10 - 
784 Ross Avenue



 

 
Council Report 

 

   

 

 

Date: February 15, 2022      File No:    RMS/610 Pineview Rd 
To: Donny van Dyk, Chief Administrative Officer 
From: Steven Collyer, Planner II 
Address: 610 Pineview Road 
 
Subject: Agricultural Land Reserve (ALR) Exclusion Application for 610 Pineview Road 
 

Staff Recommendation 

THAT Council forward the ALR Exclusion application, for Lot 1 District Lot 2710 Similkameen Division Yale 
District Plan EPP22470, located at 610 Pineview Road, an application to exclude the subject property from 
the Agricultural Land Reserve, to the March 1, 2022 Public Hearing to give the public an opportunity to 
provide comments and feedback. 

Strategic Priority Objective 

Community Vitality: The City of Penticton, guided by the Official Community Plan, will promote the 
economic wellbeing and vitality of the community.  

Proposal 

The applicant is proposing to develop a residential subdivision on the subject property. The preliminary 
draft concept plan (Attachment ‘E’) shows 11 duplex lots, and a bareland strata consisting of approximately 
24 single detached homes proposed for the property. This draft concept is subject to change. The subject 
property is part of a conditionally-approved ALR exclusion that includes two other properties on Valleyview 
Road, however due to challenges with achieving the conditions between the three land owners, the 
applicant is proposing to exclude 610 Pineview Road on its own. As such, the applicant has submitted this 
ALR Exclusion application to the City, and the City is responsible for hosting a public hearing on the 
exclusion request prior to Council giving a resolution of support and forwarding the application for review 
and final approved by the Agricultural Land Commission (ALC).  

The purpose of this report is to send the ALR exclusion application to a public hearing, as required by the 
ALC legislation for ALR Exclusion applications. Council will still have an opportunity to discuss and determine 
whether to support the application following the public hearing. 

 

-210-



 
Council Report  Page 2 of 11 

Background 

The subject property is 3.8 hectares (9.3 acres) in size and is located 
on the south side of Pineview Road, near Gordon Place (Figure 1). 
The lands currently contain a single detached dwelling and an 
orchard. Surrounding land uses include residential subdivisions to 
the north and east, and agricultural lands within the Agricultural 
Land Reserve (ALR) to the south and west. There is an 
environmentally-sensitive gulley leading down towards Green Ave W 
near the western edge of the property. The property is within a 
transition area between urban residential subdivisions and 
agricultural lands. 

Residential development on this property has been contemplated 
since the 1990s. In 1994, the northern portion of the subject property 
was rezoned to allow single detached dwellings. This area is currently 
zoned R1 (Large Lot Residential), as shown in Attachment ‘A’. 

In 2005, the City adopted an amendment to the Official Community 
Plan (OCP) which designated a substantial amount of land in the 
upper Valleyview Road area for residential development, including the 
subject property. This change was supported in principle by the 
Agricultural Land Commission (ALC), with the condition that a more 
detailed development plan be prepared prior residential development 
occurring.  

In 2011, an ALR Exclusion application was submitted (through the 
previous ALC exclusion process) as part of a 9 hectare (22 acre) 
development proposal for 610 Pineview Rd as well as portions of 2900 
Valleyview Rd and 3050 Valleyview Rd (Figure 2). The intent at the time 
was to develop the three properties together under an area-specific 
plan, what would become the ‘Upper Valleyview Area Plan’ endorsed 
by Council in 2011.  

The Agricultural Advisory Committee (AAC) did not support the 
proposed ALR exclusion in 2011, having noted concerns with the loss 
of quality agricultural land and weakening the integrity of the ALR in 
this area of Penticton if these lands were excluded. Nevertheless, the 
Upper Valleyview Area Plan was adopted by City Council in 2011, 
despite the AAC’s recommendation. After the City endorsed the ALR 
Exclusion application, the ALC provided conditional approval to 
exempt these lands from the ALR.  

The ALC granted conditional exclusion of the subject property from the 
ALR in 2011. This approval stemmed from their support in principle of 
the 2005 OCP amendment and their review and consideration of the Figure 2 - Lands included with 2011 conditional 

ALR Exclusion. 

Figure 1 - Property location map 

-211-



 
Council Report  Page 3 of 11 

Upper Valleyview Area Plan. The conditional approval has been extended on several occasions, and most 
recently on November 3, 2021 the ALC approved an extension until November 3, 2022. The conditions of 
their approval for exemption of these lands from the ALR are noted below: 

• Preparation of a subdivision plan showing the lands to be excluded in conformance with the 
drawing forming part of the conditional approval granted by the ALC (Figure 2). 

• The construction of fencing and planting of a vegetated buffering. Minimum 5 foot fencing along 
the ALR boundary. Planting of a 6m to 10m wide, irrigated vegetated buffer along ALR boundary. 

• Registration of covenants prohibiting residences within 10m of ALR Boundary on Lots 18 to 20. 
• Completion of the subdivision plan that is in substantial compliance with the plan submitted in 

2011. 

In February 2021, the applicant submitted a rezoning application to change the zoning on the property from 
R1 (Large Lot Residential) and A (Agriculture) to RD1 (Duplex Housing) and RM1 (Bareland Strata Housing). 
The rezoning is on-hold until the lands are excluded from the ALR, as the zoning amendment is not 
permitted while the lands are contained within the ALR. Additional planning approvals are required should 
the rezoning be successful (following the ALR Exclusion), and are outlined further in this section of this 
report. 

The subject application is for exclusion of 610 Pineview Road (subject property) from the ALR, and does not 
include the other two Valleyview Road properties. The subject application for ALR exclusion of the subject 
property was presented to the City’s Agricultural Advisory Committee (AAC) on January 19, 2022 for their 
review and resolution. After some discussion, the AAC generally found the lands to demonstrate agricultural 
capability and felt that the lands should remain for agriculture long-term. The AAC passed the following 
resolution for Council to consider: 

It was MOVED and SECONDED 

THAT the Agriculture Advisory Committee does not support the ALR Exclusion application for 
610 Pineview Road. 

         CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 

In addition to the ALR Exclusion application, there are several additional approvals necessary for the 
applicant to proceed with the intended development. These are summarized in the chart below: 

Application Required Description   
Approval 
Authority 

ALR Exclusion To remove the subject property from the ALR. 
Agricultural 
Land 
Commission 

Zoning Amendment 
Bylaw 

To change the zoning on the subject property from R1 
(Large Lot Residential) and A (Agriculture) to RD1 (Duplex 
Housing) and RM1 (Bareland Strata Housing). 

Council 

Hillside Development 
Permit 

To approve the lot grading and subdivision scheme in a 
hillside area, in line with the guidelines of the OCP. 

Council 

-212-



 
Council Report  Page 4 of 11 

Environmental 
Development Permit 

To approve development in an Environmental Assessment 
and Environmental Protection area, subject to the 
requirements of a Qualified Environmental Professional 
(QEP) report. 

Staff 

Subdivision To legally divide the property into separate parcels. Staff 

Form and Character 
Development Permits 

To approve the form and character of each future duplex. 
Staff 

 

Financial Implication 

Under the new provincial rules regarding ALR Exclusion applications, the City is responsible for a portion of 
the application fee paid to the Agricultural Land Commission (ALC), while the proponent is responsible for 
the other portion. The application fee is $1,500 total, with the City covering $750 of that amount.  

Technical Review 

In February 2021, the related rezoning application was reviewed by the City’s Technical Planning Committee 
(TPC), a group of City staff from various departments who review development applications. Since that 
meeting, no changes to the proposed subdivision layout have occurred. The three property owners that are 
part of the 2011 ALC conditional exclusion approval have not yet achieved the exclusion conditions, 
therefore the applicant is now proposing to exclude only 610 Pineview Rd from the ALR at this time. The 
rezoning will remain on-hold until the lands are officially excluded from the ALR.  

Standard subdivision requirements would apply at the time of subdivision (i.e. servicing, geotechnical 
review, environmental review, etc.) 

Analysis 

Under a recent change to provincial legislation, the local government now acts as the applicant for ALR 
Exclusion applications proposed by land owners. This allows local governments to establish criteria for 
which applications it will process on a land owner’s behalf. The City adopted Policy CP#2021-06 on 
November 3, 2021 to establish criteria for which applications will be processed on the landowner’s behalf 
(Attachment ‘F’). This policy was referred to the AAC in 2021 and approved by Council on November 3, 2021. 
This ALR Exclusion application is the first application to be processed by the City under the new policy. The 
two key criteria of the new policy are outlined within the table below as well as a brief description detailing 
how this proposal meets both criteria: 

ALR Exclusion Application 
Criteria (City policy) 

Staff Comments   

All available ALR approval processes 
have been exhausted prior to 
applying for ALR Exclusion. 

No ALR approvals process allows residential development 
as proposed. Therefore, ALR Exclusion is the only option for 
the applicant to pursue. 

-213-



 
Council Report  Page 5 of 11 

No portion of the subject 
property(ies) shall be designated 
‘Agriculture’ by the Official 
Community Plan (OCP). 

The subject property is designated ‘Detached Residential’ 
by the OCP (Attachment ‘B’). This future land use envisions 
residential development on the property. Properties 
designated ‘Agriculture’ by the OCP are anticipated to 
remain used for agricultural purposes in the long-term, 
however that is not the case for the subject property 
according to the OCP. 

Staff consider the following OCP policies support the development proposal: 

Policy 4.1.1.1 Focus new residential development in or adjacent to existing developed areas. 
Policy 4.1.1.2 Avoid development in environmentally-sensitive areas, geological hazard and flood 

hazard areas, on steep slopes, in agricultural areas and in areas not readily served by 
transit. (Staff note: An environmental assessment would be required as a condition 
of subdivision, should the land use be put in place, to ensure environmental features 
are protected through site development.) 

Policy 4.1.4.1 Work with the development community – architects, designers and builders – to 
create new residential developments that are attractive, high-quality, energy 
efficient, appropriately scaled and respectful of their context. 

Policy 4.4.2.1 Identify environmentally sensitive areas and riparian areas, and protect them 
through application of the Environmental and Riparian Development Permit 
Guidelines. 

Policy 4.5.1.5 Consider establishing buffers including distance setbacks, landscape buffers and 
fencing requirements to minimize conflicts between agricultural and other land 
uses (e.g., residential or commercial). (Staff note: the ALC required a landscape buffer 
as a condition in 2011, it is expected a similar condition will apply should the one 
property be excluded.) 

The subject property is designated ‘Detached Residential’ by the OCP (Attachment ‘B’). The Detached 
Residential designation envisions residential development on the property, consisting of single detached 
building types and some duplexes (Figure 3). Generally, properties within the Detached Residential 
designation are anticipated to have 1-2 dwelling units per property. The proposed residential development 
is consistent with the future land use designation on the property as per the OCP.  

-214-



 
Council Report  Page 6 of 11 

 

Staff are recommending that Council forward the ALR Exclusion application for 610 Pineview Road to a 
public hearing, to gather comments and feedback on the proposal. Staff consider that the exclusion will 
facilitate residential development, which is aligned with the OCP future land use designation on the subject 
property. Following the public hearing Council will pass a resolution on whether or not to forward the ALR 
Exclusion application for 610 Pineview Road with Council support. 

Alternate Recommendations 

Council may choose to not forward this ALR Exclusion application to a Public Hearing, considering that the 
lands should instead remain as agriculture and within the ALR. Staff acknowledge there are several policies 
in the OCP which support the preservation of agricultural land within the City. Council may feel that these 
policies supporting the preservation of agricultural land outweigh other OCP policies related to compact 
growth, a range of housing forms, and development adjacent to the built-up area. 

Staff are recommending against this alternate recommendation, as it would be inconsistent with the 
‘Detached Residential’ OCP future land use designation on the subject property and the proposal meets the 
two policy criteria for processing ALR Exclusion applications. Staff recommend that if Council desires to not 
support the ALR exclusion, that direction be given to amend the OCP to an agricultural zone as reflected in 
the Alternative Recommendation.   

1. THAT Council deny support for the ALR Exclusion application for 610 Pineview Road and not forward 
it to a Public Hearing; 
 
AND THAT Council give staff direction to initiate an OCP amendment to change the future land use 
designation of the subject property from ‘Detached Residential’ to ‘Agriculture’, subject to an 
appropriate public engagement process. 

 

 

Figure 3 - Excerpt from the Official Community Plan Land Use Designations table 

-215-



 
Council Report  Page 7 of 11 

 

Attachments 

Attachment A – Zoning Map 
Attachment B – Official Community Plan Map 
Attachment C – Photos of Property 
Attachment D – Letter of Intent 
Attachment E – Draft Concept Plan 
Attachment F – Council Policy CP#2021-06: Process for Agricultural Land Reserve (ALR) Exclusion 

Applications 
 

Respectfully submitted, 

 

Steven Collyer, RPP, MCIP 
Planner II 

Director of 
Development Services 

Chief Administrative 
Officer 

BL 
 

DvD 
 

-216-



 
Council Report  Page 8 of 11 

Attachment A – Zoning Map

 
  

-217-



 
Council Report  Page 9 of 11 

Attachment B – Official Community Plan Map

 
  

-218-



 
Council Report  Page 10 of 11 

Attachment C – Photos of Property

Subject Property: 
610 Pineview Rd 

Subject Property: 
610 Pineview Rd 

Pineview Rd 

-219-



 
Council Report  Page 11 of 11 

 
 

 

Subject Property: 
610 Pineview Rd 

Homes on Gordon Pl 

Subject Property: 
610 Pineview Rd 

-220-



6.00

6.00

1.50

6.00

D
AT

E:
 J

AN
U

AR
Y,

 2
8 

20
21

   
FI

LE
: C

:\U
se

rs
\jg

ra
nb

er
g\

O
ne

D
riv

e 
- M

ce
lh

an
ne

y 
G

ro
up

\D
es

kt
op

\P
in

e 
Vi

ew
 D

ev
el

op
m

en
t\B

AS
E\

Pi
ne

vi
ew

 D
ev

el
op

m
en

t -
 J

G
.d

w
g

Drawn DesignDescriptionRev Date App'd ORIGINAL DWG SIZE: ANSI D (22" x 34")

Rev.

Drawing No.

D
ES

TR
O

Y 
AL

L 
PR

IN
TS

 B
EA

R
IN

G
 P

R
EV

IO
U

S 
R

EV
IS

IO
N

Project Number

M
cE

lh
an

ne
y 

AN
SI

 D
 - 

20
20

-0
1-

21

0 501:1,250

THIS DRAWING HAS NOT BEEN
APPROVED AND MAY CONTAIN

ERRORS AND OMISSIONS

0 2021-01-29 SUBDIVISION CONCEPT JG BE BE

PALLADIN PROPERTIES INC.

PROPOSED RD1 SUBDIVISION CONCEPT
610 PINE VIEW RD. 

PENTICTON, BC

CO1
2422 20318 00 0

THIS DRAWING AND DESIGN IS THE PROPERTY OF McELHANNEY AND SHALL NOT BE USED, REUSED
OR REPRODUCED WITHOUT THE CONSENT OF McELHANNEY.  McELHANNEY WILL NOT BE HELD
RESPONSIBLE FOR THE IMPROPER OR UNAUTHORIZED USE OF THIS DRAWING AND DESIGN.

THIS DRAWING AND DESIGN HAS BEEN PREPARED FOR THE CLIENT IDENTIFIED, TO MEET THE
STANDARDS AND REQUIREMENTS OF THE APPLICABLE PUBLIC AGENCIES AT THE TIME OF
PREPARATION.  McELHANNEY, ITS EMPLOYEES, SUBCONSULTANTS AND AGENTS WILL NOT BE
LIABLE FOR ANY LOSSES OR OTHER CONSEQUENCES RESULTING FROM THE USE OR RELIANCE
UPON, OR ANY CHANGES MADE TO, THIS DRAWING, BY ANY THIRD PARTY, INCLUDING
CONTRACTORS, SUPPLIERS, CONSULTANTS AND STAKEHOLDERS, OR THEIR EMPLOYEES OR
AGENTS, WITHOUT McELHANNEY'S PRIOR WRITTEN CONSENT.

INFORMATION ON EXISTING UNDERGROUND FACILITIES MAY NOT BE COMPLETE OR ACCURATE.
McELHANNEY, ITS EMPLOYEES AND DIRECTORS ARE NOT RESPONSIBLE NOR LIABLE FOR THE
LOCATION OF ANY UNDERGROUND CONDUITS, PIPES, CABLES OR OTHER FACILITIES WHETHER
SHOWN OR OMITTED FROM THIS PLAN.  PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION CONTRACTOR SHALL EXPOSE
LOCATIONS OF ALL EXISTING FACILITIES BY HAND DIGGING OR HYDROVAC AND ADVISE THE
ENGINEER OF POTENTIAL CONFLICTS.

Suite 203
570 Raymer Ave
Kelowna BC
Canada V1Y 4Z5
T 250-861-8783

NOTES:
ZONING:

RD1 (DUPLEX HOUSING)
RM1 (BARE LAND STRATA HOUSING)
ESA 2 - MODERATE (POTENTIALLY ADJUSTED)

APPROXIMATE LAND USE AREA

ZONING
TOTAL AREA

(ac)

PERCENT OF LAND
TO TOTAL

PROPERTY AREA

RD1 3.7 36.6%

RM1 6.4 63.4%

TOTAL PROPERTY
AREA 10.1 100%

LOT CALCULATIONS

LOT No. LOT AREA (m2) LOT WIDTH (m) BUILDING
ENVELOPE AREA

BUILDING
ENVELOPE WIDTH

1 1156.15 19.41 411.86 22.32

2 1212.64 22.08 446.79 18.77

3 1076.13 22.74 456.91 19.13

4 884.42 23.14 489.09 19.48

5 815.55 47.92 305.21 29.34

6 798.53 22.80 349.90 19.03

7 794.61 27.77 406.34 20.91

8 1558.87 21.61 454.05 20.65

9 1351.84 29.39 305.33 17.97

10 1138.32 24.91 344.65 18.01

11 1870.52 29.30 908.56 25.18

12 24,617.47

ESA2 - MODERATE (POTENTIALLY ADJUSTED)

Attachment E - Draft Concept Plan
-221-

AutoCAD SHX Text
7

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
743-881

AutoCAD SHX Text
743-881

AutoCAD SHX Text
EVERGREEN DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
743-881

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
   15

AutoCAD SHX Text
    2

AutoCAD SHX Text
    B

AutoCAD SHX Text
    A

AutoCAD SHX Text
    B

AutoCAD SHX Text
    2

AutoCAD SHX Text
    A

AutoCAD SHX Text
    2

AutoCAD SHX Text
    2

AutoCAD SHX Text
    1

AutoCAD SHX Text
    1

AutoCAD SHX Text
    3

AutoCAD SHX Text
    1

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
    1

AutoCAD SHX Text
    B

AutoCAD SHX Text
  200

AutoCAD SHX Text
    A

AutoCAD SHX Text
    A

AutoCAD SHX Text
  201

AutoCAD SHX Text
 199B

AutoCAD SHX Text
GREEN AVE. E

AutoCAD SHX Text
469-622

AutoCAD SHX Text
VALLEYVIEW RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
EVERGREEN DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CEDAR RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
705-622

AutoCAD SHX Text
594-703

AutoCAD SHX Text
594-703

AutoCAD SHX Text
703-592

AutoCAD SHX Text
592-601

AutoCAD SHX Text
JUNIPER DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PINEVIEW RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
743-881

AutoCAD SHX Text
    2

AutoCAD SHX Text
    3

AutoCAD SHX Text
    4

AutoCAD SHX Text
    5

AutoCAD SHX Text
    6

AutoCAD SHX Text
    1

AutoCAD SHX Text
    A

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
    7

AutoCAD SHX Text
    6

AutoCAD SHX Text
    5

AutoCAD SHX Text
    4

AutoCAD SHX Text
    3

AutoCAD SHX Text
    2

AutoCAD SHX Text
    1

AutoCAD SHX Text
JUNIPER DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
705-622

AutoCAD SHX Text
    1

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
GORDON PL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
594-050

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
7

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
9

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
11

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
    A

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
22

AutoCAD SHX Text
23

AutoCAD SHX Text
20

AutoCAD SHX Text
21

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
CP

AutoCAD SHX Text
14

AutoCAD SHX Text
13

AutoCAD SHX Text
12

AutoCAD SHX Text
11

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
9

AutoCAD SHX Text
8

AutoCAD SHX Text
7

AutoCAD SHX Text
KAS-2641

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
7

AutoCAD SHX Text
8

AutoCAD SHX Text
9

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
KAS-2711

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 11

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 7

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 8

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 10

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 6

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 5

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 4

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 2

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 9

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 12

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 3

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED ROADWAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED CLOSED ROADWAY



Attachment F - Process for Agricultural Land Reserve (ALR) 
Exclusion Applications -222-



-223-



 
 

Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 2022-03  Page 1 of 1 
 

The Corporation of the City of Penticton 
 

Bylaw No. 2022-03 
  

A Bylaw to Amend Zoning Bylaw 2021-01 
 
WHEREAS the Council of the City of Penticton has adopted a Zoning Bylaw pursuant the Local Government Act; 
 
AND WHEREAS the Council of the City of Penticton wishes to amend Zoning Bylaw No. 2021-01;  
 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the Municipal Council of the City of Penticton, in open meeting 
assembled, hereby ENACTS AS FOLLOWS: 
  
1. Title: 
 
 This bylaw may be cited for all purposes as “Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 2022-03”. 
 
2. Amendment: 
 

2.1 Zoning Bylaw No. 2021-01 is hereby amended as follows: 
 

Rezone the north 10.67 m portion of Lot 3 Block 124 District Lot 2 Group 7 Similkameen Division 
Yale (Formerly Yale-Lytton) District Plan 1175, located at 169 Maple Street, as shown on 
Schedule ‘A’, from R2 (Small Lot Residential) to RD3 (Residential Infill). 

 
2.2 Schedule ‘A’ attached hereto forms part of this bylaw. 
 
READ A FIRST time this 18 day of January, 2022 

A PUBLIC HEARING was held this     1  day of February, 2022 

READ A SECOND time this 1 day of February, 2022 

READ A THIRD time this 1 day of February, 2022 

RECEIVED the approval of the 
Ministry of Transportation on the 

2 day of February, 2022 

ADOPTED this  day of , 2022 

 
Notice of intention to proceed with this bylaw was published on the 25 day of January, 2022 and the 26 day of January, 2022 in the 
Penticton newspaper, pursuant to Section 94 of the Community Charter.  
 

      
 John Vassilaki, Mayor 
 

 
 

       
 Angie Collison, Corporate Officer 

-224-



City of Penticton – Schedule ‘A’

Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 2022-03

Date: _________________ Corporate Officer:  _______________________________

Rezone
169 Maple Street

From R2 (Small Lot Residential) 
To RD3 (Residential Infill)

-225-



 
 

Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 2022-04  Page 1 of 1 
 

The Corporation of the City of Penticton 
 

Bylaw No. 2022-04 
  

A Bylaw to Amend Zoning Bylaw 2021-01 
 
WHEREAS the Council of the City of Penticton has adopted a Zoning Bylaw pursuant the Local Government Act; 
 
AND WHEREAS the Council of the City of Penticton wishes to amend Zoning Bylaw No. 2021-01;  
 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the Municipal Council of the City of Penticton, in open meeting 
assembled, hereby ENACTS AS FOLLOWS: 
  
1. Title: 
 
 This bylaw may be cited for all purposes as “Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 2022-04”. 
 
2. Amendment: 
 

2.1 Zoning Bylaw No. 2021-01 is hereby amended as follows: 
 

Rezone Lot 4 District Lot 115 Similkameen Division Yale District Plan 10517, located at 79 
Okanagan Avenue West, from R1 (Large Lot Residential) to RD3 (Residential Infill).  

 
2.2 Schedule ‘A’ attached hereto forms part of this bylaw. 
 
READ A FIRST time this 18 day of January, 2022 

A PUBLIC HEARING was held this     1 day of February, 2022 

READ A SECOND time this 1 day of February, 2022 

READ A THIRD time this 1 day of February, 2022 

RECEIVED the approval of the 
Ministry of Transportation on the 

2 day of February, 2022 

ADOPTED this  day of , 2022 

 
Notice of intention to proceed with this bylaw was published on the 25 day of January, 2022 and the 26 day of January, 2022 in the 
Penticton newspaper, pursuant to Section 94 of the Community Charter.  
 

      
 John Vassilaki, Mayor 
      

 
 

       
 Angie Collison, Corporate Officer 

-226-



City of Penticton – Schedule ‘A’

Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 2022-04

Date: _________________ Corporate Officer:  _______________________________

Rezone
79 Okanagan Ave W

From R1 (Large Lot Residential) 
To RD3 (Residential Infill)

-227-



 
 

Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 2022-08  Page 1 of 1 
 

The Corporation of the City of Penticton 
 

Bylaw No. 2022-08 
  

A Bylaw to Amend Zoning Bylaw 2021-01 
 
WHEREAS the Council of the City of Penticton has adopted a Zoning Bylaw pursuant the Local Government Act; 
 
AND WHEREAS the Council of the City of Penticton wishes to amend Zoning Bylaw No. 2021-01;  
 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the Municipal Council of the City of Penticton, in open meeting 
assembled, hereby ENACTS AS FOLLOWS: 
  
1. Title: 
 
 This bylaw may be cited for all purposes as “Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 2022-08”. 
 
2. Amendment: 
 

2.1 Zoning Bylaw No. 2021-01 is hereby amended as follows: 
 

Rezone Lot 7 District Lot 2710 Similkameen Division Yale District Plan 26199, located at 3170 
Juniper Drive, from RC (Country Residential) to R1 (Large Lot Residential).  

 
2.2 Schedule ‘A’ attached hereto forms part of this bylaw. 
 
READ A FIRST time this 1 day of February, 2022 

A PUBLIC HEARING was held this  day of , 2022 

READ A SECOND time this  day of , 2022 

READ A THIRD time this  day of , 2022 

ADOPTED this  day of , 2022 

 
Notice of intention to proceed with this bylaw was published on the 8 day of February, 2022 and the 9 day of February, 2022 in the 
Penticton newspaper, pursuant to Section 94 of the Community Charter.  
 
 
 

      
 John Vassilaki, Mayor 
      

 
 

       
 Angie Collison, Corporate Officer 

-228-



City of Penticton – Schedule ‘A’

Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 2022-08

Date: _________________ Corporate Officer:  _______________________________

Rezone
3170 Juniper Drive

From RC (Country Residential)
To R1 (Large Lot Residential)

-229-



-230-



-231-



-232-



-233-



-234-


	1. Call to Order
	The Mayor called the electronic Regular Council Meeting to order at 1:00 p.m.
	3. Adoption of Agenda
	4. Recess to Committee of the Whole
	5. Reconvene the Regular Council Meeting
	6. Adoption of Minutes:
	7. Consent Agenda:
	8. Committee and Board Recommendations
	9. Correspondence
	10. Staff Reports:
	11. Public Question Period
	12. Recess into a Closed Meeting
	13. Reconvene the Regular Council Meeting following the Public Hearing at 6:45 p.m.
	14. Bylaws and Permits
	15. Land Matters
	16. Notice of Motion
	17. Business Arising
	18. Council Round Table
	19. Public Question Period
	20. Adjournment
	7.1 - 2022-02-01 COW Minutes.pdf
	1. Call to order
	The Mayor called the Committee of the Whole meeting to order at 1:01 p.m.
	2. Adoption of Agenda
	THAT the agenda for the Committee of the Whole meeting held on February 1, 2022 be adopted as presented.
	3. Delegations:
	4. Adjourn to Regular Meeting

	7.2.a - 2022-02-01 Public Hearing Minutes - 6pm.pdf
	1. Call to order

	7.2.b - 2022-02-01 Public Hearing Minutes - 615pm.pdf
	1. Call to order

	7.2.c - 2022-02-01 Public Hearing Minutes - 630pm.pdf
	1. Call to order

	7.2.d - 2022-02-01 Public Hearing Minutes - 645pm.pdf
	1. Call to order

	7.3 - 2022-01-27- PRAC Minutes - Special - Draft.pdf
	Special Electronic Parks and Recreation  Advisory Committee Meeting

	7.4 - 2022-02-02 - HMAC Minutes - Draft.pdf
	Heritage & Museum Advisory Committee Meeting

	7.5 - 2022-02-03 - PECRSC Minutes - Draft.pdf
	Penticton and Ellis Creek Restoration Select Committee Meeting

	7.6 - 2022-02-07 - SSAC Minutes - Draft.pdf
	Safety and Security Advisory Committee Meeting

	10.4.b - Attachment B - Concession RFP for Council Report.pdf
	FOR
	OPERATION OF XXX CONCESSION
	Request for Proposals No.: XXXX
	Issued: _________________
	Closing Date and Time: __________________ at 2:00:00 PM

	Summary, Contents & Instructions:
	Summary
	Contents
	 Part A: The Services – full details of the Services required and terms and conditions
	 Part B:  The RFP Process – the process for submissions, evaluation and award of the  Contract
	 Part C:  The Contract – the Contract the City will enter into
	 Part D:  Submission Instructions and Forms – the forms a Respondent should submit  in their  Proposal

	Instructions:

	Part A:  The Services
	1. Overview
	2. Term
	3. Sub-contracting
	4. InsurancePermits and Safety Protocols

	4.1. Liability Insurance
	4.2. Equipment Insurance
	4.3. Registration with WorkSafe BC (WCB)
	4.4. Ministry of Health
	4.5. Governing Regulation
	4.6. Protection of Property and Public:
	4.7. COVID-19 Exposure
	5. Specifications and Conditions

	5.1. Facility Details
	5.2. Equipment
	6. Products
	7. Use of Facility

	7.1. Flat Fee Payment
	7.2. Utilities
	7.3. Damage Deposit
	7.4. Fire Safety Plan
	7.5. Emergencies
	8. Site Conditions
	9. Start-up and Wrap-up Meetings
	10. Operating Season
	11. Maintenance
	12. Inspections
	13. Facility
	Part B:  The RFP Process
	1. Key Details
	1.1 RFP Contact Person
	1.2 Timetable
	1.3 Site Meeting
	1.4 Submission of Proposals (Address, Date & Time, Format)

	2. Definitions Used in this RFP
	3. Amendment of a Proposal by Respondent
	4. Withdrawal of a Proposal by Respondent
	5. Addenda Issued by City
	6. Evaluation of Proposals & Award of Contract
	6.1 Mandatory Criteria
	6.2 Scored Criteria
	6.3 Scoring Method
	6.4 Clarifications & Remedy Period
	6.5 Ranking of Respondents
	6.6 Conclusion and Execution of a Contract
	7. Other Terms & Conditions of this RFP Process
	7.1 Proposals in English
	7.2 Only One Entity as Respondent
	7.3 Proposals to Contain All Content in Prescribed Forms
	7.4 References and Experience
	7.5 RFP Scope of Work is an Estimate Only
	7.6 Respondent’s Expenses
	7.7 Retention of Proposals and FOIPPA
	7.8 Notification and Feedback to Unsuccessful Respondents
	7.9 Conflict of Interest
	7.10 Confidentiality
	7.11 No Contract A and No Claims
	7.12 Right to Cancel RFP
	7.13 Governing Law and Trade Agreements

	Part C: The Contract (Licence to Use Agreement)
	THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF PENTICTON

	License to Use
	1. Grant of License
	2. Duration
	3. License Fee
	4. Utilities
	5. Damage Deposit
	6. Covenants of the Licensee
	7. Non-Exclusivity
	8. Assignment
	9. Cancellation
	9.1 In the event that:
	9.2 If the Licensee is in default in the observance of any covenant, agreements, provisions or conditions contained herein and such failure continues for a period of thirty (30) days after the giving of written notice by the City to the Licensee of th...
	9.3 Thirty (30) days after expiration or cancellation of this license, any improvements or fixtures that remain unremoved from the Licensed Area, shall be absolutely forfeited and become the property of the City and the City may remove them from the L...
	10. General
	11. Notice
	12. Payment of City’s Expenses
	Part D:   Submission Instructions and Forms
	Part D Contents

	APPENDIX A – CERTIFICATION FORM
	1. Respondent Details
	2. Certification & Acknowledgement of RFP Process:
	3. Confirmation of Addenda Received
	4. Certification Signature

	APPENDIX B – BUSINESS PLAN FORM
	APPENDIX C – EXPERIENCE FORM
	1. Experience

	APPENDIX D – MENU AND PRICING FORM
	1. Menu and Pricing

	APPENDIX E – Financial Proposal FORM
	1. Financial Proposal

	APPENDIX F – REFERENCES FORM

	10.7.b - 2022-10 - Schedule A.pdf
	Slide Number 1

	10.7.c - Attachment H - DRAFT DP PL2021-9241.pdf
	DRAFT DP PL2021-9241
	Schedule A
	2021-12-23 Plans
	2022-01-13 Landscape Plan


	10.8.a - DRAFT DVP PL2021-9045.pdf
	DRAFT DVP PL2021-9045
	Schedule A
	2021-09-16 Plans
	Insert from: "DP-100 SITE PLAN.pdf"
	Sheets and Views
	Site Plan1 200





	10.8.c - 2021-38 - AMENDED - Schedule A.pdf
	Slide Number 1

	10.10.a - Attachment F - DRAFT DVP PL2021-9219.pdf
	DRAFT DVP PL2021-9219
	Schedule A

	14.1.a - 2022-03 - Schedule A.pdf
	Slide Number 1

	14.2.a - 2022-04 - Schedule A.pdf
	Slide Number 1

	14.3.a - 2022-08 - Schedule A.pdf
	Slide Number 1




